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DISCLAIMERS

sCoPe oF tHIs RePoRt
This integrated report provides a review of the corporate strategy, 
objectives and exploration activities of goliath gold mining Limited 
(“goliath gold”) for the year ended 31 December 2013, and has 
been compiled in accordance with: jsE Listings Requirements; the 
guidelines provided by the King Report on governance Principles 
for south Africa 2009 (“King III”); and the south African Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, mineral Resources and mineral 
Reserves (“sAmREC Code”).

The audited financial statements were approved and published on 
31 march 2014 and have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting standards (“IFRs”), the financial reporting 
guidelines of the south African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(sAICA) and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (“the Companies Act”).

The goliath gold Board and the goliath gold Audit Committee and 
Risk Committee acknowledge responsibility for and attest to the 
integrity of this integrated report, which was approved and published 
on 31 march 2014. 

FoRWARD-LooKInG stAteMent
This report includes certain forward-looking statements and 
forward-looking information. All statements other than statements 
of historical fact included in this report including, without limitation, 
statements regarding future plans and objectives of goliath gold, are 
forward-looking statements (or forward-looking information) that 
involve various risks, assumptions and uncertainties. There can be no 
assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate and actual 
values, results and future events could differ materially from those 
anticipated in such statements. 

Important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from 
goliath gold’s expectations. such factors include, among others: the 
actual results of exploration activities; the estimation or realisation of 
mineral reserves and resources; the timing and amount of estimated 
future exploration; costs of exploration and development; availability 
of capital required by the company; the ability to maintain a listing in 
south Africa; conclusions of economic evaluations; changes in project 
parameters as plans continue to be refined; future prices of gold and 
other commodities; delays in obtaining governmental approvals, 
permits or financing; economic and financial market conditions; 
political risks; land title disputes; and/or claims limitations on 
insurance coverage. Although goliath gold has attempted to identify 
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially, 
there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, 
estimated or intended. 

Any forward-looking information in this report speaks only at the 
time of issue and there can be no assurance that such statements 
will prove to be accurate as actual values, results and future events 
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. goliath gold does not undertake to update any 
forward-looking statements that are included herein, or revise any 
changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such 
statement is based, except in accordance with applicable securities 
laws and stock exchange listing requirements. 

No stock exchange, securities commission or other regulatory 
authority has approved or disapproved the information contained 
herein.
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND STRUCTURE

oVeRVIeW
goliath gold is a south African incorporated mining exploration company that has been listed on the main board of the jsE in the ‘mining: general 
mining’ sector since may 2011 under the issuer code ggm. Focused on identifying and exploring diversified resources across southern Africa, the 
company currently holds gold prospecting rights and a mining right over several contiguous areas in south Africa’s East Rand Basin in the gauteng 
Province as well as prospecting rights for heavy mineral sands over an area within south Africa’s Western Cape Province. Opportunities in other 
mining-friendly African jurisdictions are also being considered. 

The company’s current exploration portfolio comprises an established mineral gold resource base of 10.68 million ounces, compliant with the 
sAmREC Code and independently audited by sRK Consulting (south Africa) Proprietary Limited (“sRK Consulting”). This compares to a consolidated 
resource of 12.19 million ounces for the 2012 year. The decline in resource is due to the application of a higher cut-off grade applied for the year under 
review. For further detail regarding the company’s resources and Competent Persons, refer to pages 38 to 40. 

Among goliath gold’s several subsidiaries, one supports a 26% shareholding with a Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) partner and two have 
entered into BEE transactions which have not yet closed. micawber 400 Proprietary Limited holds a 26% shareholding in Far East gold special 
Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited. The mvela Partnership En Commandite No. 2 and the mvela Partnership En Commandite have entered into 
transactions to acquire 26% interests in Newshelf 1186 Proprietary Limited and Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited respectively.

CoRPoRAte HIstoRY AnD Asset ACQUIsItIons
The company was originally incorporated on 3 may 1933 as Witwatersrand Nigel Limited. On 20 january 1999 it was renamed as New mining 
Corporation Limited, and on 4 November 2002, was again renamed as matodzi Resources Limited. On 6 February 2009 the company was renamed 
as White Water Resources Limited (“WWR”), which, subsequent to the passing of ordinary and special resolutions at the general meeting of WWR 
held on 22 march 2011 and the registration thereof, the company changed its name on 26 April 2011 to goliath gold to better reflect the nature of 
its business as a gold exploration and development company.

goliath gold acquired the megamine business, which comprises the sub Nigel mine (currently on care and maintenance) and the Vlakfontein, 
West Vlakfontein and spaarwater prospecting areas, from gold One Africa Limited (“gold One Africa”), a wholly owned subsidiary of gold One 
International Limited (“gold One”). The transaction was declared unconditional on 19 march 2012. goliath gold settled the price by issuing 
104 891 947 ordinary shares to gold One Africa resulting in the issued share capital increasing to 147 354 905 ordinary shares. gold One Africa 
acquired a further 1 215 300 ordinary shares when the remaining shareholders in goliath gold accepted the offer by gold One Africa to receive 
one gold One share for every 1.2 goliath gold shares held. This resulted in gold One, through gold One Africa, holding 72% of the issued share 
capital in goliath gold.

On 23 march 2011 gold One entered into a management agreement with the then WWR, which appointed gold One as manager of the business 
and exploration activities for and on behalf of the company. This agreement will remain in place until either gold One’s shareholding in goliath gold 
falls below 25% or by written agreement between gold One and goliath gold.

In 2013 goliath gold, together with its majority shareholder gold One, entered into an acquisition agreement with the liquidators of Pamodzi 
gold East Proprietary Limited (“Pamodzi”) (discussed in detail on page 7). Through this agreement goliath gold has been granted two prospecting 
rights, both on 1 November 2013, for the Nigel and Cons modder prospecting areas (refer to the asset map on page 12). gold One, acting through 
its subsidiary Newshelf 1198 Proprietary Limited (“Newshelf 1198”), was granted a prospecting right over the down-dip extension to gold One’s 
modder East Operations on 1 November 2013. Together, goliath gold and gold One hold prospecting and mining rights over the majority of the 
East Rand Basin. 
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stRuctuRe of GolIAth Gold As At 31 decembeR 2013

* Refer to pages 110 to 111 for detailed shareholder information.
**  The Mvela Partnership En Commandite No. 2 and the Mvela Partnership En Commandite have entered into transactions to acquire 26% interests in Newshelf 1186 

Proprietary Limited and Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited respectively.  As at the date of this annual report, these transactions had not yet been concluded.

bcX Gold Investment 
holdInGs lImIted

Gold one  
InteRnAtIonAl lImIted

Gold one AfRIcA lImIted

GolIAth Gold  
mInInG lImIted

PublIc shAReholdeRs*

fAR eAst Gold sPecIAl PuRPose 
vehIcle PRoPRIetARY lImIted

mIcAWbeR 400 PRoPRIetARY  
lImIted

mvelA PARtneRshIP 
en commAndIte no. 2**

mvelA PARtneRshIP 
en commAndIte**

neWshelf 1186 
PRoPRIetARY lImIted

neWshelf 1201 
PRoPRIetARY lImIted

•	 BRAKFONTEIN	DIAMANTE	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED 

	 (HELD	THROUGH	IEN	INVESTMENTS	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED)

•	 CONSOLIDATED	RESOURCES	AND	EXPLORATION	LIMITED

•	 GUILD	HALL	NO.	22	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED

•	 IEN	INVESTMENTS	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED

•	 NEWLANDS	MINERALS	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED

•	 WITNIGEL	INVESTMENTS	PROPRIETARY	LIMITED

100%

74%

74%

74%

72%

100%

100%

26%

26%

26%

28%
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HIGHLIGHT OF 2013

tHe PAMoDZI eAst RAnD oPeRAtIons ACQUIsItIon MADe UnConDItIonAL
goliath gold’s highlight for the 2013 year was the successful granting of two new prospecting rights in the East Rand goldfield. These prospecting 
rights were granted as part of the agreement to acquire historic geological data previously belonging to the Pamodzi East Rand Operations. The 
acquisition agreement was entered into together with the company’s majority shareholder, gold One, which purchased selected surface assets from 
Pamodzi and was granted a prospecting right in the area immediately adjacent to gold One’s existing modder East Operation (refer to asset map on 
page 12). The granting of these rights has provided goliath gold with a consolidated prospecting area in the East Rand Basin outside of johannesburg 
in extent of 62 540 hectares. goliath gold’s prospecting area in the East Rand Basin now comprises the Vlakfontein, West Vlakfontein, spaarwater 
and Wit Nigel areas, selected portions of the historic Pamodzi mining areas, and the sub Nigel area for which the company has a mining right (a 
list of goliath gold’s tenure of mineral rights can be found on page 13). This exploration area also represents one of the most prolific historic gold 
producing regions in south Africa.

The Pamodzi East Rand Operations Acquisition was entered into with the provisional liquidators of Pamdozi and its subsidiaries and was first 
announced by goliath gold and gold One on 17 April 2012. In addition to the two prospecting rights granted to goliath gold on 1 November 2013, 
the company is to acquire historical and geological data from Consolidation modderfontein mines 1979 Limited, Consolidation modderfontein mines 
Limited, Nigel gold mining Company Proprietary Limited and grootvlei Proprietary mines Limited (“grootvlei”).

gold One, acting through its subsidiary Newshelf 1198, was granted a prospecting right over the down-dip extension to gold One’s modder East 
Operations on 1 November 2013 and is to acquire the grootvlei treatment plant and selected grootvlei surface assets.

A ZAR 7 million deposit was paid on signature of the acquisition agreement, ZAR 0.5 million by goliath gold and ZAR 6.5 million by gold One, and 
the acquisition of historical and geological data by goliath gold and selected surface assets by gold One was made unconditional on 7 August 2013. 
Upon transfer of the data to goliath gold and the properties to gold One, outstanding payments of ZAR 4.5 million payable by goliath gold and 
ZAR 58.5 million payable by gold One will be made. Transfer of the data to goliath gold will take place on registration of transfer of the surface 
properties into the name of gold One’s subsidiary.

The Pamodzi East Rand Operations acquisition is a significant example of goliath gold’s strategy to execute smart commercial transactions to 
advance strategic projects up the value curve. By amalgamating several adjacent exploration areas across the majority of the East Rand Basin, 
goliath gold will now be able to undertake regional and holistic exploration across a significant historic gold producing region that has been largely 
devoid of systematic exploration activities over the past three decades. Together with the aid of gold One, this opportunity will untap multiple 
possible synergistic opportunities that the company anticipates will assist in the fast-tracking of projects and the potential reduction of capital and 
exploration costs. By utilising appropriate and modern technology and exploration activities, goliath gold intends to foster a sustainable mining 
environment that offers greater benefits to stakeholders.
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STRATEGY AND DELIVERY
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goliath gold’s vision is to become the preferred precious metals exploration and development company in south Africa. To achieve this, the company 
initially focused on the identification and development of medium-depth gold targets, examples of which included the Vlakfontein, West Vlakfontein 
and spaarwater targets. Although these assets continue to contain potential value, goliath gold is aware that short-term projects that require less 
capital and which are able to be fast-tracked to early production are imperative given the current economic climate. Owing to this, goliath gold’s 
East Rand project portfolio has been split into three phases:

Near-term Projects Medium-term Projects Longer-term Projects 

Phoenix: existing surface targets across the 
East Rand Basin lease area (page 18)

Houtpoort: the Houtpoort Channel in the Wit 
Nigel prospecting area (page 18)
Romola: shallow targets in the Nigel, sub 
Nigel and Wit Nigel areas (page 26)
Black Reef: opencast potential within the 
Vlakfontein prospecting area (page 27)

Wit Nigel 7 Shaft Extension: Nigel Reef in 
the extension of the historically mined Wit 
Nigel 7 Payshoot (page 30)
West Vlakfontein and Spaarwater: medium 
depth target around the historical West 
Vlakfontein 1 shaft (page 16)
Pamodzi East Rand Operations unmined 
areas: exploration target considering 
unmined areas across the Cons modder and 
Nigel prospecting areas (page 16)

In addition to prioritising projects according to their possible term to production, goliath gold is also considering further diversifing its resource 
portfolio. The company’s Project Elephant, where heavy minerals and rare earths are being targeted in Vredendal in the Western Cape Province, is an 
example of a value accretive exploration opportunity that extends beyond precious metals (refer to Legal Tenure of mineral Rights on page 13 and 
Projects Overview on pages 14 to 37). The company’s planned growth into a competitive exploration and development entity is governed by the 
following three principles:

Expanding and diversifying the company’s 
resource portfolio

Executing smart commercial transactions to 
advance strategic projects up the value curve

Creating sustainability through the 
development of new mining projects 
by observing best health, safety and 
environmental practices and leveraging off 
synergistic opportunities

goliath gold currently holds six prospecting 
rights and one mining right for gold across 
several areas within the East Rand Basin in 
south Africa’s gauteng Province. The company 
also holds eight prospecting rights for heavy 
mineral sands and rare earths in south Africa’s 
Western Cape Province, and is awaiting the 
granting of an exclusive prospecting licence 
for base, rare and precious metals in Etendeka, 
Namibia. 

The company is continuing to review possible 
exploration opportunities for diversified 
minerals across locations spanning both in 
and outside of south Africa.

goliath gold benefits from being able to 
leverage off the support of its 72% majority 
shareholder, gold One, which is owned 
by Chinese consortium BCX Investment 
Holdings Limited (see corporate structure 
on page 6). goliath gold already benefits 
from management synergies with gold One 
(discussed in the company profile on page 
5) and, through this partnership, is able to 
successfully initiate strategic transactions 
such as the Pamodzi East Rand Operations 
Acquisition (detailed on page 7).

goliath gold is committed to creating 
sustainable mining operations in southern 
Africa and adheres to best practice health, 
safety and environmental standards.

With access to the business acumen of gold 
One’s management team and the possession 
of an amalgamated exploration area in the 
historically prolific East Rand Basin, goliath 
gold possesses a strong foundation on 
which to develop future sustainable mining 
operations. 

goliath gold is well positioned to execute its growth strategy owing to the company’s unique set of advantages:

•	 An	asset	portfolio	that	comprises	the	majority	of	the	East	Rand	Basin,	which	is	one	of	the	largest	brownfield	exploration	areas	in	the	Witwatersrand	
that still hosts significant potential resources

•	 Demonstrated	progress	on	closing	strategic	transactions
•	 The	ability	to	progress	projects	up	the	value	curve
•	 A	focused	exploration	and	execution	strategy	with	an	experienced	project	team
•	 A	strong	long-term	strategic	partner	in	Gold	One,	which	has	a	72%	shareholding	in	Goliath	Gold.
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CEO’S REPORT

The 2013 year was characterised by a continued declining gold price and an increasingly difficult economic environment for many exploration and 
development companies. Owing to this, while we are continuing to consider potential value accretive opportunities to expand our asset portfolio 
within and beyond the borders of south Africa, our emphasis has been on our core assets and turning our substantial resource base to account. This 
has led us to critically review our project portfolio and focus our attention and expenditure on targets that have the potential to be rapidly advanced 
up the value curve towards production. This review considered projects that could, pending successful exploration and economic studies, be turned 
to account in the near (less than two years), medium (two to five years) and longer (more than five years) term. 

The evaluation of such targets was significantly bolstered by successfully consolidating our position in the East Rand Basin through the granting of 
two new prospecting rights over the prior Pamodzi East Rand Operations. The granting of these rights on 1 November 2013 as part of the Pamodzi 
East Rand Operations Acquisition has provided us with a contiguous prospecting area of approximately 62 540 hectares over the greater portion of 
one of the most prolific historic gold producing regions in south Africa. This amalgamated exploration area also presents the opportunity to explore 
and develop assets without the associated legacy of pumping and environmental liabilities. The consolidation of this region has unlocked several 
opportunities for goliath gold and, importantly, allows the company to commence with holistic and regional geological investigations that are 
unhampered by historic mine boundaries and are supported by decades of historical mining and exploration data.  

During 2012, following the capturing and modelling of substantial historic mining and exploration information, the company estimated a mineral 
resource at the historic Houtpoort mine in the southern areas of Wit Nigel. The Houtpoort target (refer to Projects Overview on pages 14 to pages 37) 
extends from surface to depths of approximately 1 000 metres below surface; has existing underground infrastructure; and is not connected to the 
larger East Rand Basin, thus allowing the flooded underground workings at Houtpoort to be dewatered. These factors have supported Houtpoort’s 
status as a high priority project that, pending successful exploration and economic studies, could be relatively easily advanced to commence mining 
operations. 

During 2013 exploration activities at Houtpoort consisted of field mapping, underground sampling, and a surface drilling programme aimed at 
refining and confirming the existence of unmined resource blocks. In addition, an economic scoping study completed during the year confirmed the 
economic potential of the Houtpoort target area and culminated in a resource update that defined some 300 000 ounces of gold grading at 4.84 
grams per tonne in the indicated resource category, and a further 60 000 ounces grading at 3.27 grams per tonne in the inferred resource category 
(refer to mineral resources on page 39 and Competent Persons’ statement on page 40). During 2014 a prefeasibility study will be undertaken on 
the Houtpoort target and dewatering of the historic underground workings will commence to confirm the existence of unmined resource blocks.
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With the granting of the additional East Rand prospecting rights (refer to page 7) during the year under review, a significant short term opportunity, 
now known as Project Phoenix, was identified. This project considers the surface clean-up and processing of numerous old shaft and gold plant sites 
dating back to the 1940s and 1960s throughout the East Rand. A scoping study based on initial sampling of these sites indicated that not only was 
the project potentially economically viable, but it is also significantly beneficial to all stakeholders through the potential short term creation of 
employment and the fostering of environmental sustainability. In light of this, goliath gold has applied for several mining permits over the identified 
surface targets and has commenced with a prefeasibility study considering various metallurgical treatment options that may also serve for the future 
metallurgical processing of the Houtpoort project.

Additional medium-term targets that have been identified and will form the basis of the 2014 exploration focus include a Black Reef target at 
Vlakfontein and Project Romola, a shallow unmined area targeting the Nigel Reef which has become available following the granting of the Cons 
modder and Nigel prospecting rights on 1 November 2013. 

During 2013, goliath gold also advanced Project Elephant in the Vredendal district of south Africa’s Western Cape Province. Project Elephant 
comprises heavy mineral sands exploration targets akin to those that are already mined on a large scale by Exxaro Resources’s Namakwa sands 
mine to the north of the project area. Following an analysis of historical exploration boreholes, the company undertook a regional aerial geophysical 
survey to facilitate the identification of drill targets. The results of this survey are anticipated by the end of April 2014.

The advancement of all projects is discussed in further detail in the Projects Overview section of this report.

During 2013 total mineral resources were estimated at 10.68 million ounces (including 64.80 million tonnes grading at 5.12 grams per tonne) 
consisting of indicated mineral resources of 3.21 million ounces (including 21.42 million tonnes grading at 4.64 grams per tonne) and inferred mineral 
resources of 7.47 million ounces (including 43.38 million tonnes grading at 5.35 grams per tonne). (Refer to the consolidated resources table on page 
39 and Competent Persons’ statement on page 40.) The slight reduction in overall gold content relative to 2012 was the result of the application of a 
more conservative gold price of ZAR 410 000/kg being applied, compared to ZAR 450 000/kg in 2012, which resulted in an increase in cut-off grades 
and a corresponding 12% decrease in gold content from 12.19 million ounces to 10.68 million ounces, but an 11% increase in estimated in-situ grades 
from 4.62 grams per tonne to 5.12 grams per tonne in 2013. 

Exploration activities for 2014 are aimed at further supporting the company’s focus of prioritising short-term projects with a view to generating cash 
flows and creating shareholder value in the shortest possible timeframe. significant focus will be given to the shallower medium-term East Rand 
targets, and drilling has already commenced at the Houtpoort project and Houtpoort extension. Drilling at the Vlakfontein Black Reef and Romola 
targets is planned to commence during the second quarter of 2014. The identification and project ranking of our East Rand targets will also continue 
during 2014. Where priority targets are identified, these areas will be subject to a detailed analysis of existing information and associated geological 
modelling and mineral resource estimation. 

With the continued support of our majority shareholder and the application of sound technical and business skills, I look forward to turning our 
resource base to account during 2014. 

Richard Stewart
CEO
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LEGAL TENURE OF MINERAL RIGHTS

Holder Project Type DMR Reference Mining Title 
Number

Date Granted/
Renewed

Period 
of Right 
(Years)

Hectares

Far East gold 
special Purpose 
Vehicle

sub Nigel 1 mining Right gP (28) mR 23/2013 mR granted 
15 july 2008

30 3 013.31

Far East gold 
special Purpose 
Vehicle

sub Nigel 
4 and 5 

spaarwater

Prospecting Right gP (45) PR 32/2012 Renewed
23 march 2012

3 2 643.39

Far East gold 
special Purpose 
Vehicle

sub Nigel 6
Vlakfontein

Prospecting Right gP (142) PR 33/2012 Renewed
23 march 2012

3 3 860.54

Far East gold 
special Purpose 
Vehicle

sub Nigel 
8 West 

Vlakfontein

Prospecting Right gP (260/10072) PR 77/2013 Renewed
9 October 2013

3 3 797.34

Far East gold 
special Purpose 
Vehicle

Wit Nigel Prospecting Right gP (73/10021) PR 08/2014 Renewed
9 October 2013

3 22 068.03

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 397 PR 142/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 5 555.01

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 398 PR 143/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 881.94

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 399 PR 151/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 3 296.99

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 400 PR 144/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 2 867.36

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 401 PR 152/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 11 170.28

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 402 PR 145/2012 granted 
3 August 2012

2 2 151.82

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 403 PR 153/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 1 065.00

goliath gold Elephant Prospecting Right WC 405 PR 146/2012 granted
3 August 2012

2 5 478.86

Newshelf 1186 Nigel Prospecting Right gP (10173) PR 06/2014 granted
1 November 2013

5 15 965.99

Newshelf 1186 Cons modder Prospecting Right gP (10172) PR 08/2014 granted
1 November 2013

5 11 192.45

goliath gold Etendeka Exclusive 
Prospecting 

Licence

EPL 5214 N/A Application 
pending

- -



14

PROJECTS OVERVIEW



152013  |  ANNUAL REPORT 

A FoCUs on tHe eAst RAnD BAsIn
Although goliath gold will continue to evaluate value accretive opportunities outside of south Africa, the majority of the company’s exploration 
projects are located in the East Rand Basin, which is approximately 30 kilometres from johannesburg and forms part of the Witwatersrand Basin. 
goliath gold holds contiguous prospecting rights over the West Vlakfontein, Vlakfontein, spaarwater and Wit Nigel areas, which jointly total  
32 369.30 hectares, as well as a new order mining right for the sub Nigel area and a portion of spaarwater, which includes an additional 
3 013.31 hectares. During the period under review two additional prospecting rights were granted over the Cons modder and Nigel areas (refer to the 
Pamodzi East Rand Operations Acquisition detailed on page 7), contributing an additional 11 192.45 hectares and 15 964.99 hectares respectively, 
totalling a consolidated region of approximately 62 540 hectares. A detailed asset map and list of legal tenure of mineral rights are provided on pages 
12 and 13 of this report.

WItWAteRsRAnD BAsIn GeoLoGY AnD MIneRALIsAtIon
The Witwatersrand supergroup is a predominantly sedimentary succession with a maximum thickness of about 7 000 metres, deposited in the 
Archaean Witwatersrand Basin, of which only 350 kilometres by 200 kilometres are known to be preserved today. Although locally variable, the 
sedimentary strata generally dip at shallow angles towards the centre of the preserved basin. The succession is made up of varying proportions of 
quartzite, shale, conglomerate and volcanic rocks (mcCarthy, 2006). Auriferous orebodies exploited within the basin, locally referred to as reefs, 
consist predominantly of narrow (0.1 metres to 2 metres in thickness) quartz-pebble conglomerate units that frequently display significant lateral 
continuity within local gold-mining districts. 

The conglomerate layers, or reefs, that may contain laterally extensive lensoid quartzite middlings are extraordinary in that they exhibit remarkable 
lateral continuity and can be followed on strike for hundreds of kilometres. gold and uranium are not uniformly distributed within these reefs 
and sedimentary facies with differing reef characteristics present. Locally varying grades and reef thicknesses reflect the channelised nature of the 
conglomerate. This holds especially true for reefs contained in the Kimberley Formation, which is part of the Turffontein subgroup.

The Nigel Reef, Big Pebble marker (“BPm”, also referred to as “mK2”) and UK9a (also referred to as “may Reef”), as well as the Black Reef, are widely 
developed across the East Rand Basin although mineralisation within these reefs is not necessarily homogeneous or economic. The Nigel Reef, 
also referred to as the main or south Reef, forms the primary orebody in the East Rand within the goliath gold prospecting rights and comprises a 
well-sorted conglomeratic unit of predominantly vein quartz pebbles (Robb and Robb, 1998). This unit is developed at the base of the johannesburg 
subgroup and in the project area seldom exceeds one metre in thickness. Regional higher grade ‘payshoots’ correlate with a northwest to southeast 
sediment transport direction (Lyons, 2003a). The footwall of the Nigel Reef influences reef characteristics and in areas where the footwall consists of 
arenaceous shale, such as in the western portion of spaarwater, the gold content increases dramatically, as does the reef thickness (Burnett, 2007).

The BPm in the East Rand is a generally well developed conglomerate zone of varied thickness from less than 0.5 metres to 48 metres (De jager, 
1964). Individual pebble bands laterally grade into quartzite, while locally, lenticular bodies of chloritoid- or rutile-rich shale are interbedded. Pebbles 
generally comprise quartz and chert, with chert pebbles reaching up to 22 centimetres in diameter. The gold content in the BPm is sporadic and 
locally high (De jager, 1957).

The UK9a has historically been mined in the East Rand Project, particularly at the historical grootvlei Operations, and remains a significant exploration 
target. This reef consists of small to large well-rounded quartz pebbles in a quartzitic matrix (meadon, 2003). The UK9a ranges in thickness from 
a robust 3 metre thick conglomerate to a thin contact lag (Armstrong, 1968). Highly payable UK9a is generally characterised by an ‘ashy’, sandy 
matrix, with interstitial carbon, pyrite, pyrrhotite, rutile, gold, zircon and chromite. Buckshot Pyrite up to 5 millimetres in diameter can occur (De 
jager, 1957).

The Black Reef stratigraphically located at the base of the Transvaal supergroup is deposited on a highly unconformable surface. It is mined at 
gold One’s modder East Operation located along the northern perimeter of the East Rand Basin, where it is termed ‘Buckshot Pyrite Leader Zone’. 
Payshoots are generally defined as channels, which are preferably superimposed on footwall shale. This reef, furthermore, is characterised by a 
polymictic pebble assemblage with sulphides predominating the matrix.
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RePResentAtIon oF eAst RAnD GoLDFIeLD stRAtIGRAPHY

eAst RAnD tARGet AReAs: tHe eVALUAtIon oF sHoRt-, MeDIUM- AnD LonG-teRM 
PRoJeCts In tHe eAst RAnD BAsIn
In line with the company’s strategy, during the 2013 year the East Rand Target Areas (“ERTA”) project was initiated with a view to evaluate and rank 
all new and existing goliath gold projects with a particular focus on anticipated lead time and ease of getting into production, allowing potential 
near-term projects to be given priority focus (refer to goliath gold’s strategy outlined on page 9). The areas evaluated by the project included both 
existing projects as well as the new Nigel and Cons modder areas for which prospecting rights were granted during the year under review. The ERTA 
project considered the following categories:

•	 Short-term	areas	that	are	on	or	near	surface,	exploitable	from	current	infrastructure,	contain	existing	data	from	current	or	historic	exploration	
and only require verification or minimal exploration to be advanced towards production. Ideally, these projects should be able to be turned to 
account within a 1-2 year timeframe.

•		 Medium-term	areas	 that	 are	 shallow	depth	 (typically	 less	 than	 500	metre	 below	 surface),	 accessible	 from	 current	 infrastructure,	 and	 can	
potentially be turned to account within a 3-5 year timeframe. Unmined areas which could be accessed quickly but lack an appropriate amount 
of geological information may be transferred into the medium-term category with limited exploration.

•		 Longer-term	unmined	areas	that	essentially	refer	to	geological	targets	that	require	additional	exploration	and	will	be	accessed	through	new,	
modern infrastructure. Although these areas potentially represent the best long-term value creation, time periods in excess of 5 years are 
envisaged prior to any commencement of production. 

A total of 21 potential projects were identified and located on the ground throughout the East Rand Basin (see Figure 1). There is a concentration of 
targets in the north, where multiple reef bands could be targeted in some cases but in general Black Reef and UK9a reefs exist. separated by the town 
and suburbs of springs in the middle, the targets in the south comprise mainly Nigel Reef with isolated UK9a and Black Reef areas.
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Figure 1: Locality map showing the position of each potential project in relation to the mineral lease area



18

An evaluation of each project is currently being undertaken, which involves:

•		 Assimilating	all	available	information	per	project	area	in	order	to	determine	an	indication	of	the	target	size,	grade,	and	overall	confidenc
•		 Determining	 a	 potential	 production	 profile	 for	 each	 project,	 taking	 into	 consideration:	 the	 potential	 size	 of	 the	 project;	 re-establishment	

requirements; timeframes; potential production capacities; and an overall cost estimate.
•		 Basing	potential	operating	costs	on	factors	such	as	depth,	ore	handling	complexity,	tramming	distances	and	infrastructure	requirements,	with	

gold One’s modder East Operation’s costs as the base (refer to the modder East case study on page 42).
•		 Evaluating	each	project	on	a	stand-alone	basis	in	order	to	compile	an	overall	ranking	order.		
•		 At	this	initial	stage,	the	effect	of	the	rising	underground	water	in	the	East	Rand	Basin	represents	a	significant	risk	to	the	viability	of	many	of	

the projects currently being assessed. In this regard, goliath gold is closely monitoring the progress being made by the Trans-Caledon Tunnel 
(“TCT”) Authority, a company sub-contracted by the Department of Water Affairs to maintain the rising underground water levels through 
pumping activities (refer to page 41).

•	 In	addition,	the	effect	of	illegal	mining	activities	on	some	of	the	projects	may	negatively	impact	the	project	technical	assessments	due	to	both	
illegal mining activities reducing potentially viable mineral resources and safety considerations.

The high level project evaluations are ongoing, however, during the 2013 year, two priority projects, namely Phoenix and Romola, were identified as 
having near- and medium-term potential, respectively. In addition to the existing Houtpoort and Black Reef projects currently being advanced by 
goliath gold in the East Rand, these will also form the focus of exploration and development activities during 2014. 

sHoRt-teRM PRoJeCts

PHOENIX
Following the granting of the Cons modder and Nigel prospecting rights, numerous old shaft and gold plant sites dating back to the 1940s and 1960s 
were identified. Project Phoenix was subsequently initiated to conduct preliminary sampling and evaluation exercises in order to estimate grades 
and tonnages that could be available at these old sites. Initial results have suggested that a target of 800 000 tonnes of surface material grading 
at economic grades still exists at these various sites, and preliminary financial valuations have indicated the potential for an opportunity to clean 
up historic plant and mining sites. The rehabilitation of these areas would also be significantly beneficial to all stakeholders through the short-term 
creation of employment, the fostering of environmental sustainability, and the reduction of incidences of illegal surface mining activities.

Potential target footprints were identified from in-house local knowledge and site visits to targets identified from historical surface mine plans. 
Each target area was visited and a visual estimate of the potential area of interest was made. sampling on a 50 metre by 50 metre grid to a depth 
of about 1 metre was then carried out over the entire area of interest. An evaluation of the potential rehabilitation requirements (open shafts, 
concrete foundations, dumped material) was also carried out. Once assay values were available, an average grade and estimated tonnage based on 
the footprint area to a depth of 1 metre and an in-situ density of 1.65 was then calculated. Initially, a simple financial model was created in order to 
allow for the evaluation of each footprint on a standalone basis and to determine their potential financial contribution to the overall project. This 
model included metrics such as grade, tonnage, load and transport costs as well as rehabilitation and processing costs. The sites were then ranked 
and on this basis a production profile was generated to deplete all footprints. The production profile was then included in the financial model used to 
evaluate the Houtpoort project and was scheduled to be processed in the two years prior to commencement of production from Houtpoort. In the 
evaluation model, a plant recovery factor of 75% for this material and a gold price of ZAR 418 000/kg was used.

significant possible synergies have been identified between the Phoenix and Houtpoort projects as plant capital costs, production timing and project 
risk mitigation could be shared, with both projects being capable to supply tonnage to a ‘centrally’ positioned plant and tailings storage facility.

A Combined Project Concept study carried out during the latter half of 2013 demonstrated sufficiently positive results to warrant further investigation.  
goliath gold has since applied for seven mining permits over various sites that have been identified as clean up areas, and is currently awaiting 
feedback from the Department of mineral Resources. Two additional sites have also been identified but do not require mining permits as they are 
located within the sub Nigel mining Right area.

MeDIUM-teRM PRoJeCts

HOUTPOORT
The Houtpoort Channel is a northwest-southeast trending highly enriched, payable channel in the southern part of the Wit Nigel prospecting area. 
A significant amount of mining occurred in the channel during the 1940s and 1950s, but mining ceased in 1965 because of difficulties related to 
title, water ingress and marginal development grades relative to pay limit (“Witwatersrand gold - 100 years”, by Antrobus, E.s.A. (Ed) (1986)). As 
such, there are unmined areas throughout the Houtpoort Channel that may be economically viable to extract in the current economic environment. 

Resource estimation of the remnant blocks was undertaken by Dr Carina Lemmer in 2012 and updated in january 2014 (refer to resource table on 
page 39 and Competent Persons’ statement on page 40) with results from goliath gold’s 2013 exploration programme. Key exploration activities 
in 2013 aimed to extend the resource limits and enhance confidence in the 2012 resource model. Exploration activities consisted of field mapping, 
underground sampling and an extensive drilling programme, and were aimed at refining the stratigraphic and structural complexity of the Houtpoort 
Channel to confirm the existence of unmined resource blocks. The importance of the footwall relationship to the Nigel Reef was subsequently 
established and the potential to extend the resource footprint at Houtpoort both locally and regionally was realised. 



192013  |  ANNUAL REPORT 

Historically small scale mining on Nigel Reef occurred on the farms Blinkpoort and Bothaskraal some 4 kilometres southeast of the current Houtpoort 
project on Rose Reef mine. Encouraging results from mapping the Nigel Reef outcrop extending south from Houtpoort prompted further exploration 
to the south of Houtpoort. 

Houtpoort Mapping and Drilling Results

Eleven boreholes have been drilled in the existing Houtpoort Channel (refer to Figure 2), eight of which were completed during 2013 (boreholes 
HP03, HP07, HP08, HP09, HP10, HP11, HP12 and HP17). In addition, 12 boreholes were drilled in the southern extension area of the Houtpoort 
Channel (refer to Figure 3), of which three were completed in 2013 (boreholes HP13, HP14 and HP15). Boreholes PO12, PO13, HP05 and HP06 were 
drilled during 2012 while HP29, HP30, HP31, HP32 and HP36 were completed during the beginning of 2014. Of the total boreholes drilled in 2013, 
eight were considered representative in terms of core recoveries and completed quality assurance and quality control procedures and are tabled on 
pages 22 and 23, of which six were drilled in the Houtpoort Channel area and two were drilled in the Houtpoort extension area.

The drilling of the surface boreholes at the Houtpoort project facilitated the identification of key marker horizons (green-glassy marker and 
speckled marker). These markers have been used to correlate between boreholes and refine local structural models, which have conclusively 
proven the existence of a southerly-dipping reverse fault and duplication of the reef plane as seen in Figure 4 below and labelled as section ‘A-B’.  
Well-mineralised Nigel Reef in boreholes HP03, HP08 and HP11 (tabled on pages 22 and 23) have locally confirmed the initial mineral resource 
grades forecast from historical underground sampling information and support the existence of remaining unmined target areas in the Houtpoort 
Channel.

The updated geological model has also demonstrated the potential for an extension of the current Houtpoort Channel to the south. mapping of 
Nigel Reef outcrop and sampling of historic adits had encouraging results with reef thickness of between 0.2 metres to 0.8 metres. Adit sampling 
results are illustrated in the table on page 24. In addition, five boreholes (PO12, HP13, HP15, HP31 and HP32) drilled into the southern extension of 
the Houtpoort Channel (shown in Figure 3), intersected quartzitic shale, which is indicative of the potential of the channel towards the south (refer 
to Figure 4). These boreholes targeted the Nigel Reef down-dip from sampled outcrops and are illustrated in sections ‘C-D’ and ‘E-F’ in Figure 5.
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Figure 2: Location of Houtpoort Channel boreholes completed during 2013 (red symbols indicate the boreholes completed during 2013).
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Figure 3: Plan of Houtpoort Extension South showing completed boreholes, outcrop mapping and sampled adits (blue triangles). Also indicated 
are section lines C-D and E-F interpreted from borehole results.

Figure 4: Pictured above is a geological cross-section A-B detailing the Houtpoort Channel, the Nigel Reef at the No. 4 Winze and the 
stratigraphic marker horizons and structure. This was defined by recent drilling results from boreholes HP07 to HP09.
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Figure 5: Sections on Houtpoort Extension South indicating section lines C-D and E-F inferred from outcrop mapping and borehole intersections.

B H ID* REEF Depth (m) 
Bottom Contact

Dip Corrected Comments

Channel 
Thickness cm**

g/t*** cmg/t

HP03 Nigel 123.18 10 1.14 11 Houtpoort - in channel

HP03D1 Nigel 123.20 14 6.36 86 Houtpoort - in channel

HP03D2 Nigel 123.19 12 13.65 158 Houtpoort - in channel

HP03D3 Nigel 122.71 10 79.24 769 Houtpoort - in channel

Average: 11 22.98 256

HP07 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HP07D1 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

Average: 35 0.03 1

HP08D2 Nigel 199.81 191 6.21 1 187 Houtpoort - in channel

Average: 191 6.21 1187
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B H ID* REEF Depth (m) 
Bottom Contact

Dip Corrected Comments

Channel 
Thickness cm**

g/t*** cmg/t

HP09 Nigel 189.54 31 1.09 34 Houtpoort - overbank

HP09D1 Nigel 194.21 12 1.78 21 Houtpoort - overbank

HP09D2 Nigel 189.66 14 0.14 2 Houtpoort - overbank

Average: 19 1.00 19

HP10 Nigel 170.84 22 0.08 2 Houtpoort - overbank

Average: 22 0.08 2

HP11 Nigel 222.09 27 32.44 888 Houtpoort - in channel

HP11D1 Nigel 222.12 23 69.54 1 632 Houtpoort - in channel

HP11D2 Nigel 222.09 21 32.60 670 Houtpoort - in channel

HP11D3 Nigel 222.06 23 65.44 1 472 Houtpoort - in channel

Average: 23 49.65 1 166

HP12 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HP12D1 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HP12D2 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

Average: 21 0.26 6

HP13D1 Nigel 122.10 26 2.38 62 Houtpoort extension

HP13D2 Nigel 122.57 14 11.36 165 Houtpoort extension

HP13D3 Nigel 121.92 12 12.46 144 Houtpoort extension

Average: 17 7.11 124

HP14 Reef faulted out Houtpoort extension

HP15D1 Nigel 119.54 11 0.12 1 Houtpoort extension

Average: 11 0.12 1

HP17 Nigel 151.80 18 0.04 1 Houtpoort - channel flank

HP17D3 Nigel 152.46 21 0.34 7 Houtpoort - channel flank

HP17D5 Nigel 151.19 15 2.96 44 Houtpoort - channel flank

Average: 18 0.97 17

HP29

Assay results outstanding  

Houtpoort extension

HP30 Houtpoort extension

HP31 Houtpoort extension

HP32 Houtpoort extension

HP36 Houtpoort extension

* Only includes boreholes with acceptable core recovery and completed quality assurance/quality control processes, including acceptable assay results associated 
with blanks, duplicates and certified reference materials.

** True, dip corrected thicknesses. Dip corrections based on dip measurements from core bedding angles.
*** Average weighted grade over the true thickness of the total reef (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres).
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ADIT ID REEF Channel Thickness cm* g/t** cmg/t Representivity

HPEA01 Nigel 33 1.24 41 Full channel width sampled

HPEA02 Nigel 70 0.47 33 Full channel width sampled

HPEA03 Nigel 19 28.74 546 Full channel width sampled

HPEA04 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HPEA05 Nigel 17 1.12 19 Full channel width sampled

HPEA06 Nigel 13 3.92 51 Full channel width sampled

HPEA07 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HPEA08 Nigel 31 1.45 45 Full channel width sampled

HPEA09 Nigel 31 1.81 56 Full channel width sampled

HPEA10 Nigel 16 28.81 461 Full channel width sampled

HPEA11 Nigel 16 3.44 55 Full channel width sampled

HPEA12 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HPEA13 Nigel Non-rep. Full channel not exposed

HPEA14 Nigel 37 0.76 28 Full channel width sampled

HPEA15 Nigel 20 1.10 22 Full channel width sampled

HPEA16 Nigel 19 2.74 52 Full channel width sampled

HPEA17 Nigel 22 1.41 31 Full channel width sampled

HPEA18 Nigel 23 3.13 72 Full channel width sampled

HPEA19 Nigel 74 1.66 123 Full channel width sampled

HPEA20 Nigel 12 5.92 71 Full channel width sampled

HPEA21 Nigel 18 5.50 99 Full channel width sampled

* True, dip corrected thicknesses.
** Average weighted grade over the true thickness of the total reef (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres). 

Houtpoort Geological Model

Detailed stratigraphic modelling and core inspection has established that the Houtpoort Channel is not an erosion channel (sensu stricto) as 
previously proposed. Rather, a pre-Nigel Reef monoclinal fold of the footwall shales, accompanied by faulting along the north-eastern edge of the 
Houtpoort Channel (monoclinal), gave rise to the deposition and enrichment of the Nigel Reef at Houtpoort (refer to Figure 6).

The Houtpoort Channel represents a structurally confined, locally reworked facies of the Nigel Reef. The footwall of the Nigel Reef is a channel fill 
quartzitic shale and the mineralised Nigel Reef within the channel is primarily derived from local footwall scavenging of the up-thrown block to the 
northeast. some evidence of pre-Nigel Reef folding includes the presence of ripple marks on an exposed surface of the steeply inclined portion of the fold 
and steeply dipping lenses of reef at the shale contact, below the Nigel Reef, formed during the filling of the depression caused by the monoclonal fold.

Figure 6: Depositional environment of the Houtpoort Channel. Thrust fault has not been shown as it occurred after deposition.

This model accommodates observed palaeoflow indicators from east to west. The change in flow direction is reflected in a new and enhanced 
regional geological model in which the regional alluvial fan grades into the distal reaches of a braided river channel complex, with a flow direction 
normal to that inferred for the proximal to mid-fan environment of Vlakfontein and sub Nigel (refer to Figure 7). 
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The modification to the regional geological model is critical in that it supports the occurrence of similar ‘Houtpoort-like’ channels elsewhere in 
the distal reaches of the basin, given the occurrence of the requisite syndepositional structure coupled with the appropriate flow direction. Future 
exploration activities aim to identify and evaluate target areas which satisfy these criteria.

Figure 7: Enhanced geological model for the East Rand Basin reflecting the transition in depositional environment from that on an alluvial fan 
(northeast-southwest palaeoflow direction) to braided river system (east-west palaeoflow direction). 

Houtpoort Underground Mining Potential

A significant number of reef blocks within the existing mined area at Houtpoort are considered to be potentially still available for mining. Although 
the current water level, which is about 120 metres below surface, has restricted reconnaissance work below this depth, the total water volume is not 
significant and underground mining at the Houtpoort project is isolated from the remaining East Rand Basin. Pending the awarding of the required 
environmental permits, Houtpoort could be readily dewatered to allow further underground access.

Underground ‘validation’ sampling has been carried out on the accessible faces above the flooded area to establish the accuracy and reliability of the 
historic sampling on which the current resources have been based. All potential sampling in the unflooded area has been completed and the results 
have largely confirmed historic sampling. 

Royal HaskoningDHV Proprietary Limited undertook a scoping study during june 2013 aimed at establishing whether the Houtpoort Channel could 
support an economically viable mining operation. The concept study was based on the 2012 mineral resources and has indicated that an operation 
at a production rate of 25 000 tonnes per month, potentially yielding 30 000 ounces per annum, may be economically viable at current gold prices 
and operating costs.

As a result of the positive outcome of the concept study, investigations commenced in August 2013 into potential tailings deposition sites and 
optimal plant processing methodologies to determine the location of a tailings storage facility, plant type and optimal location, and associated 
capital costs. Two metallurgical processing methodologies were identified for validation as the optimal processing route, being conventional carbon-
in-leach/carbon-in-pulp and APT technology, which focuses on maximising gravity concentration prior to final high concentration cyanide leaching 
of gravity tails. metallurgical test work on various ore samples were initiated. mintek Proprietary Limited conducted conventional plant technology 
testing, while Peacocke & simpson conducted APT-type process route testing. This work is currently ongoing, however, preliminary results are largely 
in line with typical metallurgical characteristics experienced in most Witwatersrand ores.
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The investigations identified the sub Nigel No. 1 shaft old plant area and the old Nigel gold mine tailings facility as the most viable potential sites 
for a new plant and relicensed tailings deposition facility. Fraser Alexander Proprietary Limited was commissioned to carry out a scoping study to 
determine the viability of recommissioning the tailings facility. This work is ongoing with the final report expected in April 2014. The necessary 
specialist studies required to support the possible recommissioning of this facility have also commenced. Although ongoing studies are continuing to 
determine the viability of constructing a stand-alone metallurgical processing option, possible toll-treatment solutions are also being investigated.

Considering the successful outcome of the Houtpoort scoping study, Bara Consulting has been contracted to carry out an optimisation exercise 
followed by a prefeasibility study on the Houtpoort mine Project during 2014. In january 2014 goliath gold submitted an application to the 
Department of Water Affairs for a temporary de-watering permit at Houtpoort, which is necessary for further underground reconnaissance. Approval 
for the application is anticipated during the second quarter of 2014. Preparation is underway for a full Water Use Licence, which will ultimately be 
required for production purposes.

ROMOLA
The Romola project is located to the south of Nigel, towards Heidelberg, and became accessible to goliath gold following the granting of the Cons 
modder and Nigel prospecting rights. The project overlaps licence areas that historically were held by three different mining companies, namely 
sub Nigel, Wit Nigel and Nigel. The subsequent amalgamation of these various licenses by goliath gold has rendered this a priority exploration 
target. The Romola target was identified via exploration boreholes at the Wit Nigel prospecting area, historical mining information from sub Nigel 
and newly acquired historic mining and exploration data from Nigel. Historically, mining occurred at the Wit Nigel 9 and Florida shafts indicated 
on Figure 8, and the Romola mine, where grades within the mined area were reported at around 4 grams per tonne during the 1930s (mining and 
Industrial magazine, 1934).  

The Romola project is targeting the Nigel Reef over a strike length of approximately 3 kilometres and ranging from surface outcrop to depths of 
600 metres below surface. This represents a largely unmined area that could potentially be accessed via a surface decline pending successful 
exploration results. 

A two-phase exploration drilling programme with a total of 10 boreholes to depths of between 60 and 200 metres below surface has been planned, 
and is depicted together with historic boreholes in Figure 8.  
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Figure 8: Plan showing the Romola target with previously drilled boreholes on Wit Nigel (coloured according to centimetre grams per tonne) and 
boreholes planned for 2014 (coloured black).

BLACK REEF
The Vlakfontein Black Reef sub-outcrops on the eastern limb of the 30 kilometre-diameter mapleton Basin (refer to Figure 9), and is remarkable in 
that it was deposited on Ventersdorp Lavas. Initial sampling of the Black Reef outcrop indicated areas of local mineralisation (refer to Figure 10) that 
were sufficiently promising to propose a shallow drilling programme.

Black Reef in the mapleton Basin was historically mined in the region of Natalspruit (Figure 9) on the northwestern edge of the basin, where it was 
indicated that the reef consisted of a small pebble conglomerate and was between 0 metres and 4 metres wide. The Ventersdorp footwall undulates 
markedly, causing the reef thickness to be highly variable. At Natalspruit gold grades are reported to have varied from trace to approximately 
3 100.00 grams per tonne (De Bever, 1997).
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Figure 9: Black Reef occurrence in the East Rand Basin. The Mapleton Basin is delineated by the light-blue dashed line. 
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Figure 10: Sampling results in one of the Black Reef outcrops. Gold mineralisation is not considered representative because it is in the weathered 
and oxidized zone on surface, but is used for indicative purposes only. Average individual sample lengths were 20 centimetres.

A short borehole exploration drilling programme was planned on Vlakfontein to support positive Blackreef outcrop sampling results, and a total of 
five exploration boreholes were drilled (one of which was associated with poor core recovery and assay results are not considered representative). This 
drilling programme represented the initial exploration to determine the presence of potentially mineralised Black Reef. Although intial exploration 
drilling results did not yield any significant mineralisation (refer to tabled drill results), three of the boreholes intersected poorly developed 
conglomerate thus proving the existence of Black Reef in the area. The presence of the Black Reef is encouraging and, on this basis, further drilling 
(Figure 11) is planned to target areas where outcrop sampling yielded grades of up to 13.70 grams per tonne (refer to Figure 10).

 

Figure 11: Vlakfontein boreholes for 2013 and 2014.
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BH ID* REEF Depth (m) 
Bottom Contact

Dip Corrected

Channel Thickness cm** g/t*** cmg/t

VLBR02 BPLZ 48.83 10.89 0.96 10

VLBRO3 BPLZ 60.37 12.9 0.04 1

VLBRO4 BPLZ 84.12 11.85 0.02 0

VLBRO5 BPLZ 70.85 19.49 0.08 2

* Only includes boreholes with acceptable core recovery and completed quality assurance/quality control processes, including acceptable assay results associated 
with blanks, duplicates and certified reference materials.     

** True, dip corrected thicknesses. Dip corrections based on dip measurements from core bedding angles.     

*** Average weighted grade over the true thickness of the total reef (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres).

LonG-teRM PRoJeCts

WIT NIGEL 7 SHAFT EXTENSION TARGET
The exploration drilling programme in this area aimed to confirm the extension of the historically mined Wit Nigel 7 shaft Payshoot. Very well 
developed Nigel Reef was intersected at a depth of 1,279.67 metres below surface in borehole KP07; sampling results are depicted in the table 
below and include Kimberley reef intersections. Although sampling results reflect lower grade than what was historically mined at 7 shaft, the 
well-developed nature of the Nigel Reef supports the continuity of the geological facies of the 7 shaft Payshoot. While the 7 shaft extension area 
remains a significant target, due to the relative depth of the resources further drilling has been delayed while exploration activities and expenditure 
will be focused on near- and medium-term targets.

BH ID* REEF Depth (m) Bottom 
Contact

Dip Corrected

Channel Thickness cm** g/t*** cmg/t

KP07 NR 1279.76 58 4.03 232

KP07D1 NR 1279.42 56 3.20 178 

KP07D2 NR 1279.48 59 4.67 273

 Average:  57 4.40 253

KP07 UK9A 400.85 39 0.01 0

 Average:  39 0.01 0

KP07 UK9B 427.22 51 0.06 3

KP07D5 UK9B 427.49 54 0.22 12

KP70D6 UK9B 427.18 51 0.22 11

 Average:  52 0.17 9

KP07 UK9C 431.98 55 0.04 2

KP07D5 UK9C 432.03 27 0.22 6

KP07D6 UK9C 431.95 39 0.14 5

 Average:  40 0.11 5

KP07 UK9C BAsAL 1279.76 31 0.05 2

KP07D5 UK9C BAsAL 432.68 22 0.18 4

 Average:  27 0.10 3

KP07 mK1 438.65 202 0.08 16

KP07D5 mK1 437.47 45 0.12 5

KP07D6 mK1 437.68 70 0.04 3

 Average:  106 0.08 8

KP07 mK2 UPPER 450.65 64 0.13 8

KP07D5 mK2 UPPER 450.69 56 0.27 15

KP07D6 mK2 UPPER 450.71 76 0.09 7

 Average:  66 0.15 10

KP07 mK2 LOWER 465.04 127 1.39 176

KP07D5 mK2 LOWER 464.87 118 1.97 233
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BH ID* REEF Depth (m) Bottom 
Contact

Dip Corrected

Channel Thickness cm** g/t*** cmg/t

KP07D6 mK2 LOWER 464.56 118 1.70 201

 Average:  121 1.68 203

* Only includes boreholes with acceptable core recovery and completed quality assurance/quality control processes, including acceptable assay results associated 
with blanks, duplicates and certified reference materials.

** True, dip corrected thicknesses. Dip corrections based on dip measurements from core bedding angles.

*** Average weighted grade over the true thickness of the total reef (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres).

Figure 12: The locality of KP07 is indicated by the yellow symbol. Red symbols indicate planned boreholes intended to delineate the down-dip 
extension of the 7 Shaft Payshoot mined to the southeast.
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eAst RAnD tARGet AReA DAtA CAPtURe AnD VeRIFICAtIon DURInG 2013
The East Rand Basin presents an unrivalled exploration opportunity in that vast repositories of historic resource information for the area exist. 
geological knowledge and data may therefore be captured at a fraction of the cost of independent exploration drilling. To this end, an independent 
consultant, shango solutions Proprietary Limited, has been contracted to undertake an inventory of all electronic and hard copy data acquired via the 
Pamodzi East Rand Operation Acquisition (refer to page 7). Data to be considered will include survey pegs, assay data, mine workings and structural 
maps. A data capture campaign, initiated in january 2014, aims to consolidate all relevant information into a single, validated data repository, 
augmenting the existing sub Nigel-Wit Nigel database established in 2012. It is envisaged that upon completion, goliath gold East Rand database 
will allow geological modelling to be undertaken from a regional to local scale, drawing on all available information to derive a holistic and robust 
model for enhanced brownfields target generation. 

Electronic Peg Database Electronic Assay Database
Figure 13: Existing electronic database for survey pegs and assay data for the Nigel Reef and UK9a Reef.

eXPLoRAtIon ACtIVItIes UnDeRtAKen In tHe eAst RAnD DURInG 2013
Prospective shallower mineral resources defined in the 2012 mineral resource update formed the focus of the company’s 2013 exploration activities, 
as they provide an opportunity to fast-track economic studies with a view to defining potential mineral reserves pending the outcome of these 
studies. Target areas explored during 2013 include the following (delineated by yellow borders in Figure 14): 

•	 Houtpoort	channel,	
•	 Wit	Nigel	7	Shaft	Extension
•	 Vlakfontein	Black	Reef	

Exploration activities entailed underground geological visits, sampling and surface drilling, and were undertaken to enhance confidence in the 
geological models. A total of 54 exploration boreholes have been drilled within the East Rand project area since 2010 of which eight were completed 
at the Houtpoort Channel during 2013, and an additional three were completed in the southern Houtpoort extension. During the year one borehole 
in the Wit Nigel 7 shaft extension area and five short exploration boreholes at the Vlakfontein Black Reef target area were completed (refer to 
individual project sections for tabled drilling results). The total exploration expenditure incurred during 2013 amounted to ZAR 23.2 million. 
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Figure 14: Plan showing target areas focused on during 2013.
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EXPLORATION IN THE EAST RAND BASIN AND THE RISK OF RISING WATER
Owing to the East Rand Basin’s rising water levels, successful exploration of the East Rand project areas is dependent on the company’s ability to 
access targets via either workings isolated from the main basin or from entirely new infrastructure. 

The effect this has on specific targets within the East Rand is limited to those potential targets currently considered under the ERTA project that are 
connected to the existing underground workings. The Phoenix, Houtpoort, Romola and Black Reef projects currently being advanced by goliath gold 
are not connected with historic underground workings and thus are not affected by this rising water level. In addition, all of the company’s current 
declared mineral resources as well as unmined areas being considered by the company are either not connected to the main basin or are separated 
from exisiting underground workings by water pillers.

Water ingress has been flooding the existing mine voids since mining began in the Witwatersrand Basin and is ongoing (refer to Figure 15). Pumping 
of mine voids in the East Rand Basin stopped in 2010, and rising water has flooded much of the existing workings since.

 
Figure 15: Potential water ingress mechanisms causing the mine voids to be flooded 
(source: Republic of South Africa Department of Water Affairs, www.dwa.gov.za/Projects/AMDFSLTS/).

The TCT Authority, working under the auspices of the Department of Water Affairs, has completed a prefeasibility study. According to this study, the 
TCT Authority has proposed that the rising water be maintained at the levels shown in the table below.

Eastern Basin Depth from Surface (metres) Rationale

Conservative Level 290 Protection of Dolomites

Higher Level 120 Protection of groundwater sources

 
The TCT Authority has recommended that pumping should commence to initially maintain the water at a depth of 290 metres below the abstraction 
point at grootvlei 3 shaft. Thereafter the level should be gradually increased in steps to a maximum of 120 metres below surface, corresponding 
to a depth just below a horizontal layer of dolerite occurring within the dolomites (“green sill” on Figure 16) which the TCT Authority believes 
effectively acted as an aquaclude during historic mining, preventing complete dewatering of the saturated dolomite aquifer. The groundwater from 
the saturated dolomites would still flow towards the mine void, leaving the water quality in the dolomites uncompromised.
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Figure 16: Schematic model of the effect the flooded water has on existing mine workings 
(source: Republic of South Africa Department of Water Affairs, AMD FS LTS Newsletter, Edition 2, 2013). 

eXPLoRAtIon oUtsIDe tHe eAst RAnD BAsIn

ELEPHANT
Project Elephant comprises eight contiguous prospecting rights in the Western Cape in the District of Vredendal for heavy minerals and rare earths, 
which were granted to the company in August 2012.  The rights were granted for a period of two years to allow goliath gold to carry out non-invasive 
prospecting activities.

During 2012 and 2013 the company undertook desktop studies based on 408 historical boreholes to determine the potential for enriched heavy 
mineral targets. Following the completion of this work, a low level airborne magnetic and radiometric survey was completed across the entire 
prospecting area and the interpretation of this data is expected during the second quarter of 2014. Pending the results of this data, goliath gold 
intends to identify drill target areas and submit an application for the renewal of the prospecting rights, specifically considering invasive prospecting 
activities, such as surface drilling.  
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Figure 17: Locality map of Project Elephant in the Western Cape Vredendal District, also showing the Namakwa Sands operation (blue hatch) as 
well as the Tormin operation (yellow hatch) which started recently. The solid blue area indicates Eskom’s Sere wind farm.

ETENDEKA
goliath gold applied for an exclusive prospecting licence in December 2012 for the greenfield Etendeka project in Namibia. Application for the 
prospecting licence was filed with the Namibian ministry of mines and Energy on 13 December 2012 and payment of the prescribed fee was made, 
however, the application remains pending.
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eXPLoRAtIon PLAnneD FoR 2014
Exploration activities for 2014 are aimed at further supporting the company’s strategy (outlined on page 9) to prioritise short-term projects with a 
view to generate cashflow and turn the company’s extensive resource base to account. The company will achieve this by focusing on the East Rand 
projects Phoenix, Houtpoort, Houtpoort extension, Vlakfontein Black Reef and Romola, where exploration drilling will commence in April 2014. 

Focus will also remain on the ERTA project, which will continue to prioritise targets according to depth, ease of access, risk of basin water ingress and 
prospectivity. The ranking of all current ERTA targets is planned to be completed by march 2014, after which assay data capture and 3D structural 
modelling will commence on selected targets. Resource estimation will be undertaken on those targets where sufficient, validated historical data is 
available.

Houtpoort exploration drilling will comprise two phases that are to run concurrently. six boreholes are planned to increase confidence in the existing 
mineral resource by targeting resource blocks included in the concept study. The second phase has eleven boreholes planned to the southeast of 
Houtpoort to test the possibility of the Houtpoort resource extending towards the historical Rose Reef mine on Bothaskraal. These holes will vary 
in depth from 80 metres to 200 metres.  The results from these exploration activities will be used in the prefeasibility study planned to commence 
during the second quarter of 2014.

On the Vlakfontein Black Reef target 20 boreholes are planned with the first 10 to target areas where outcrop sampling was positive. An updated 
exploration programme will be defined based on the results from the first drilling phase. The aim of the exploration will be to enhance the geological 
model of the Black Reef within the mapleton Basin and test the potential for small scale opencast mining.

Another shallow target with quick access potential is the Romola target on Nigel Reef, which outcrops close to the town of Nigel. A total of 
10 boreholes at depths from 60 metres to 200 metres are planned to delineate the payshoot.
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RESOURCES

Recent geological modelling undertaken at Houtpoort has vastly improved both understanding of the orebody as well as grade variability and 
distribution. geological domains were updated accordingly and a new local resource estimate on the Houtpoort model was undertaken by 
Dr Carina Lemmer during january 2014 (refer to Competent Persons’ statement on page 40). 

During 2013 an additional eight boreholes were drilled to better delineate and confirm the existing underground sampling used previously to 
evaluate the Houtpoort Channel. In total, nine new boreholes (including six boreholes drilled in 2013 and HP01, HP02 and HP04 which were 
completed in 2012 but for which assay results were only received after the estimation of the 2012 mineral resource) contributing 22 reef 
intersections have been added to the Houtpoort database, which includes a historical underground stretch sampling database and underground 
chip sampling. In addition, underground sampling undertaken during 2013 was also included. Updated geological modelling on the basis of this 
new information resulted in two geological sub-domains being removed, and this new information was utilised to update the Houtpoort mineral 
resource estimate. The lower confidence in the historical underground stretch values is recognised and has been incorporated into the estimation 
process. Estimates were undertaken on full width composites into a two-dimensional block model, and the volumes corrected to incorporate average 
dip values derived from wireframe model. The block model is informed by ordinary Kriging. The block size in the estimates is 30 metres by 30 
metres and the choice of block size is supported by the dense assay dataset. geological loss factors of 15% and 20% were applied to indicated 
and inferred resources respectively. The determination of cut-off grades in 2012 was based on an overall mining and process cost for Houtpoort of 
ZAR 1 000/t and a gold price of ZAR 450 000/kg resulting in an overall cut-off grade of 300 centimetre grams per tonne. A concept study completed 
in 2013 on Houtpoort indicated that the expected mining and process costs for Houtpoort could be approximately ZAR 820/t, and that at the 2013 
assumed gold price of ZAR 410 000/kg, the applicable cut-off grade was updated to 306 centimetre grams per tonne.
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HOUTPOORT PROJECT - MINERAL RESOURCE RECONCILIATION
  2012 Mineral Resources1 2013 Mineral Resources2 Variance

  Tonnes Grade Gold 
Content

Tonnes Grade Gold 
Content

Tonnes Grade Gold 
Content

  (Mt) (g/t) (Moz) (Mt) (g/t) (Moz) (Mt) (g/t) (Moz)

Indicated Nigel Reef          

 Houtpoort 1.94 4.76 0.30 1.90 4.84 0.30 -0.04 0.08 0.00

Inferred Nigel Reef          

 Houtpoort 0.67 3.63 0.08 0.58 3.27 0.06 -0.09 -0.36 -0.02

1 Declared at a cut-off grade of 300 centimetre grams per tonne.     
2 Declared at a cut-off grade of 306 centimetre grams per tonne.

While the additional drilling information constrained the limits of the Houtpoort orebody, particularly in the inferred resource areas, as the 
reconciliation table above shows, there has been little change to the overall Houtpoort mineral resource.

No new data was available to re-estimate the remaining 2012 resource estimate, however, a more conservative gold price of ZAR 410 000/kg was 
applied, compared to ZAR 450 000/kg in 2012, resulting in a slight increase in cut-off grade from 300 centimetre grams per tonne to 342 centimetre 
grams per tonne. This reduced the overall content from 12.19 million ounces in 2012 (including 3.64 million ounces grading at 4.42 grams per tonne 
in the indicated resource category and 8.56 million ounces grading at 4.72 grams per tonne in the inferred resource category) to 10.68 million ounces 
in 2013, but at an increased overall grade from 4.62 grams per tonne to 5.12 grams per tonne. 

2013 MINERAL RESOURCES

 Goliath Gold Consolidated Mineral Resources1 Tonnes Grade Gold Content

(Mt) (g/t) (Moz)

Indicated Nigel Reef    

 Domain 5 5.26 4.93 0.83

 Domain 7a 3.69 4.28 0.51

 Domain 10 2.16 4.15 0.29

 Domain 11 1.27 4.67 0.19

 Domain 12 0.03 4.06 0.00

 Domain 13 7.12 4.77 1.09

 Houtpoort 1.90 4.84 0.30

 Total Indicated: 21.42 4.64 3.21

Inferred Domain 6a    

Domain 7a 2.61 4.26 0.36

Domain 7b 3.73 6.88 0.83

Domain 7c 4.82 7.23 1.12

Domain 8 22.35 4.97 3.57

Houtpoort 0.58 3.27 0.06

Nigel Reef Inferred 34.08 5.42 5.93

Big Pebble marker    

Domain 1 1.44 4.23 0.20

Domain 2 5.00 5.43 0.87

Domain 3 2.86 5.06 0.47

Big Pebble Marker Inferred 9.30 5.13 1.53

 Total Inferred: 43.38 5.35 7.47

 Total Indicated and Inferred: 64.80 5.12 10.68
1  Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability. Mineral resources are reported in accordance with SAMREC guidelines. 

Cut-off values have been reported using a gold price of ZAR 410 000/kg (US$ 1 410/oz and ZAR 9.05: US$ 1.00). Houtpoort cut-off grade is at 306 centimetre grams 
per tonne and Megamine cut-off grade is at 342 centimetre grams per tonne. Signed-off by Dr Carina Lemmer, independent resource consultant to Gold One, audited 
by SRK Consulting.
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COMPETENT PERSONS’ STATEMENT

The overall competent person for goliath gold is Quartus meyer. The information in this annual integrated report that relates to exploration results 
is based on information compiled by Quartus meyer for the purposes of the sAmREC Code. The information in this integrated annual report that 
relates to mineral resources is based on information compiled by Dr Carina Lemmer.

The Competent Person for goliath gold’s exploration results is Quartus meyer, who has a master’s degree in science (geology) and who is a 
professional natural scientist registered with the south African Council for Natural scientific Professions (“sACNAsP”) membership number 
400063/88, and resides at 27 mynhardt van graan street, Hennenman, 9445. Quartus meyer is vice president: exploration and is a fulltime 
employee of gold One, which has entered into a management agreement with goliath gold. Quartus meyer has 27 years’ experience relevant to the 
style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person for the 
purposes of the sAmREC Code.

The Competent Person for goliath gold’s mineral resources is Dr Carina Lemmer, who has a doctorate in applied earth sciences (geostatistics) and 
who is a professional natural scientist registered with sACNAsP, membership number 400021/03, and resides at 15 Chiselhurst Drive, Rossmore, 
2092. Dr Carina Lemmer is an independent consultant to goliath gold, and has been an independent consultant to the south African mining industry 
for the past 24 years. Dr Carina Lemmer has 36 years’ experience in resource estimation relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration, and to the activity which she is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person for the purposes of the sAmREC Code.

Quartus meyer and Dr Carina Lemmer consent to the inclusion in this integrated annual report of the matters based on information compiled by 
themselves in the form and context in which they appear.

     

Quartus Meyer Dr Carina Lemmer 
31 March 2014 31 March 2014
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RESPONSIBLE AND 
SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

MAnAGeMent AnD eMPLoYees
A management agreement between goliath gold and gold One, the 
company’s 72% shareholder, was effected on 23 march 2011, and will 
remain in place until either gold One’s shareholding in goliath gold 
falls below 25% or by written agreement between both companies. 
Owing to the management agreement and the small scale of goliath 
gold’s current business and exploration activities, goliath gold’s current 
employee base comprises only two fulltime goliath gold employees, 
with all additional employees being fulltime employees of gold One. 

Best PRACtICe ConDUCt
goliath gold and gold One share a commitment to responsible 
business practices that are sustainable across the economic, social 
and environmental spheres, and therefore enforce best management 
practices across all areas. The conduct of all employees and contractors 
who contribute to the business and exploration activities of goliath gold 
are governed by the following company policies:

•		 Occupational	health	and	safety	policy
•		 Environmental	policy
•		 Sustainable	development	policy
•		 Waste	management	policy
•		 Water	management	policy.

The implementation of these policies extends across all elements of the 
company’s exploration activities, which include but are not limited to: 

•		 Prospecting	permitting
•		 Liaisons	with	land	owners	and	interested	and	affected	parties	
•		 Borehole	siting
•		 Drilling	safety	procedures,	extending	to	drilling	contractors
•		 Percussion	drilling	procedures
•		 Diamond	drilling	procedures
•		 Rehabilitation	of	drilling	sites	and	exploration	areas
•		 Sampling	and	quality	assurance/quality	control	procedures
•		 Record-keeping	and	archiving.

LeGAL CoMPLIAnCe
goliath gold’s exploration activities comply with the provisions of the 
mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act (mRPDA) (2002), 
the National Environmental management Act (NEmA) (1998), the mine 
Health and safety Act (1996), and the regulations promulgated under 
these respective acts. All mineral resource and mineral reserve reporting 
by goliath gold is reported in compliance with the sAmREC Code, and 
the company continues to foster cooperative relationships with the 
Department of mineral Resources, the Department of Water Affairs and 
the National Nuclear Regulator.

RIsK AssessMents

Dangerous Shaft and Holing Closures
goliath gold continually assesses potential dangerous shafts and 
holings in prospecting areas where the company has a historical legal 
responsibility to close such shafts and holings and, where required, 
closures are executed as prescribed by the mine Health and safety Act 
(1996). The company is also a participant in the East Rand Illegal mining 
Forum, created by the Department of mineral Resources. 

Water Monitoring
Together with the Department of Water Affairs, goliath gold conducts 
continual water monitoring for the East Rand Basin area at sub Nigel. The 
sub Nigel mine, which goliath gold acquired from gold One in march 
2012, has been on care and maintenance since june 2011 when pumping 
at the nearby grootvlei mine, then under provisional liquidation and 
owned by Pamodzi, ceased. 

sAFetY PeRFoRMAnCe
No injuries or accidents were recorded for the 2013 year.



42

INVESTMENT CASE 

eXPLoRAtIon In tHe eAst RAnD BAsIn: 
tHe oPPoRtUnItY
goliath gold’s exploration activities within the spaarwater, Vlakfontein, 
West Vlakfontein, and Wit Nigel prospecting areas have demonstrated 
the prospective nature of the unmined East Rand deposits. given the 
company’s access to the majority of the East Rand Basin, goliath gold 
is uniquely positioned to undertake regional and holistic geological 
modelling and associated exploration activities.

The combination of goliath gold’s existing models for the East Rand 
target areas, combined with the vast historic database to be acquired 
via the Pamodzi East Rand Acquisition (detailed on page 7), will allow 
goliath gold to identify priority exploration targets with the intention 
of developing new opportunities similar to the scale of gold One’s 
modder East Operation.

tHe MoDDeR eAst CAse stUDY

Gold one 
moddeR 

eAst 
oPeRAtIons

developed  
at a cost of  

us$108 
million

(2006-2009)

clean sheet 
approach eliminates 

rehabilitation 
and underground 

water legacy 
issues

Positive cashflow 
reached 6 months  

after first 
gold pour

Anticipated life 
in excess of  

12 years

developed  
through the  

identification  
of secondary  
reef targets 

opportunities

first gold 
pour only 3 
years after 

first sod 
turned

currently 
employs 

approximately 
1.800  
people

gold One has clearly demonstrated its ability to identify and build 
a profitable gold operation on the East Rand, having developed and 
operated the highly profitable modder East Operations, the first new 
underground mine in the East Rand basin in 30 years. modder East 
was developed through the identification of secondary reef targets 
opportunities, at a cost of only Us$ 108 million. It took just over three 
years from the turning of the first sod to first gold pour, achieving 
positive cashflow status just six months thereafter. modder East now 
employs approximately 1,800 people with an anticipated life in excess 
of 12 years. 

Key to the success of modder East was to recognise that while the 
remaining mineral reserves are readily accessible through existing 
infrastructure and highly developed shaft systems, utilisation of the 
existing infrastructure merely compounds inefficiencies and legacy 
issues when accessing target opportunities. Through the utilisation of 
new access infrastructure and appropriate and modern technologies, 
modder East has demonstrated how previously uneconomical 
orebodies can now be economically extracted. 

tHe VIsIon
By leveraging off the experience from gold One’s modder East 
Operation, goliath gold has the potential to identify and develop 
projects within its lease area similar in scale to that of modder East.

The granting of two new prospecting rights to goliath gold and one 
new prospecting right to gold One as part of the Pamodzi East Rand 
Operations Acquisition has cemented goliath gold and gold One’s 
control over the majority of the East Rand Basin. Through the shared 
management agreement entered into with gold One (see detail on 
page 5) goliath gold has access to gold One’s demonstrated ability 
to build and develop sustainable mines such as the modder East 
Operations. goliath gold intends to not simply open up new mines via 
existing infrastructure, but rather to adopt a clean sheet approach, as 
was done by gold One for modder East. goliath gold’s future growth 
targets in the East Rand Basin have never been accessed historically 
and as a consequence have no rehabilitation or underground water 
legacy issues. By utilising the ‘modder East model’ to develop further 
mining opportunities in the East Rand Basin, goliath gold anticipates 
that mining can be continued in the area for at least another quarter 
of a century.
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DIRECTORATE

RICHARD steWARt (38)
CEO

BSc (Hons), PHD (Geology)

Richard has over 15 years’ experience in south Africa’s geological and mining industries and is a professional 
natural scientist registered with sACNAsP. A former investment consultant for African global Capital sA, 
Richard has also held management positions at Uranium One, shango solutions and CsIR mining Technology.

Richard serves as executive vice president: technical services for gold One and played an instrumental role 
in the creation of goliath gold. Richard has also served on the goliath gold Executive Committee since its 
inception.

CHRIstoPHeR CHADWICK (46)
CFO
BCompt (Hons), CTA, CA(SA)

Christopher qualified as a chartered accountant in 1991 and joined Aflease gold as CFO in july 2008. In 
may 2009 he was appointed as CFO of gold One; a position which he continues to fulfil. In December 2012 
Christopher was appointed as acting CEO of gold One in addition to his role as CFO.

Christopher has held executive positions in a wide range of industries both with local south African 
companies and multinationals, including Commercial Airways, New Age Beverages, The Kelly group, Leo 
Burnett, Dell Computers and the Peu group.
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PIet neL (72)
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
BSC, AEP

Piet held various positions within stilfontein gold mining for 11 years, including that of chief geologist and 
planning manager, and thereafter joined gencor where he functioned as project leader for the company’s 
anthracite exploration.

In 1982 Piet founded his own company, geocapro services, which continues to operate as a geological 
contracting concern to mining and exploration companies. In 1987 Piet began a 15-year long managing 
directorship of the geocapro magnesite mine based in the Limpopo Valley and, during the following year, he 
also began a 14-year long managing directorship of Venmag, a magnesia mining company. 

Piet has served as executive director of East Rand gold miner Petrex, which was sold to Bema gold in 2002, 
and also served as managing director of Petrex for a period of two years. 

Piet is the founder of Petmin, a south African mining and processing company that was formerly known as 
Petra, where he served as non-executive chairman for a period of 20 years. Piet currently serves as chairman 
of Petmin’s Technical Advisory and Review Committee.

KeItH RAYneR (57)
Independent Non-Executive Director
BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

Keith qualified as a south African chartered accountant in 1986 and has extensive experience in laws, 
regulations and governance involving corporate finance (‘laws and principles’). He is the CEO of KA Rayner 
Presentations, which provides corporate finance training and advisory services in respect of these laws and 
principles. 

Keith is a member of the jsE Issuer Regulation Advisory Committee, a fellow of the Institute of Directors 
in southern Africa (IODsA), a non-broking member of the south African Institute of stockbrokers, and a 
member of the Investment Analysts society of south Africa. 

Keith is also a past member of various sAmREC and sAmVAL (south African Code for the Reporting of 
mineral Asset Valuation) committees and working groups, and was a member of the committee that wrote 
the Takeover Regulations for the Companies Act. Keith was a member of one of the King III sub-committees 
and is a past member of the Accounting Practices Committee.

JeRRY VILAKAZI (53)
Independent Non-Executive Director
BA, MA, MBA

jerry is currently the non-executive chairman of Netcare, the largest private healthcare group in south 
Africa, and holds non-executive directorships that include PPC, sibanye gold and Palama Investments. jerry 
has served on the King Committee on Corporate governance, the National Anti-Corruption Forum, Business 
Against Crime, the sADC Employers’ group, the EU-southern Africa Business Council as well as on various 
international business councils.

jerry is a former CEO of Business Unity south Africa and has also served as a managing director of the 
Black management Forum. jerry was previously appointed to the National Planning Commission and to 
the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Advisory Council by President jacob Zuma, and is a former 
member of the Public service Commission.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

IntRoDUCtIon
goliath gold is a south African incorporated mining exploration company and a subsidiary of gold One, which until 30 january 2014 was a listed 
public company with a primary listing on the AsX Limited and a secondary listing on the jsE. In terms of a management agreement between the 
two companies, gold One employees provide, inter alia, financial, geological and technical skills to the company. In addition, the CEO, CFO and 
company secretary are employed by gold One and do not, save for share options, receive any additional remuneration from goliath gold. goliath 
gold employs two fulltime employees. As the gold One employees who provide services to goliath gold are subject to the former’s policies and 
procedures, it is not always deemed necessary at this point in time to duplicate the policies and procedures at goliath gold. 

goliath gold has nevertheless begun focusing on developing new and simple governance structures founded on the core principles of honesty, 
integrity, accountability and transparency read in conjunction with the principles and recommendations set out in King III and the requirements of 
the Companies Act and in compliance with jsE Listings Requirements.

At goliath gold, corporate governance is a way of life rather than a set of rigid rules and, as such, goliath gold is fully committed to applying good 
corporate governance principles and implementing the principles and recommended practices of King III. The company will undertake a further gap 
analysis in 2014 to determine the extent to which goliath gold has applied the principles and recommended practices in King III and those principles 
which will require further attention. The company will also identify areas where the current governance practices can be enhanced and will then take 
the necessary steps to implement a plan to meet and/or enhance those requirements. The company’s King III application register can be found on 
pages 49 to 52.

BoARD RoLes AnD ResPonsIBILItIes
The company is governed by a unitary board which, as at 31 December 2013, was made up of five members: three non-executive directors and two 
executive directors. All the non-executive directors are regarded as being independent. The board discharges its duties in compliance with its policy 
requiring one director: one vote, with the chairman having a casting vote, and no director having unfettered powers of decision making.

The board is responsible for strategy, strategic decision making and assessment of its own execution. The board recognises that strategy performance, 
sustainability and risk are inseparable. It is also responsible for its own governance such as the rotation of directors, training of directors, management 
of conflicts of interest and nominations to the board. It is responsible for the governance of the company on behalf of its shareholders. It performs 
this duty within a framework of policies and procedures. 

The roles of chairman and CEO are separate and distinct as required by jsE Listings Requirements. mark Wheatley retired as chairman at the Annual 
general meeting (“Agm”) held on 30 April 2013 and Piet Nel, an independent non-executive director, was appointed as chairman with effect from 
the close of the aforementioned Agm.
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APPoIntMent oF DIReCtoRs
Non-executive directors provide an independent perspective and complement the skills and experience of executive directors. They objectively 
assess strategy, budgets, performance, resources and reserves, transformation, employment equity and sustainable development. Collectively, the 
board believes that the current mix of knowledge, skill and experience meets the requirements to lead goliath gold.

RotAtIon oF DIReCtoRs
In terms of the company’s memorandum of Incorporation (“mOI”), one-third of the non-executive directors are required to retire from office at every 
Agm. At the Agm on 30 April 2013, mark Wheatley and jerry Vilakazi retired with only jerry Vilakazi making himself available for re-election. Keith 
Rayner will retire at the 2014 Agm but, being eligible, will make himself available for re-election.

Following the Agm, it is expected that the board will be constituted as follows:

•		 Piet	Nel:	independent	non-executive	chairman
•		 Keith	Rayner:	independent	non-executive	director
•		 Jerry	Vilakazi:	independent	non-executive	director
•		 Richard	Stewart:	CEO
•		 Christopher	Chadwick:	CFO

The appointment of new directors follows a formal and transparent process as outlined below. The appointments are ultimately approved by the 
board and shareholders.

The board has delegated authority to the nominations committee to periodically assess the skills required having regard to the strategic objectives of 
the company. The assessment is made available to the board. The committee, when it considers it appropriate, but in any event whenever a director 
retires, assesses the skills represented on the board by the remaining non-executive directors and if they do not meet the required skills identified, 
determines how to rectify the position. The committee, having regard to skills required and the skills represented, implements a process for the 
identification of suitable candidates. The committee must ensure that all candidates are free of any conflict of interest and provide the board with 
a report confirming same. The Nominations Committee must make recommendations to the board on candidates it considers appropriate and the 
board, after assessing the candidates, must arrange interviews between nominated board members and the candidates. The board as a whole must 
approve the final candidate. The company secretary is responsible for ensuring that all statutory and regulatory requirements are complied with and 
that new directors are properly inducted.

DIReCtoRs’ ConFLICts oF InteRest
In terms of the Companies Act and King III, directors must avoid a situation where the director has a direct or indirect interest that conflicts or may 
possibly conflict with the interests of the company. The board has established procedures to enable directors to notify the company of actual or 
potential conflict situations. If a director finds that a conflict of interest is unavoidable, he must disclose same and recuse himself from any decisions 
where the conflict may impair his judgement. 

BoARD eFFeCtIVeness
In terms of its charter, the board is required to undertake an annual evaluation of the performance of the directors and its committees. However, 
having regard to the short period that has elapsed since the reconstitution of the board and the small number of non-executive directors, no formal 
assessment was carried out for the year ended 31 December 2013. The board will evaluate whether or not to conduct an in-house or independent 
review at the end of 2014.

enGAGInG WItH oUR stAKeHoLDeRs
The board is responsible for communicating effectively with shareholders and has made the CEO responsible for regularly engaging with shareholders 
and potential shareholders.

As an exploration and development company, the company will in particular focus going forward on adopting a stakeholder engagement policy 
which will guide the company on engaging with the communities within which it conducts exploration activities and provide a platform for members 
of the surrounding communities to raise their concerns and have meaningful discussions with management.



472013  |  ANNUAL REPORT 

BoARD GoVeRnAnCe stRUCtURe
The company has a formal and transparent board nomination process. The board has established various committees to assist it in the discharge of 
its duties. All these committees operate in terms of charters approved by the board that set out their respective mandates. The board and committee 
charters were approved in 2013 and can be found on the company’s website.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides assurance to the board on the integrity of financial reporting and the audit process, as well as the maintenance of 
a sound risk management and an internal control system. The committee also ensures effective communication between management, external 
auditors and the board. The company has complied with the provisions of section 94 of the Companies Act, regarding the establishment of an audit 
committee and the appointment of directors to the audit committee. 

The committee reports internally to the board. The Audit Committee reports, amongst others, on the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy 
of the finance function of the company. In the past year the Audit Committee charter was aligned to applicable legal requirements and standards. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee members were:

•	 Keith	Rayner:	chairman
•	 Piet	Nel
•	 Jerry	Vilakazi

All the members are independent non-executive directors and are suitably skilled to serve on the committee. The Audit Committee held five meetings 
during 2013. The external auditors, CEO, CFO and senior financial manager are invited to all the Audit Committee meetings. On occasions the Audit 
Committee meets with the external auditors in the absence of the executive directors and management.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for overseeing the administration of the company’s remuneration strategy, including its share option 
and other equity-based incentive plans, and the execution of the board’s responsibilities with respect to the remuneration of the CEO, other executive 
officers and directors.

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the committee were:

•	 Jerry	Vilakazi:	chairman			
•	 Piet	Nel	
•	 Keith	Rayner

All members are independent non-executive directors. The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during 2013.

The CEO, CFO and company secretary do not receive any remuneration from the company. As a result of the aforesaid, the committee, save for the 
grant of share options and reviewing non-executive directors fees, was not active during the period under review.

Social and Ethics Committee 
(incorporating the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee)
The social and Ethics Committee has been established in line with the requirements of the Companies Act. It is responsible for assisting the board 
in carrying out its social, ethical and economic development responsibilities including but not limited to the promotion of equality, prevention of 
unfair discrimination and reduction of corruption, and the assessment of the company’s contribution to the development of communities in which 
its activities are predominantly conducted. In addition, the committee assists the board in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities with respect 
to the selection, nomination and appointment of members of the board and their appointment to board committees, the coordination of an annual 
evaluation of the board, its committees and individual board members and the development and annual review of the charters of the board and each 
board committee.

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the social and Ethics Committee (incorporating the Corporate governance and Nomination Committee) 
were:

•	 Jerry	Vilakazi:	chairman
•	 Keith	Rayner
•	 Piet	Nel

All members are independent non-executive directors. The social and Ethics Committee (incorporating the Corporate governance and Nomination 
Committee) held four meetings during 2013.

The committee is also responsible for ensuring that directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in company shares during closed and price 
sensitive periods. 
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Health, Safety, Environment and Sustainable Development Committee
As a mining exploration company, the board has established a Health, safety, Environment and sustainable Development Committee. The 
committee assists the board in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities to oversee the management of policies, programs and practices 
pertaining to occupational health and safety, environment and sustainable development matters, including initiatives to promote the empowerment 
of historically disadvantaged persons in line with the mining Charter.

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the committee were:

•	 Piet	Nel:	chairman
	•	 Jerry	Vilakazi
•	 Keith	Rayner
•	 Richard	Stewart:	CEO

The chairman of the committee is required to be an independent non-executive director and at least one member must be an executive director. 

Risk Committee
During 2013, the board decided to delink risk from the responsibilities of the Audit Committee and to establish a separate Risk Committee comprising 
at least five directors, three of whom must be non-executive directors who meet the criteria for independence. The board approved a separate charter 
which can be found on the company’s website.

The Risk Committee’s mandate is to assist the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for risk management, systems of internal control, fraud 
prevention and processes for monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and codes of conduct.

The committee has an independent role, operating as an overseer and a maker of recommendations to the board for its consideration and final 
approval. The committee does not assume the functions of management, which remain the responsibility of the executive directors, officers and 
other members of senior management. 

The role of the committee is to assist the board to ensure that:

•	 The	 company	 has	 implemented	 an	 effective	 policy	 and	 risk	management	 process	 that	will	 enhance	 its	 ability	 to	 achieve	 its	 strategic	 and	
operational objectives

•	 The	disclosure	regarding	risk	is	comprehensive,	timely	and	relevant.	

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the committee were:

•	 Keith	Rayner:	chairman
•	 Piet	Nel
•	 Jerry	Vilakazi
•	 Richard	Stewart
•	 Christopher	Chadwick

CoMPAnY seCRetARY 
Pierre Kruger is the company secretary, duly appointed by the board in accordance with the Companies Act. The company secretary is required to 
support the chairman and the board in:

•	 Ensuring	the	effective	functioning	of	the	board
•	 Providing	 guidance	 to	 the	 chairman	 and	 the	 directors	 on	 their	 fiduciary	 responsibilities	 and	 duties	 within	 the	 regulatory	 and	 statutory	

environment
•	 Raising	matters	that	may	warrant	the	attention	of	the	board.

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company secretary on their responsibilities, and any other relevant assistance 
they may require.

The board has assessed and satisfied itself on the competence, qualifications and experience of the company secretary as required by jsE Listings 
Requirements. In satisfying itself, the board, in closed session, took into account the following factors:

•	 He	holds	the	degrees	B.	Com.,	LLB.,	Higher	Diploma	in	Company	Law
•	 He	is	an	admitted	attorney,	notary	public	and	conveyancer	and	practised	as	an	attorney	for	26	years
•	 He	served	on	the	board	of	Aflease	Gold	Limited	(“Aflease	Gold”),	a	JSE-listed	company	at	the	time,	as	a	non-executive	director	prior	to	his	

appointment as company secretary of Aflease gold in january 2007
•	 He	has	worked	in	a	full	time	capacity	as	a	company	secretary	since	January	2007	and	is	also	the	company	secretary	of	Gold	One	which,	up	and	

until 30 january 2014, had a primary listing on the AsX and a secondary listing on the jsE.

The board has also satisfied itself that there is an arms-length relationship between the board and the company secretary. The company secretary is 
not a director of goliath gold.

sPonsoR
As required by the jsE Listings Requirements, merchantec Capital is the company’s sponsor.
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Jse LIstInGs ReQUIReMents CoMPLIAnCe WItH sPeCIFIC GoVeRnAnCe 
ReQUIReMents 
The board is satisfied, insofar as it is aware, that the company has complied with all the specific corporate governance requirements contained in 
section 3 Paragraph 3.84 of the jsE Listings Requirements during the financial year ended 31 December 2013, which are evidenced on pages 43 to 
52 of this integrated annual report. 

CoRPoRAte GoVeRnAnCe
Analysis of the application of the 75 corporate governance principles as recommended in the King III Report

No. Area Requirement Apply Partially 
Apply

Under 
Review

Comments

Ethical Leadership and Corporate Citizenship

1 1.1 The board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.

The board adopted a new charter in 2013 which will be reviewed annually going forward

The board will focus on finalising a code of ethics  in compliance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act in 2014

An ethics framework and the measurement thereof will also be established in 2014 as part 
of the risk management process by the newly established Risk Committee.

2 1.2 The board should ensure that the 
company is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen.

The board considers quarterly at its meetings the non-financial performance, risks and 
impact of its exploration activities to all key stakeholders.

A stakeholder policy, which will guide the company on engagements with the communities 
within which the company operates is currently under consideration.

3 1.3 The board should ensure that the 
company’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

A baseline assessment of ethics management is being undertaken and an ethics policy will 
be tabled in 2014 for approval by the board.

Boards and Directors 

4

Role and 
Function of the 

Board

2.1 The board should act as the focal 
point for and custodian of corporate 
governance.

The board accepts responsibility as custodian for corporate governance and demonstrates 
in its meetings with and interaction with management that a high level of corporate 
governance is maintained. 

5 2.2 The board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable.

The board reviews its strategy for the business on an annual basis and amends the strategy 
as events and circumstances change. The risks to achieving the strategy are reviewed on 
a quarterly basis at the board meetings. The company’s performance against strategic 
objectives, mitigation of risks and sustainability are discussed and monitored at the 
quarterly board meetings. 

6 2.3 The board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.

see 1.3 above.

7 2.4 The board should ensure that the 
company is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

see 1.3 above.

8 2.5 The board should ensure that the 
company’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

see 1.3 above.

9 2.6 The board should ensure that the 
company has an effective and 
independent Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is established in terms of the Companies Act and meets quarterly. 

10 2.7 The board should be responsible for the 
governance of risk.

The board established a separate Risk Committee in 2013. In addition, management has 
identified and assessed the materiality of the risks and developed a risk register, which has 
been approved by the board. 

management will continue to assess the materiality of the risks identified and update the 
risk register on a quarterly basis for submission to the Risk Committee.

11 2.8 The board should be responsible 
for information technology (“IT”) 
governance.

With only two fulltime employees, goliath gold employees make use of gold One IT 
infrastructure and are subject to the gold One IT governance framework. 

The board will continue to monitor the position and will implement a separate IT 
governance framework when circumstances warrant it. 

12 2.9 The board should ensure that the 
company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards.

Each executive member, together with the company secretary, is required to identify the 
regulatory universe the specific discipline operates within. The executive focus in 2014 will 
be to document a single compliance policy for all the disciplines.

13 2.10 The board should ensure that there is 
an effective risk-based internal audit.

The internal audit function is currently outsourced to PwC Incorporated (“PwC”) and 
operates under the oversight of the Audit Committee. The internal audit charter has been 
defined and approved during 2013.

14 2.11 The board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
company’s reputation.

The board in its reviews and deliberations considers all material stakeholder matters and 
perceptions in order to manage such perceptions and reputational risks.

15 2.12 The board should ensure the integrity 
of the company’s integrated report.

The board, through the Audit Committee and external auditors, reviews the system of 
internal controls which supports the compilation of the integrated report.

16 2.13 The board should report on the 
effectiveness of the company’s system 
of internal controls.

The board through the Audit Committee assesses at least annually the effectiveness of the 
internal controls. 

17 2.14 The board and its directors should act 
in the best interests of the company.

The board has established procedures to enable directors to notify the company of actual or 
potential conflict situations. If a director finds that a conflict of interest is unavoidable, he/
she must disclose same and recuse himself/herself from any decisions where the conflict 
may impair his/her judgement. 

18 2.15 The board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other turnaround 
mechanisms as soon as the company is 
financially distressed as defined in the 
Companies Act.

This principle has not yet been applied as the need has not yet arisen. The board does, 
however, constantly review the financial standing of the company, and always applies the 
solvency and liquidity tests in all business transactions as required by the Companies Act. 
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No. Area Requirement Apply Partially 
Apply

Under 
Review

Comments

19
Role and 

Function of the 
Board

2.16 The board should elect a chairman 
of the board who is an independent 
non-executive director. The CEO of the 
company should not also fulfil the role 
of chairman of the board.

mark Wheatley, who was not regarded as being independent, retired as chairman and 
director at the Agm on 30 April 2013. Piet Nel, who meets the criteria for independence, 
was appointed as chairman with effect from the close of the aforementioned Agm.   

The roles of chairman and CEO are separate and distinct.

20 Role and 
Function of the 

Board

2.17 The board should appoint the CEO 
and establish a framework for the 
delegation of authority.

Richard stewart has been appointed as CEO and the limits of authority have been clearly 
defined.

21
Composition of 

the Board

2.18 The board should comprise a balance of 
power, with a majority of non-executive 
directors. The majority of non-executive 
directors should be independent.

The board consists of five members, three of whom are independent non-executive 
directors.

22 Board 
Appointment 

Process

2.19 Directors should be appointed through 
a formal process.

Director appointments are transparent and formal. A formal process has been documented 
and incorporated into the social and Ethics Committee (which incorporates the governance 
and Nomination Committee) Charter, which was approved by the board in 2013. 

23
Director 

Developments

2.20 The induction of and ongoing training 
and development of directors should be 
conducted through formal processes.

This is both an informal and formal process. New directors are made aware of their duties 
and furnished with the relevant documents. The new directors are also invited to visit the 
company’s exploration sites. 

24
Company 
secretary

2.21 The board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced company secretary.

The company secretary is Pierre Kruger. The board has assessed and satisfied itself on the 
competency, qualifications and experience of the company secretary. 

25

Performance 
Assessment

2.22 The evaluation of the board, its 
committees and the individual directors 
should be performed every year.

Having regard to the fact that the directors on the board as currently constituted have only 
served for a short time, the board did not conduct an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
board and its committees at the end of 2013. The focus in 2014 will be on developing a 
performance measuring process and evaluating whether or not to conduct an in-house or 
independent review at the end of 2014.

26

Board 
Committees

2.23 The board should delegate certain 
functions to well structured 
committees but without abdicating its 
own responsibilities.

The board has delegated certain functions to the following committees:

Audit Committee

social and Ethics Committee (incorporating the Corporate governance and Nomination 
Committee)

Remuneration Committee, Health, safety, Environment and sustainable Development 
Committee

Risk Committee

The committees are required to make recommendations to the board regarding the 
functions delegated to them by the board. The board has access to all the minutes of the 
committee meetings.

27

group Boards

2.24 A governance framework should be 
agreed between the group and its 
subsidiary boards.

Each subsidiary company operates with a separate board of directors and there is no formal 
governance framework. The majority of the subsidiaries are dormant and the focus in 2014 
will be to de-register or liquidate the dormant subsidiaries. A formal governance framework 
will be tabled for approval in due course. 

28

Remuneration 
of Directors 
and senior 
Executives 

2.25 Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly and 
responsibly.

The Remuneration Committee oversees the administration of the company’s remuneration 
strategy, including its share option plans. Currently the CEO and other executives are 
remunerated by gold One and receive no additional remuneration, save for share options, 
from goliath gold. The remuneration of non-executive directors is considered by the full 
board acting on recommendations from the Remuneration Committee and subsequently 
approved by shareholders and reported on in the integrated annual report.

29 2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior executives.

see 2.25 above.

30 2.27 shareholders should approve the 
company’s remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy is approved by shareholders at the Agm.

Audit Committees 

31 3.1 The board should ensure that the 
company has an effective and 
independent Audit Committee.

see item 2.6 above.

32

membership 
and Resources 

of the Audit 
Committee 

3.2 Audit committee members should be 
suitably skilled and experienced 
independent non-executive directors.

All the Audit Committee members are suitably skilled and experienced independent 
non-executive directors. Their respective curricula vitae appear on pages 43 and 44 of this 
integrated annual report. 

33 3.3 The Audit Committee should be chaired 
by an independent non-executive 
director.

The committee is chaired by Keith Rayner, B Com, CTA, CA(sA), an independent 
non-executive director.

34

Responsibilities 
of the Audit 
Committee

3.4 The Audit Committee should oversee 
integrated reporting.

The Audit Committee reviews and oversees all disclosure contained in the annual report 
with the required recommendations to the board prior to the approval thereof.

35 3.5 The Audit Committee should ensure 
that a combined assurance model 
is applied to provide a coordinated 
approach to all assurance activities.

A combined assurance framework has not yet been adopted by the board. The focus will be 
on finalising same in 2014.

36

Internal 
Assurance 
Providers

3.6 The Audit Committee should satisfy 
itself of the expertise, resources and 
experience of the company’s finance 
function.

The expertise, resources and experience of the company’s finance function as well as the 
CFO are assessed annually by the Audit Committee in closed session and reported to the 
board. 

37 3.7 The Audit Committee should be 
responsible for overseeing of internal 
audit.

The internal audit function has been outsourced to PwC and the Audit Committee is 
responsible for overseeing same.

38 3.8 The Audit Committee should be 
an integral component of the risk 
management process.

The company has established a Risk Committee, which is independent of the Audit 
Committee, to review the risk management process on a regular basis and to oversee that 
management implements appropriate control programmes to mitigate the identified risks.

39
External 

Assurance 
Providers 

3.9 The Audit Committee is responsible 
for recommending the appointment of 
the external auditor and overseeing the 
external audit process.

The Audit Committee on an annual basis evaluates the external audit function and the 
auditors independence as well as non-audit fees, the outcome of which is reported to the 
board and shareholders.
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No. Area Requirement Apply Partially 
Apply

Under 
Review

Comments

40
Reporting

3.10 The Audit Committee should report to 
the board and shareholders on how it 
has discharged its duties.

The Audit Committee reports to the board on a quarterly basis and makes  
recommendations to the board regarding resolutions to be approved by the board.

4. The governance of Risk

41.

Board’s 
Responsibility 
for Risk 
governance

4.1 The board should be responsible for 
the governance of risk.

see item 3.8 above.

42. 4.2 The board should determine the levels 
of risk tolerance.

see item 3.8 above.

43. 4.3 The risk committee or Audit 
Committee should assist the board in 
carrying out its risk responsibilities.

In line with the requirement that an executive director should serve on the Risk Committee, 
coupled with the fact that an executive director cannot serve on the Audit Committee, a 
separate  Risk Committee has been established to assist the board with its duties in this 
regard.

44. managements 
Responsibility 
for Risk 
management

4.4 The board should delegate to 
management the responsibility to 
design, implement and monitor the 
risk management plan.

management has identified and assessed the risks and developed a risk register.

45.

Risk 
Assessment

4.5 The board should ensure that risk 
assessments are performed on a 
continual basis.

see item 3.8 above.

46. 4.6 The board should ensure that 
frameworks and methodologies 
are implemented to increase 
the probability of anticipating 
unpredictable risks.

see item 3.8 above.

47.

Risk Response

4.7 The board should ensure that 
management considers and 
implements appropriate risk 
responses.

see item 3.8 above.

48. Risk 
monitoring

4.8 The board should ensure continual risk 
monitoring by management.

see item 3.8 above.

49.
Risk Assurance

4.9 The board should receive assurance 
regarding the effectiveness of the risk 
management process.

see item 3.8 above.

50.

Risk 
Disclosure

4.10 The board should ensure that there 
are processes in place enabling 
complete, timely, relevant, accurate 
and accessible risk disclosure to 
stakeholders.

see item 3.8 above.

5. The governance of information technology

51. 5.1 The board should be responsible 
for information technology (IT) 
governance.

With fewer than 10 employees, the goliath gold employees make use of the gold One IT 
infrastructure and are subject to the gold One IT governance framework.

The board will continue to monitor the position and will implement a separate IT 
governance framework when circumstances warrant it.

52. 5.2 IT should be aligned with the 
performance and sustainability 
objectives of the company.

see item 5.1 above.

53. 5.3 The board should delegate to 
management the responsibility for the 
implementation of an IT governance 
framework.

see item 5.1 above.

54. 5.4 The board should monitor and 
evaluate significant IT investments and 
expenditure.

see item 5.1 above.

55. 5.5 IT should form an integral part of the 
company’s risk management.

see item 5.1 above.

56. 5.6 The board should ensure that 
information assets are managed 
effectively.

see item 5.1 above.

57. 5.7 A risk committee and Audit 
Committee should assist the board in 
carrying out its IT responsibilities.

see item 5.1 above.

6. Compliance with Laws, Rules, Codes and standards 

58. 6.1 The board should ensure that the 
company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards.

The board where necessary seeks the advice of the company secretary, internal legal 
counsel and external advisors. 

The executive focus in 2014 will be to document a formal compliance policy which will be 
tabled for the board to consider and, following its adoption, will be implemented.

59. 6.2 The board and each individual director 
should have a working understanding 
of the effect of the applicable laws, 
rules, codes and standards on the 
company and its business.

The compliance policy will outline the legal and regulatory universe of the company. 

60. 6.3 Compliance risk should form an 
integral part of the company’s risk 
management process.

Compliance risk forms part of the risk management process described in Item 4.1 above 
and will be included in the revised risk management framework.
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No. Area Requirement Apply Partially 
Apply

Under 
Review

Comments

61. 6.4 The board should delegate to 
management the implementation of 
an effective compliance framework 
and processes.

see item 6.1 above.

7. Internal Audit 

62. The Need for 
and Role of 
Internal Audit

7.1 The board should ensure that there is 
an effective risk based internal audit.

see item 3.7 above.

63.

Internal 
Audit’s 
Approach and 
Plan

7.2 Internal audit should follow a risk 
based approach to its plan.

goliath gold’s internal auditors, PwC, were approved during 2013 and have prepared and 
presented a risk-based approach. The detailed internal audit commenced in 2014. 

64. 7.3 Internal audit should provide a written 
assessment of the effectiveness of the 
company’s system of internal control 
and risk management.

see item 7.2 above.

65. 7.4 The Audit Committee should be 
responsible for overseeing internal 
audit.

see item 3.7 above.

66. Internal 
Audit’s 
status in the 
Company

7.5 Internal audit should be strategically 
positioned to achieve its objectives.

see item 7.2 above.

8. governing stakeholder Relationships 

67. 8.1 The board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect a 
company’s reputation.

The board in its reviews and deliberations considers all material stakeholder matters and 
perceptions in order to manage such perceptions and reputational risks. 

68. 8.2 The board should delegate to 
management to proactively deal with 
stakeholder relationships.

management is required to identify key stakeholder groups and report to the social and 
ethics committee the communication processes in place to monitor and strengthen these 
relationships.

As an exploration and development company, goliath gold has adopted a stakeholder 
engagement policy which will guide the company on engaging with the communities 
within which it operates. 

69. 8.3 The board should strive to achieve 
the appropriate balance between its 
various stakeholder groupings, in the 
best interests of the company.

This aspect is carefully considered and managed given the various sensitivities.

70. 8.4 Companies should ensure the 
equitable treatment of shareholders.

The board and management are mindful that all shareholders must be treated equally and 
endeavour not to place any shareholder’s interests above that of another.

71. 8.5 Transparent and effective 
communication with stakeholders is 
essential for building and maintaining 
their trust and confidence.

The board adopted principles and recommendations relevant to the company at an 
early stage as well as transparent and effective communication in terms of its integrated 
reporting.

72.
Dispute 
Resolution

8.6 The board should ensure disputes are 
resolved as effectively, efficiently and 
expeditiously as possible.

The appropriated dispute resolution clauses are inserted in both inter-company and third 
party agreements. Having regard to the size of the company and its operations, a specific 
policy has not yet been considered.

9. Integrated Reporting and Disclosure 

73.
Transparency 
and 
Accountability 

9.1 The board should ensure the integrity 
of the company’s integrated report.

The board is focused on the group’s strategic objectives, responding to stakeholder needs 
and ensuring conciseness reliability and materiality of information. The board constantly 
liaises with management on issues affecting the group. Furthermore, the board performs a 
thorough review of the integrated annual report prior to its release.

74. 9.2 sustainability reporting and disclosure 
should be integrated with the 
company’s financial reporting.

The group is currently focused on exploration activities and has very few mining activities. 
Accordingly, extensive sustainability disclosures are not required at this time. Increased 
sustainability reporting will develop once the group commences expanded mining 
activities.

75. 9.3 sustainability reporting and disclosure 
should be independently assured.

see item 9.2 above.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY DIRECTORS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements1 of goliath gold, 
comprising the statements of financial position at 31 December 2013, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with IFRs and the requirements of the Companies Act. In addition, the directors are responsible 
for preparing the Directors’ Report.

 The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system 
of risk management as well as the preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns and have no reason to believe 
that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of consolidated and separate annual financial statements

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements of goliath gold, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of 
directors on 31 march 2014 and signed by:     

Piet Nel
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

1  Or refer to “group annual financial statements and annual financial statements” where the financial statements indicate that they present “Group” and “Company” 
figures.     
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE BY COMPANY 
SECRETARY

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, in terms of section 88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, the company has lodged with the 
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns and notices as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 
and that all such returns and notices appear to be true, correct and up to date in respect of the financial period reported upon.

Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
31 March 2014
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of goliath gold and the entities it controlled for the year ended 
31 December 2013.

1. DIReCtoRs
The names and details of the directors of the company in office during 
the financial year are:

Name Date of  
Appointment 

Date Resigned or 
Retired

mark Wheatley 23 march 2011 30 April 2013

Christopher Chadwick 23 march 2011

Keith Rayner 23 march 2011 -

jerry Vilakazi 21 june 2011 -

Piet Nel 29 july 2011

Richard stewart 1 january 2013 -

2. DIReCtoRs’ MeetInGs
The number of meetings of directors held during the year and the 
number of meetings attended by each director while they were directors 
are as follows:

Name Board Meeting

mark Wheatley 2/2

Christopher Chadwick 4/5

Keith Rayner 5/5

jerry Vilakazi 5/5

Piet Nel 5/5

Richard stewart 5/5
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3. CoMPAnY seCRetARY
Pierre Kruger – BCom, LLB, H Dip Company Law

Pierre Kruger was appointed as company secretary of goliath gold in 
march 2011. Pierre is currently also the company secretary of gold One 
and previously served as a non-executive director on the Aflease gold 
board. Pierre is an admitted attorney, conveyancer and notary public and 
practised as an attorney for a period of 26 years prior to joining the gold 
One group on a fulltime basis in january 2007.

4. MAIn BUsIness AnD oPeRAtIons
The company’s main business is that of a mining exploration company. 
Its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the resource sector. The company 
has a primary listing on the jsE, issuer code: ggm. 

The operating results and state of affairs of the group are fully set out 
in the attached annual financial statements and do not, in the directors’ 
opinion, require any further comment.

Net loss of the group for the year ended 31 December 2013 was 
ZAR 44.0 million, compared to a group net loss for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012 of ZAR 85.9 million. Net loss of the company 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 was ZAR 242.1 million, compared 
to a company net profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 
of ZAR 312.5 million.

5. AUtHoRIseD AnD IssUeD sHARe 
CAPItAL
The company’s authorised ordinary share capital of 200,000,000 
ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each and the issued share capital of 
147,354,905 ordinary shares remained unchanged during the year under 
review.

The number of unissued shares as at 31 December 2013 was 52,645,095.

Detail of the company’s authorised and issued share capital is set out in 
note 24 of the annual financial statements.

6. DIVIDenDs
No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders during the year 
under review.

7. HeADLIne Loss PeR sHARe

Headline Loss Per Share 2013 2012 
Restated

Headline loss per share (cents) (32) (45)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents) (32) (45)

Headline Loss Per Share

The calculation of headline loss per share at 31 December 2013 
was based on a loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of 
ZAR 46.5 million (2012 restated: ZAR 61.8 million) and a weighted 
average number of shares of ordinary shares outstanding of 147,354,905 
(2012: 138,189,404).

Reconciliation of Headline Loss 2013 2012

Loss attributable to owners of the company (44 031) (85 863)

Profit on abandonment of surface rights (1 500) -

Profit on sale of assets (822) -

Loss on disposal of assets 13 1 105

Fair value adjustment (181) -

Impairment of assets - 22 914

Headline loss (46 521) (61 844)

Diluted Headline Loss Per Share

The calculation of diluted headline loss per share at 31 December 
2013 was based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
ZAR 46.5 million (2012 restated: ZAR 61.8 million). Diluted headline 
loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. goliath gold only has one element of potential 
ordinary shares, which is 6,150,000 employee share options in issue at 
31 December 2013. However, these share options are anti-dilutive and 
therefore are not included in the calculation of diluted weighted average 
number of ordinary shares. Accordingly, the diluted weighted average 
number of ordinary shares is 147,354,905 (2012: 138,521,508).

8. Asset VALUe PeR sHARe (Cents)

Asset Value Per Share (cents) 2013 2012

Net asset value per share (cents) 77 102

Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 26 50

The net asset value and the net tangible asset value per share at 
31 December 2013 are based on the total number of shares in issue of 
147,354,905 (2012: 147,354,905).

9. MAtteRs sUBseQUent to tHe enD oF 
tHe FInAnCIAL YeAR

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or circumstance has 
arisen since 31 December 2013. 

10. DIReCtoRs’ InteRests
To date, the interests of the directors in the shares of the company and 
related bodies corporate are:

Director Number 
Directly Held

Number 
Indirectly Held

Christopher Chadwick Unlisted 
options

1 000 000 -

Richard stewart Unlisted 
options

1 000 000 -

11. LItIGAtIon
There were no pending litigations as at 31 December 2013.
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12. DIReCtoRs’ ReMUneRAtIon AnD BeneFIts
Details of the company’s directors’ remuneration and benefits are set out in note 35 of the annual financial statements.

13 CoRPoRAte InFoRMAtIon
The annual financial statements for goliath gold for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors on 31 march 2014.

goliath gold is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in south Africa and whose shares are publicly traded on the jsE. 
goliath gold has prepared annual financial statements incorporating the entities it controlled during the financial year.

14. InteRest In sUBsIDIARIes
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 of the annual financial statements.  
The company has signed letters of support and, where required, subordination agreements for the subsidiary companies.

15. sIGnIFICAnt CHAnGes In tHe stAte oF AFFAIRs
Following the resignation of Neal Froneman as CEO in December 2012, Richard stewart was appointed as an executive director and CEO with effect 
from 1 january 2013.

On 21 August 2013, goliath gold’s majority shareholder, gold One, announced that it had entered into an agreement with sibanye gold Limited 
(“sibanye gold”) to merge its 74% shareholding in and claims against Newshelf 1114 Proprietary Limited (“Newshelf 1114”), which holds a 100% 
shareholding in Rand Uranium Proprietary Limited - being the Cooke 1-3 Underground Operations and Randfontein surface Operations - and, which 
will also hold 100% of Ezulwini mining Company Proprietary Limited after an internal restructuring - being the Cooke 4 Underground Operation - in 
exchange for a 17% interest in the fully diluted share capital of sibanye gold through the issue of new ordinary shares. 

As previously advised, on conclusion of the transaction, which is expected to close during the first half of 2014, Richard stewart is to become a 
fulltime employee of sibanye gold and will therefore be obliged to resign from his position as CEO of goliath gold. In the interim, and following 
the approval of the merger by the Competition Tribunal of south Africa on 5 February 2014, sibanye gold and Newshelf 114 have concluded an 
interim management agreement in terms of which sibanye gold is to take over the management of the Cooke 1-4 Underground Operations and the 
Randfontein surface Operations in advance of the transaction closing. As a consequence, Richard stewart’s resignation as CEO may be accelerated.  
The goliath gold Board is proactively considering potential candidates to serve as CEO pending the outcome of the above-mentioned transaction 
and a further announcement will be made in this regard.

mark Wheatley retired as chairman and non-executive director at the Annual general meeting (“Agm”) held on 30 April 2013. Piet Nel was appointed 
as independent non-executive chairman with effect from the close of the Agm. 

16. MAteRIAL ResoLUtIons
Details of special resolutions and other resolutions of a significant nature passed by the company and its subsidiaries during the year under review 
requiring disclosure in terms of the jsE Listings Requirements and good governance were as follows:

At the Agm held on 30 April 2013, the shareholders passed the following special resolutions:

•	 In	terms	of	 the	provisions	of	Sections	66(9)	of	 the	Companies	Act,	 the	annual	 remuneration	payable	to	the	non-executive	directors	of	 the	
Company for their services as directors of the Company for the financial years ending 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014 was approved

•	 Subject	to	compliance	with	the	Memorandum	of	Incorporation	of	the	company,	Sections	44	and	45	of	the	Companies	Act	and	the	JSE	Listings	
Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, the company may provide financial assistance by way of a loan, 
guarantee, provision of security to any related or inter-related company

•	 A	new	Memorandum	of	Incorporation	was	approved	in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	section	16(1)(c)	of	the	Companies	Act,	and	in	compliance	
with schedule 10 of the jsE Listings Requirements.

17. AUDItoRs
The appointment of PwC as the independent auditors of the company was terminated by the company with effect from 5 july 2013 and KPmg were 
appointed as independent auditors of the company with effect from 8 july 2013 with jacques Erasmus being the individual registered auditor.

18. AnnUAL GeneRAL MeetInG
Notice of the forthcoming Agm, which is to be held at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, ground floor, corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik 
Potgieter street, Weltevreden Park at 10:00 on Thursday 19 june 2014 is set out in the Notice of Annual general meeting on pages 112 to 117. 
Additional copies of the Notice of Annual general meeting may be obtained from the company’s corporate contacts and the transfer secretaries or 
may be accessed via the company’s website.



592013  |  ANNUAL REPORT 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

All the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive directors. At the Agm held on 30 April 2013, Keith Rayner (chairman), Piet 
Nel and jerry Vilakazi were re-elected. 

The formal terms of reference adopted by the committee are set out in a charter that is reviewed each year and approved by the board. The charter 
includes all its statutory responsibilities to shareholders in terms of the Companies Act, the jsE Listings Requirements and King III in as far as the 
company is able to comply with King III. As an exploration company operating with a very limited number of staff and not yet generating an income, 
it is not possible for the company to comply fully with the recommendations of King III. 

The committee assists the board through advising and making submissions on financial reporting and maintaining oversight of the risk management 
process and internal financial controls, external audit matters and the statutory and regulatory compliance of the company.

Committee members have unrestricted access to information and management of the company and, where appropriate, may seek the advice of 
independent professionals at the company’s expense on matters concerning the affairs of goliath gold.

The CEO, CFO and representatives from external audit attend the committee’s meetings by invitation. The committee meets with the external 
auditors without management at least once a year. 

It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee, amongst other things, to:

•		 Nominate	suitable	external	auditors,	having	determined	that	they	have	the	necessary	expertise	and	are	independent	of	the	company
•		 Determine	the	terms	of	engagement	of	the	external	auditors	and	the	fee	to	be	paid
•		 Review	the	audit	plan	of	the	external	auditors	and	monitor	progress	against	the	plan
•		 Pre-approve	all	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors,	ensuring	that	they	fall	within	the	list	of	permitted	services	as	determined	

by the Audit Committee
•		 Receive	reports	from	the	external	auditors
•		 Review	the	accounting	policies	of	the	company	as	well	as	any	proposed	changes
•		 Review	the	annual	and	interim	financial	reports	and	the	annual	financial	statements	and	any	other	widely	distributed	documents	and	recommend	

same to the board for approval
•		 Evaluate	the	performance	of	the	CFO
•		 Review	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	company’s	risk	management	policies,	processes	and	strategy
•		 Consider	the	appropriateness	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	reporting
•		 Review	compliance	with	applicable	legislative	requirements	of	the	appropriate	regulatory	authorities
•		 Review	the	integrity	of	the	integrated	annual	report	by	ensuring	its	content	is	reliable	and	recommending	it	to	the	board	for	approval.

The Audit Committee has complied with the above responsibilities.

Until 28 November 2013, the committee was responsible for ensuring that the requisite risk management culture, policies, practices and systems 
were in place. The risk table, mitigating strategies and progress on the implementation thereof were discussed and updated at every Audit Committee 
meeting and the updated table and discussions were presented at the following board meeting. 

On 28 November 2013, this responsibility was passed to the newly formed Risk Committee. As the company progresses successfully along the 
exploration lifecycle, the risks will change substantially and it was decided that at this stage of its life, the Risk Committee will be better placed 
to manage the major risks associated with this progression. The table of all material risks to which the company is exposed is now reviewed and 
maintained by them. 
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The nature and volume of financial transactions means that it is not cost effective for the company to engage a fulltime internal auditor. However, 
the company appointed PwC in November 2013. PwC will commence with planning and scoping during the first quarter in 2014. The committee 
reviews the detailed statement of comprehensive income and the statement of financial position at each meeting and interrogates management on 
any large variances or unusual amounts. The committee has deemed the system of internal controls in place to be sufficient to reduce significant 
risks to an acceptable level. The system is designed to manage the risks faced by goliath gold as an exploration company and is not a guarantee that 
the risks are eliminated. 

The committee is not aware of any actions against the company. King III requires the Audit Committee to provide assurance to the board on IT 
governance. As an exploration company not generating revenue, goliath gold currently operates standard office administration and geological 
packages and IT support is outsourced to gold One. The company adheres to gold One’s IT policy and the internal control procedures of the IT system 
are designed to manage the IT related risks. management is accountable to the board for designing, implementing, monitoring and integrating the 
internal controls for the day-to-day running of the company, focusing on the efficiency and effectiveness of operations, safeguarding the company’s 
assets, legal and regulatory compliance, business sustainability and reliable reporting. 

The Audit Committee monitors the available cash resources of the company having regard for the capital commitments of its exploration programme 
and its other cash requirements. The committee is aware of the dwindling cash resources as the company reaches the conclusion of exploration 
programme for its projects. goliath gold’s major shareholder, gold One, has provided a letter of support to provide further financial support to 
enable goliath gold to continue its exploration programme for the foreseeable future. gold One’s letter of support is underpinned by a letter of 
support which it has received from its ultimate parent entity, Baiyin Non-Ferrous group Company Limited.

As required by jsE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit Committee has satisfied itself that the CFO has the appropriate experience and expertise 
to fill the position. 

The committee has also concluded that the external auditor has the necessary expertise and experience and is independent. The committee 
recommends that KPmg be re-appointed.

Audit Committee Statement
The Audit Committee considered and discussed this annual report with both the management of the Company and the external auditors. During this 
process the committee: 

•		 Evaluated	significant	judgments	and	reporting	decisions
•		 Evaluated	the	material	factors	and	risks	that	could	impact	on	the	integrated	annual	report
•		 Determined	that	the	going	concern	basis	of	reporting	is	appropriate
•		 Evaluated	the	completeness	of	the	financial	statements	discussions	and	disclosures
•		 Discussed	the	treatment	of	significant	and	unusual	transactions.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 and believes that they comply in all 
material respects with the statutory requirements of the various regulations covering disclosure and reporting and that the annual financial 
statements comply in all material respects with the Companies Act and IFRs. The committee has recommended to the board that the annual 
financial statements be adopted and approved by the board.

Keith Rayner

Chairman of the Audit Committee
31 March 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of goliath gold mining Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements 
of goliath gold mining Limited, which comprise the statements of 
financial position at 31 December 2013, and the statements of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements 
which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 64 to 109.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements 

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of south Africa, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of goliath 
gold mining Limited at 31 December 2013, and its consolidated 
and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of south Africa.

Other Reports Required by the Companies Act 

As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2013, we have read the Directors’ Report, the Audit 
Committee’s Report and the Company secretary’s Certificate for the 
purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited financial statements. These 
reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on 
reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited financial statements. However, 
we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an 
opinion on these reports.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditor

Per Jacques Erasmus KPMG Crescent
Chartered Accountant (SA) 85 Empire Road
Registered Auditor Parktown
Director Johannesburg
31 March 2014 2193
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Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

CONTENTS

The reports and statements set out below comprise the consolidated and separate financial statements presented to the
shareholders:

Page

Consolidated and Separate Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 64

Consolidated and Separate Statements of Financial Position 65

Consolidated and Separate Statements of Changes in Equity 66

Consolidated and Separate Statements of Cash Flows 67

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 68 - 109

Goliath Gold Mining Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. Its registered office is as follows:

Goliath Gold Mining Limited
1933/004523/06
Ground Floor
Bridgeview House
Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street
Weltevreden Park
1709

A description of the nature of the consolidated and separate entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the
Directors’ Report, set out on pages 56 to 58, which forms part of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements
of Goliath Gold Mining Limited.

All press releases, financial statements and other information are available in the investors section of the company’s website.

Preparer

This financial report was prepared under the supervision of:
Phillip Spencer
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Vice President Finance
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Other income 6 2 503 - 2 503 27 564

Operating expenses 7 (21 064) (11 993) (20 270) (11 993)

Exploration and pre-feasibility expenditure 8 (23 888) (24 615) (6 487) (13 509)

Other expenses 9 (13) (25 365) - (29 016)

Profit on sale of assets to group companies 18 - - - 325 747

Impairment on loans to related parties 18 - - (270 656) -

Black Economic Empowerment transactions 25 - (23 770) 6 311 (20 382)

Operating (Loss)/Profit (42 462) (85 743) (288 599) 278 411

Finance income 10 516 1 821 47 378 35 985

Finance costs 11 (2 107) (2 019) (897) (1 881)

(Loss)/Profit Before Taxation (44 053) (85 941) (242 118) 312 515

Income taxation 12 22 78 - -

(Loss)/Profit for the Year (44 031) (85 863) (242 118) 312 515

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to the
Parent (44 031) (85 863) (242 118) 312 515

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share (cents) 13 (30) (62)

Diluted loss per share (cents) 13 (30) (62)
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investment Property 15 3 010 3 825 3 010 3 825

Property, Plant and Equipment 16 78 612 73 417 994 -

Intangible Assets 17 75 296 75 282 - -

Investments in Subsidiaries 18 314 790 532 199

156 918 152 524 318 794 536 024

Current Assets

Loans to Related Parties 19 17 - 17 -

Receivables 21 378 1 858 130 1 694

Restricted Cash 22 1 628 1 648 1 628 1 648

Cash and Cash Equivalents 23 4 298 12 514 4 298 12 508

6 321 16 020 6 073 15 850

Total Assets 163 239 168 544 324 867 551 874

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share Capital 24 169 860 169 860 169 860 169 860

Reserves 25 31 150 24 059 7 380 289

(Accumulated Loss) / Retained Income (87 904) (44 320) 112 387 354 058

Total Equity 113 106 149 599 289 627 524 207

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Share Based Payment Liability 26 - - 14 071 20 382

Provisions for Environmental Rehabilitation 28 1 391 1 335 - -

1 391 1 335 14 071 20 382

Current Liabilities

Loans from Related Parties 19 38 826 15 223 18 854 6 518

Trade and Other Payables 29 9 493 2 311 2 045 691

Employee Related Accruals 30 423 76 270 76

48 742 17 610 21 169 7 285

Total Liabilities 50 133 18 945 35 240 27 667

Total Equity and Liabilities 163 239 168 544 324 867 551 874
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
Capital

Share
Options
Reserve

(Accumulated
Loss) /

Retained
Income

Total
Equity

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Group
Balance at 01 January 2012 - - 41 543 41 543
Loss for the year - - (85 863) (85 863)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - (85 863) (85 863)

Issue of shares 169 860 - - 169 860
Employees share options expense - 289 - 289
Black Economic Empowerment transactions - 23 770 - 23 770

Total Contributions by and Distributions to Owners of
Company Recognised Directly in Equity

169 860 24 059 - 193 919

Balance at 01 January 2013 169 860 24 059 (44 320) 149 599

Loss for the year - - (44 031) (44 031)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - (44 031) (44 031)

Share options expense - 7 538 - 7 538
Share options (recycle options of employee resigned) - (447) 447 -

Total Contributions by and Distributions to Owners of
Company Recognised Directly in Equity

- 7 091 447 7 538

Balance at 31 December 2013 169 860 31 150 (87 904) 113 106

Notes 24 25

Company
Balance at 01 January 2012 - - 41 543 41 543
Profit for the year - - 312 515 312 515
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - 312 515 312 515

Issue of shares 169 860 - - 169 860
Employees share options expense - 289 - 289

Total Contributions by and Distributions to Owners of
Company Recognised Directly in Equity

169 860 289 - 170 149

Balance at 01 January 2013 169 860 289 354 058 524 207

Loss for the year - - (242 118) (242 118)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - (242 118) (242 118)

Share options expense - 7 538 - 7 538
Share options (recycle options of employee resigned) - (447) 447 -

Total Contributions by and Distributions to Owners of
Company Recognised Directly in Equity

- 7 091 447 7 538

Balance at 31 December 2013 169 860 7 380 112 387 289 627

Notes 24 25

66



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash used in operations 31 (27 628) (33 599) (16 106) (17 168)

Finance income 516 1 821 505 1 786

Taxation received/(paid) 22 (1 699) - -

Dividends received - - - 27 564

Net Cash from Operating Activities (27 090) (33 477) (15 601) 12 182

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 16 (5 013) (19) (1) (19)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

16 898 - 822 -

Purchase of other intangible assets 17 (10) - - -

Proceeds on sale of investments - 12 516 - -

Loans advanced to related parties - - (6 390) -

Transfers to/(from) of restricted cash 20 (927) 20 (927)

Cash acquired through business combination 32 - 35 313 - 35 309

Proceeds on abandonment of surface rights 1 500 - 1 500 -

Net Cash from Investing Activities (2 605) 46 883 (4 049) 34 363

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 21 479 26 469 11 440 -

Repayment of borrowings - (27 361) - (34 037)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 21 479 (892) 11 440 (34 037)

Total Cash Movement for the Year (8 216) 12 514 (8 210) 12 508

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year

12 514 - 12 508 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the Year 23 4 298 12 514 4 298 12 508
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

These consolidated and separate financial statements comprise the financial statements for the consolidated entity,
consisting of Goliath Gold Mining Limited ("Goliath Gold") or ("the group") and its subsidiaries, as well as the separate
financial statements of Goliath Gold ("the company"). These consolidated and separate financial statements are
presented in South African Rands ("R"). Goliath Gold is a company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except as explained in note 2
"Changes in Accounting Policies".

The consolidated and separate financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 31 March 2014. 

1.1. Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These general purpose consolidated and separate financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2013 have
been prepared in accordance with  International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), the SAICA Financial Reporting
Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Listings
Requirements. 

Historical Cost Convention

These consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention, except
for investment property which is carried at fair value.

Going Concern

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis using appropriate
accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgements and estimates. The going concern basis contemplates that
the company and its subsidiaries will have adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable
future.

We note that as at 31 December 2013, the group and company's total assets exceed its liabilities by R 113.106 million
and R 289.627 million respectively. The group and company incurred a loss for the year of R 44.031 million and
R 242.118 million. At 31 December 2013 the group and company's current liabilities exceeds its current assets by
R 42.421 million (2012: R 1.590 million) and R 15.096 million (2012: asset exceed liabilities by R 8.565 million)
respectively.

However, as the group and company is a gold exploration company and does not currently have cash generating assets,
the continued exploration programme is funded from debt advanced by the parent company, Gold One International
Limited ("Gold One"). Gold One has confirmed that it undertakes to continue its financial support of Goliath Gold as and
when additional funding is required to execute the exploration programme.

Gold One’s major shareholder BCX Gold Investment Holdings Limited ("BCX Gold"), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, has recently increased its stake in Gold One to 100%. BCX Gold has supported Gold One through
unsecured shareholder loans. BCX Gold has provided a letter of support to provide further shareholder funding to Gold
One. This letter of support underpins the letter of support granted to Goliath Gold by Gold One. 

1.2 Principles of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Subsidiaries
are recognised at cost less impairment losses in the company’s separate financial statements.
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1.2 Principles of Consolidation (continued)

Loss of Control

On the loss of control, the group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interest
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is
recognised in profit or loss. If the group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at
fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently that retained interest is accounted for as an equity accounted
investee or as an available for sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date - i.e. when control is
transferred to the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has the rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
 The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
 The recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; plus
 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
 The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the group incurs in
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at the fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it is remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree's
employees (acquiree's awards) and related to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer's
replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This
determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of
the acquiree's awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future services.

Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment

Reverse acquisition 

Goliath Gold acquired all the assets of Megamine, a division of Gold One Africa Limited ("Gold One Africa") which is a
wholly owned subsidiary of Gold One International Limited ("Gold One"). All conditions precedent to the acquisition were
fulfilled and the transaction was announced to be unconditional on 19 March 2012. Goliath Gold settled the purchase
price by issuing shares to Gold One Africa. In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, this transaction was
determined to be a “reverse acquisition”.

The financial statements of Goliath Gold which have been prepared following the reverse acquisition are issued under
the name of the Goliath Gold but described in the notes as a continuation of the financial statements of Megamine, with
one adjustment. As Megamine is a division of Gold One Africa, Megamine has no legal capital. The required adjustment
is to reflect the legal capital of Goliath Gold within the consolidated and company financial statements. 
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1.2 Principles of Consolidation (continued)

Because the consolidated and company financial statements represent the continuation of the financial statements of
Megamine except for its capital structure, the consolidated financial statements reflect:
 The assets and liabilities of Megamine recognised and measured at their pre-combination carrying amounts.
 The assets and liabilities of Goliath Gold recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 3 Business

Combinations.
 The retained earnings and other invested equity balances of Megamine before the business combination.
 The amount recognised as issued equity interests in the consolidated financial statements is determined by adding

the equity interest of Megamine outstanding immediately before the business combination to the fair value of
Goliath Gold determined in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. However, the equity structure (i.e. the
number and type of equity interests issued) reflects the equity structure of Goliath Gold, including the equity
interests issued to Gold One Africa to effect the combination. Accordingly, the equity structure of Megamine is
restated using the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement to reflect the number of shares Goliath
Gold issued in the reverse acquisition.

On the same date as the reverse acquisition by Goliath Gold of the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold entered into a sales
agreement with Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited ("FEG") (a wholly owned subsidiary) to sell
the Megamine assets and Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited ("Witnigel") prospecting rights. As FEG was a
company created to effect a capital reorganisation and had no business operations, no business combination occurred
as the requirements of IFRS 3 Business Combinations were not met. 

1.3 Segment Reporting

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that the group’s chief operating decision maker
("CODM") reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in assessing their performance. The CODM for the
group has been identified as the group’s Executive Committee. Reportable segments are identified based on
quantitative thresholds of revenue, profit or loss, and assets. The amounts disclosed for each reportable segment are
the measures reported to the CODM, which are not necessarily based on the same accounting policies as the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. Please refer to note 5 for details on the aggregation of operating
segments. 

1.4 Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the consolidated and separate financial statements of each entity in the group are measured using the
currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity
("the functional currency"). The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in South African Rand
("R"), which is the group's presentation currency. The functional currency of the company and its subsidiaries is Rand.

1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment

Mining Assets

The group’s property, plant and equipment consists mainly of mining assets which comprise mining properties (including
mineral rights), mine development costs, mine plant facilities, land and buildings, equipment and vehicles.

Mine development costs, which are capitalised, consist primarily of expenditure that gives access to proved and
probable mineral reserves. Capitalised development costs include expenditure incurred to develop new ore bodies, to
define future mineralisation in existing ore bodies and to expand the capacity of a mine. Mine development costs to
maintain production are expensed as incurred. Where funds have been borrowed specifically to finance a project, the
amount of interest capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs incurred (refer to accounting policy on borrowing
costs capitalised). Mine development costs capitalised include acquired proved and probable mineral reserves at the
acquisition date.

The costs of acquiring licences and undeveloped property, are capitalised on a project-by-project basis, pending
determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project. The capitalised costs are presented as
tangible assets according to the nature of the assets acquired. When a licence is relinquished or a project is abandoned,
the related costs are recognised in profit or loss immediately. Pre-licence costs are recognise in profit or loss as
incurred.
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1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing an asset to a working
condition for its intended use, as well as the costs of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site on which
it is located.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, with costs that are significant in relation to the total cost of the
item, have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the net
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised in profit or loss.
When assets are sold which have been revalued on acquisition for consolidation purposes, the amounts included in the
revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

Mining Exploration

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred, unless there is a high degree of confidence in the project's viability and it is
probable that the project will return future economic benefits to the group when all further pre-production expenditure is
capitalised. These costs include evaluation costs.

Subsequent Costs

The group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the cost of replacing part of an
item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other costs are recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation of mining properties (including mineral rights), mine development and mine plant facilities relating to
underground operations are computed using the units-of-production method based on estimated proved and probable
mineral reserves, which are calculated using the group’s life-of-mine business plans and a gold price at the end of each
financial year. Proved and probable mineral reserves reflect estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves
which can be recovered in the future from known mineral deposits.

Exploration assets that are available for use are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Changes in
management’s estimates of the quantities of the economically recoverable reserves impact depreciation on a
prospective basis.

Other assets are depreciated using the straightline basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their estimated
useful lives, unless it is reasonably certain that the group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not
depreciated.

Item Average Useful Life
Land Land not depreciated
Buildings Straightline basis currently over 20 years
Mineral Rights Life-of-mine 
Mine development and infrastructure Life-of-mine 
Plant and equipment Straightline basis currently between 3 and 10 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reassessed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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1.6 Investment Property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that
are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the investment property can be
measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Fair Value

Subsequent to initial measurement, investment property is measured at fair value. 

A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

When the use of property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment its fair value at the date
of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

1.7 Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments.

Goodwill is measured as cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired have finite useful lives of 3 years and are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

1.8 Financial Instruments

Non-Derivative Financial Assets

The group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets
(including assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the
date that the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or
retained by the group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated and separate statement of
financial position when, and only when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The group classifies non-derivative financial assets into loans and receivables.
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1.8 Financial Instruments (continued)

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans to related parties and trade and other receivables.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost, which is equivalent to their fair value. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Restricted cash is classified as current as the intention is to replace the existing arrangements with non-current
guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources ("DMR") in the next twelve months.

Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

The group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All
other financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

The group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities
are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and loans from related parties.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

1.9 Contributed Equity

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any taxation effects.

1.10 Share Based Payment Arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value at grant date. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments are immediately charged to profit or loss, based on the group's
estimate of the shares that will eventually vest.

Employee Share Based Payments

Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees via an employee share scheme. The fair value of
options granted under the employee share scheme is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options.
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1.10 Share Based Payment Arrangements (continued)

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise
price, term of the option, impact of dilution, share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share,
expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each reporting date,
the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit
expense, recognised each period, takes into account the most recent estimate.

Black Economic Empowerment Transactions (Equity Settled)

The group issued equity instruments to Black Economic Empowerment ("BEE") parties. These are accounted for as
equity-settled share-based payments for the group. 

The fair value of the grant is determined using the Monte Carlo pricing model that takes into account the exercise price,
term of the option, impact of dilution, share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share,
expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

Black Economic Empowerment Transactions (Cash Settled)

The group issued equity instruments to Black Economic Empowerment ("BEE") parties. These are accounted for as
equity-settled share-based payments for the group. In the separate financial statements, Goliath Gold, has the obligation
to settle the BEE option. As the portion will be settled in FEG shares and not in its own shares, this arrangement is thus
accounted for as a cash settled share based payment. 

The fair value of the grant is determined using the Monte Carlo pricing model that takes into account the exercise price,
term of the option, impact of dilution, share price at period end and expected price volatility of the underlying share,
expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option. The fair value of the cash settled share
based payment is re-assessed at each reporting date.

1.11 Income Taxation

Income taxation comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

The income taxation expense or income for the period is the taxation payable on the current period's taxable income
based on the applicable income taxation rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred taxation assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and unused taxation losses.

Current Tax Assets and Liabilities

Current taxation assets and liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The current income taxation charge is calculated on the basis of the taxation laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in taxation returns with respect to situations in which applicable
taxation regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the taxation authorities.
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1.11 Income Taxation (continued)

Deferred Taxation Assets and Liabilities

Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxation is not
recognised for:
 Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
 Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the group is able to control the

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The measurement of deferred taxation reflects the taxation consequences that would follow the manner in which the
group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For
investment property that is measured at fair value, the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property
will be recovered through sale has not been rebutted.

Deferred taxation is measured at the taxation rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, using taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation liabilities
and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity, but they intend to
settle current taxation liabilities and assets on a net basis or their taxation assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for unused taxation losses, taxation credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred
taxation assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related taxation benefit will be realised.

Taxation Exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred taxation, the group takes into account the impact of uncertain taxation
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions
and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the
group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing taxation liabilities; such changes to taxation liabilities
will impact taxation expense in the period that such a determination is made.

1.12 Impairment

Financial Assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence (e.g.
delinquency of a debtor and indications that a debtor will enter bankruptcy) that it is impaired. A financial asset is
considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset.

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate, that is, the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets.

Non-Financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

75



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.12 Impairment (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For
purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets which generates cash
flows from continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units).

An impairment loss is recognised directly against the carrying amount of the asset whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or its cash generating unit, exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to the carrying amounts of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.13 Provisions for Environmental Rehabilitation

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has present legal or constructive
obligations resulting from past events that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.

Decommissioning Liabilities

The provision for decommissioning represents the cost that will arise from rectifying damage caused before production
commenced. Accordingly, an asset is recognised and included within mining properties.

Decommissioning liabilities are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation,
using estimated cash flows based on current prices. The unwinding of the decommissioning obligation is included in
profit or loss. Estimated future costs of decommissioning obligations are reviewed regularly and adjusted as appropriate
for new circumstances or changes in law or technology. Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed against the
relevant asset.

Gains or losses from the expected disposal of assets are not taken into account when determining the provision.

Restoration Liabilities

The provision for restoration represents the cost of restoring site damage after the start of production. Increases in the
provision are recognised in profit or loss as a cost of production. Gross restoration liabilities are estimated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

1.14 Employee Benefits

Wages and Salaries

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related services is provided. Liabilities for wages and salaries,
including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date
are recognised in accruals in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All short-term employee benefit
obligations are presented as payables.
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1.15 Earnings or Loss Per Share

The group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings or loss per share is
calculated based on the net profit or loss after taxation for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company,
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings or loss per share
is presented when the inclusion of ordinary shares that may be issued in the future, which comprise share options
granted to employees, has a dilutive effect on earnings or loss per share.

1.16 Finance Income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it occurs, in profit or
loss, using the effective interest method.

1.17 Finance Costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method and unwinding of
the discount on provisions for environmental rehabilitation.

1.18 Value Added Tax ("VAT")

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated VAT, unless the VAT incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of VAT receivable or payable. The net amount of VAT
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the consolidated
and separate statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

2. Changes in Accounting Policies

The group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 01 January 2013.

The aggregate effect of the changes in accounting policy on the consolidated and separate financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2013 is set out below:

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, the group has modified the presentation of items of other comprehensive
income and adopted the new name in its consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, to present separately items that would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those that would never
be. Comparative information has also been re-presented accordingly.

The adoption of the amendment to IAS 1 had no impact on the recognised assets, liabilities and comprehensive  income
of the company and group.
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2. Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements Revised

During the current year, the group adopted IAS 27 (AC132) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements - Revised.

Losses in a subsidiary are now recognised even when they result in a non-controlling interest with a debit balance.

In terms of the revised Standard, all changes in ownership interest, where the group has control of the subsidiary both
before and after the transaction, are to be accounted for as equity transactions. Goodwill may not be increased or
decreased as a result of such transactions. These transactions are also now recognised within financing activities on the
statement of cash flows.

In addition, when control of a subsidiary is lost, any remaining investment in the resulting investee, is remeasured to fair
value at the date of loss of control.

In accordance with the Standard, the revisions have been applied prospectively.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

As a result of IFRS 10, the group has changed its accounting policy for determining whether it has control over and
consequently whether it consolidates its investees. IFRS 10 introduces a new control model that is applicable to all
investees by focusing on whether the group has power over an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power to affect those returns. In particular, IFRS 10 requires that
the group consolidates investees that it controls on the basis of de facto circumstances.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 10, the group reassessed the control conclusion for its investees
at 01 January 2013. It was determined that no changes in control will be required for investments currently held.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

During the year, the group adopted IFRS 12, which includes all disclosures relating to an entity's interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. New disclosures have been introduced about the
judgments made by management to determine whether control exists, and to require summarised information about joint
arrangements, associates, structured entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

The group reassessed all interest in consolidated and structured entities. It was determined that no additional disclosure
is required.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value and making disclosure about fair value measurements,
when such measurements are required or permitted by other IFRSs. In particular, it unifies the definition of fair value as
the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market
participants at the measurement date. It replaces and expands the disclosure requirements about fair value
measurements in other IFRSs including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosures.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the group has applied the new fair value measurement
guidance prospectively, and has not provided any comparative information for new disclosures. Notwithstanding the
above, the change had no impact on the measurements of the group's assets and liabilities.
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3. New Standards and Interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the
31 December 2013 reporting period. The group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations
is set out below.

3.1 Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt any of the standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2014 or later periods:

Standard /
Interpretation 

Effective date
Years Beginning on
or After Expected Impact

IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

To be announced IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial
assets are classified and measured based on the business model in
which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash
flows. IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial
liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project that may result in
limited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address the
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. 

IAS 32 Offsetting of
Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

01 January 2014 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation to address
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of
IAS 32, including clarifying the meaning of "currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off" and that some gross settlement systems
may be considered equivalent to net settlement. 

IAS 36 – Recoverable
Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial
Assets 

01 January 2014 The amendments reverse the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement to disclose the recoverable amount of every
cash-generating unit to which significant goodwill or indefinite-lived
intangible assets have been allocated. Under the amendments, the
recoverable amount is required to be disclosed only when an
impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The amendments
apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 01
January 2014 with early adoption permitted. The group will adopt the
amendments for the year ending 31 December 2014. 

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 – Investment
Entities 

01 January 2014 These amendments define an investment entity and require that, with
limited exceptions, an investment entity does not consolidate its
subsidiaries or apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations when it obtains
control of another entity.

These amendments require an investment entity to measure
unconsolidated subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its
consolidated and separate financial statements.

These amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements for
investment entities to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
and IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements.
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The preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. The determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgement based on various assumptions and
other factors such as historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, and in some cases actuarial
techniques. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The judgements that management has applied in the application of accounting policies, and the estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

Mineral Reserves Estimates

At the end of each financial year, the estimate of proved and probable mineral reserves is updated. Depreciation of
mining assets is prospectively adjusted, based on these changes.

Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the group’s
properties. In order to calculate mineral reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of geological,
technical and economic factors, including but not limited to quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates,
production costs, transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of mineral reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies to be
determined by analysing geological data such as the logging and assaying of drill samples. This process may require
complex and difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data.

The group is required to determine and report mineral reserves in accordance with the South African Code for the
Reporting of Exploration Results, Resources and Reserves (SAMREC Code).

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate mineral reserves change from period to period and because
additional geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of mineral reserves may change from
period to period. Changes in reported mineral reserves may affect the group’s financial results and financial position in a
number of ways including the following:
 Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows;
 Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in profit or loss may change where such charges are determined

by the units-of-production method, or where the useful lives of assets change;
 Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental provisions may change where changes in estimated mineral

reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of these activities; and
 The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of the tax

benefits.

These adjustments are made prospectively where relevant.

Recoverable Amount of Mining Assets and Depreciation

Goliath Gold is currently in a prospecting and exploration phase, therefore a discounted cash flow valuation cannot be
performed. Accordingly, the value of the cash generating unit ("CGU") including goodwill has been determined using a
comparison of publicly available information of the market multiples of similar resource and exploration companies listed
on JSE Limited. This was further compared to an entity specific calculated market multiple based on the listed share
price of Goliath Gold and resources at 31 December 2013. FEG comprises the majority of assets in Goliath Gold. 

The calculation of the units-of-production rate of depreciation could be affected if actual production in the future is
different from current forecast production based on proved and probable mineral reserves. This would generally arise
when there are significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating mineral reserves.
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

Factors could include:
 Changes in proved and probable mineral reserves;
 The grade of mineral reserves may vary significantly from time to time;
 Differences between actual commodity prices and commodity price assumptions;
 Unforeseen operational issues at mine sites;
 Changes in capital, operating, mining processing and reclamation costs, discount rates and foreign exchange

rates; and
 Changes in mineral reserves which could similarly affect the useful lives of assets depreciated on the straightline

basis, where those lives are limited to the life of the mine.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

If the value of a financial instrument cannot be obtained from an active market, the group has established fair value by
using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s-length transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, refined to reflect the issuer’s
specific circumstances.

Estimate of Exposure and Liabilities with Regard to Rehabilitation Costs

Estimated provisions for environmental rehabilitation, comprising pollution control rehabilitation and mine closure, are
based on the group’s environmental management plans in compliance with current technological, environmental and
regulatory requirements. Expenses and liabilities with regard to rehabilitation were fully provided for.

Estimate of Taxation

The group is subject to income tax in South Africa. Significant judgement is required in determining income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will have an impact on the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

Fair Value of Employee Share-Based Compensation

The fair value of options granted is determined using the Binomial option pricing model. The significant inputs into the
model are: vesting period and conditions, risk-free interest rate, expected dividend,  volatility, market price on date of
grant and issue price of grant.

Fair Value of Cash Settled Share Based Payments

The fair value of the cash settled share based payments granted is determined using the Monte Carlo valuation model.
The significant inputs into the model are: dividend yield, expected volatility, interest on loans to BEE parties, expected
life and exercise multiples.

Assessment of Contingencies

Contingencies will only realise when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The exercise of significant
judgement and estimates of the outcome of future events are required during the assessment of the impact of such
contingencies.

Estimate of Deferred Taxation

The amount recognised as a deferred tax asset is generally determined utilising discounted future cash flows aligned to
estimates used in the calculation of depreciation and rehabilitation liabilities. Management considers all factors that
could possibly affect the probability that future taxable profit will be available against which unused tax credits can be
utilised. These factors include profitability of operations and an estimate of the gold price. The amount recognised as a
deferred tax asset is sensitive to the current gold spot price. No deferred taxation assets have been raised as it is not yet
probable that the group will have future taxable income against which deductible temporary difference and unused
taxable losses can be utilised.
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Investment Property

The fair value of investment property is independently valued by a valuation expert on an annual basis.

5. Segment Information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee that
are used to make strategic decisions. The Executive Committee considers the business from a functional perspective
and has identified only one reportable segment, namely, exploration. The Group currently operates in one geographical
location, being South Africa, and performs exploration activities.

2013
R '000

2012
R '000

Segment Revenue
Exploration - -

Loss for the Year
Exploration (44 031) (85 863)

2013
R '000

2012
R '000

Assets
Exploration 163 239 168 544

Consolidated Total Assets 163 239 168 544

Liabilities
Exploration (50 133) (18 945)

Consolidated Total Liabilities (50 133) (18 945)

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

6. Other income

Profit on sale of assets 822 - 822 -
Profit on abandonment of surface rights 1 500 - 1 500 -
Fair value adjustment on investment property 181 - 181 -
Dividends received from group companies - - - 27 564

2 503 - 2 503 27 564

Abandonment of Surface Rights

Goliath Gold as the holder of a surface right permit over erf 6853 in Heidelberg entered into an agreement with Marble
Gold 399 Proprietary Limited whereby Goliath Gold would abandon its prospecting right over the area in exchange for a
compensation of R 3.000 million. This amount was received during 2013. Furthermore, Goliath Gold had an existing
agreement with White Water Gold Proprietary Limited whereby the parties would share the receipts equally when
received.
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

7. Operating Expenses

Operating expenses comprise:
Depreciation (9) - (9) -
Audit remuneration 14 (373) (988) (149) (697)
Employee costs (882) (489) (882) (489)
Employee share options expense 25 (7 538) (289) (7 538) (289)
Directors emoluments (1 497) (510) (1 497) (510)
Legal fees (1 149) (1 680) (382) (1 680)
Listing fees (169) (288) (169) (288)
Management fees (6 003) (5 943) (6 003) (5 943)
Other expenses (1 432) (1 014) (1 629) (1 305)
Consultants (2 012) (792) (2 012) (792)

(21 064) (11 993) (20 270) (11 993)

8. Exploration and pre-feasibility expenditure

Employee costs and full time secondment fees (7 253) (4 890) (2 510) (2 263)
Consumables (6 948) (6 738) (115) (3 928)
Consultants and contractors costs (5 952) (9 257) (3 457) (4 741)
Depreciation (712) (936) - (375)
Other costs (2 609) (2 399) (405) (2 202)
Utility costs (358) (395) - -
Restoration charge (56) - - -

(23 888) (24 615) (6 487) (13 509)

9. Other expenses

Impairment on investments - (168) - (201)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment (note 16) - (22 914) - -
Loss on redemption of preference shares - - - (28 815)
Fair value adjustment on shares - (1 178) - -
Loss on sale of assets (13) (1 105) - -

(13) (25 365) - (29 016)

10. Finance Income

Bank 516 1 821 505 1 786
Loans to group companies - - 46 873 34 199

516 1 821 47 378 35 985

Loans to subsidiaries bear no interest with the exception of the loan to FEG, which bears interest at prime 8.5%
(2012: 8.5%).

11. Finance Costs

Loans from related parties (2 107) (1 857) (897) (1 857)
Unwinding of discounting of environmental
provision - (162) - (24)

(2 107) (2 019) (897) (1 881)
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

11. Finance Costs (continued)

For details regarding the unwinding of discounting on the environmental provision refer to note 28.

12. Taxation

Major Components of the Taxation Expense
Normal Taxation
Current year - (469) - -
Adjustments for prior years 22 (6) - -

22 (475) - -

Deferred Taxation
Current year (refer note 27) - 553 - -

Total Taxation Charge 22 78 - -

Reconciliation of the Taxation Expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and taxation expense:
Accounting (loss)/profit (44 053) (85 941) (242 118) 312 515

Taxation at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2012: 28%) 12 335 24 063 67 793 (87 504)
Non-taxable income 667 - 667 98 555
Non-deductible expenses (3 057) (14 557) (76 841) (14 544)
Taxation rate differential - 2 178 - 110
Taxable income not recognised for accounting (434) (917) (434) (917)
Taxation losses utilised 10 208 6 888 10 205 6 888
Prior year adjustment - income taxation 22 (6) - -
Deferred taxation asset not recognised (19 719) (17 571) (1 390) (2 588)

22 78 - -

Taxation Losses
Unused taxation losses not recognised as deferred
taxation assets 70 351 109 450 64 038 100 483

Potential Taxation Benefit as 28% (2012: 28%) 19 698 30 646 17 931 28 135

Unrecognised Temporary Differences
Unrecognised deferred taxation assets relating to
temporary differences 37 494 52 120 2 985 1 679

Deferred taxation assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the group can utilise. This is due to the fact that the group consists of gold
exploration companies and that a trend of profitable growth is not yet established.

South African Gold Mining Taxation

In South Africa, tax on mining income is determined based on a formula which takes into account the profit and revenue
from a gold mining company during the year. Non-mining income, which consists primarily of interest, is taxed at a
standard rate of 28% (2012: 28%).

The effective tax rates for taxable companies in the group were 28% on mining income and 28% on non-mining income
(2012: 28% and 28%).
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Group
2013 2012

13. Loss Per Share

Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share (cents) (30) (62)
Diluted loss per share (cents) (30) (62)

Basic Loss Per Share
R '000 R '000

Loss attributable to owners of the company (44 031) (85 863)

Number of
shares

Number of
shares

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares (Basic)
Number of shares deemed to be outstanding for the period from 01 January 2012
to acquisition date (2012: 104 891 947 x 79 days/366 days) - 22 640 612
Number of shares outstanding from the acquisition date to 31 December 2012
(2012: 147 354 905 x 287 days/366 days) - 115 548 792
Number of shares outstanding from the acquisition date to 31 December 2013
(2013: 147 354 905 x 365 days/365 days)

147 354 905 -

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares Outstanding 147 354 905 138 189 404

Diluted Loss Per Share

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The group only has one element of potential ordinary  shares which is
6 150 000 (2012: 7 150 000) employee share options in issue at 31 December 2013. However, these share options are
anti-dilutive and therefore are not included in the calculation of diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares.
Accordingly, the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares is 147 354 905  (2012: 138 189 404).

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

14. Auditors' Remuneration

PriceWaterhouseCoopers
Audit fees (239) (988) (96) (697)

KPMG Inc
Audit fees (134) - (53) -

(373) (988) (149) (697)

15. Investment Property

Reconciliation of Investment Property - Group and Company - 2013

Opening
Balance

R '000 
Transfers

R '000

Fair value
adjustments

R '000
Total

R '000

Land at fair value 3 825 (996) 181 3 010
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15. Investment Property (continued)

Reconciliation of investment property - Group and Company - 2012

Opening
balance

R '000

Additions
through

business
combinations

R '000

Total
R '000

Land at fair value - 3 825 3 825

During the year the use of land was reassessed and an asset previously recognised as investment property has been
transferred to land and buildings. 

Details of Valuation

Investment property is categorised as a level 3 fair value asset, refer to note 37. The investment property represents
land situated in the Heidelberg area. These properties are freehold and are held for capital appreciation. 

This land does not generate rental income. There were no significant direct operating expenses which were incurred on
these properties.

The fair values are based on market value, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the
date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably.

This valuation of investment property is updated annually by the valuer. The valuation was performed by an independent
valuation specialist Mr. Roger Long (Head of Valuations Advisory) from Jones Lang LaSalle Proprietary Limited on
31 December 2013. The investment property was valued using the comparable sales method.

16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group 2013 2012

Cost
R' 000 

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Losses
R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Losses
R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Mineral rights 62 795 (1 247) 61 548 57 795 (1 247) 56 548
Mine development and
infrastructure 27 757 (27 757) - 27 757 (27 757) -
Land and buildings 2 228 (110) 2 118 1 240 (46) 1 194
Plant and equipment 23 470 (8 767) 14 703 23 472 (8 218) 15 254
Furniture and fixtures 84 (38) 46 75 (9) 66
Vehicles 140 (49) 91 203 (30) 173
Office equipment 11 (4) 7 11 (1) 10
Computer equipment 265 (166) 99 233 (61) 172

Total 116 750 (38 138) 78 612 110 786 (37 369) 73 417
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Company 2013 2012

Cost
R' 000 

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Losses
R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Losses
R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Land and buildings 996 (2) 994 - - -
Furniture and fixtures 15 (15) - - - -
Computer equipment 37 (37) - - - -

Total 1 048 (54) 994 - - -

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - Group - 2013

Opening
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Mineral rights 56 548 5 000 - - - 61 548
Land and buildings 1 194 - (9) 996 (63) 2 118
Plant and equipment 15 254 - (2) - (549) 14 703
Furniture and fixtures 66 6 (12) - (14) 46
Vehicles 173 - (63) - (19) 91
Office equipment 10 - - - (3) 7
Computer equipment 172 7 (3) (10) (67) 99

73 417 5 013 (89) 986 (715) 78 612

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - Group 2012

Opening
Balance Additions

Additions
through

business
combinations Depreciation

Impairment
loss Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Mineral rights 1 741 - 55 685 (878) - 56 548
Mine development and
infrastructure

22 914 - - - (22 914) -

Land and buildings 1 260 - - (66) - 1 194
Plant and equipment 15 952 - - (698) - 15 254
Furniture and fixtures 83 - - (17) - 66
Vehicles 224 - - (51) - 173
Office equipment 10 19 17 (36) - 10
Computer equipment 253 - - (81) - 172

42 437 19 55 702 (1 827) (22 914) 73 417
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2013

Opening
Balance

R '000
Additions

R '000
Transfers

R '000
Depreciation

R '000
Total

R '000
Land and buildings - - 996 (2) 994
Furniture and fixtures - 1 - (1) -

- 1 996 (3) 994

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 2012

Opening
Balance

R '000 
Additions

R '000

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations

R '000
Depreciation

R '000

Disposal
to Group

Companies
R '000

Total
R '000

Mineral rights 1 741 - 55 685 - (57 426) -
Mine development and
infrastructure costs

22 914 - - - (22 914) -

Land and buildings 1 260 - - - (1 260) -
Plant and equipment 15 952 - - - (15 952) -
Furniture and fixtures 83 - - (5) (78) -
Vehicles 224 - - - (224) -
Office equipment 10 19 17 - (46) -
Computer equipment 253 - - (9) (244) -

42 437 19 55 702 (14) (98 144) -

Security

There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as security.

Capital commitments

There are no capital commitments to acquire items of property, plant or equipment (2012: R nil).

Additions

During the year, two new prospecting rights in the East Rand Gold Field were granted. These prospecting rights were
granted as part of the agreement to acquire historic geological data previously belonging to the Pamodzi East Rand
Operations. The total purchase price equalled R 5.000 million, of which R 4.500 million is still outstanding at 31
December 2013.

Impairment Loss

The impairment loss recorded in 2012 relates to assets which were flooded at the Megamine site. The recoverable
amount was based on its value in use. It is currently not economically feasible to perform sufficient pumping activities in
order to reopen the shaft.

Accordingly the entire amount of capitalised development cost and related decommission assets were impaired through
profit or loss. The remaining Megamine surface assets were not considered impaired as these assets are being applied
in the exploration and development of other exploration assets in the group.

Refer to note 17 for detail regarding the impairment considerations for the current year.
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17. Intangible Assets

Group 2013 2012

Cost
Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Goodwill 75 282 - 75 282 75 282 - 75 282
IT development and
software 20 (6) 14 - - -

Total 75 302 (6) 75 296 75 282 - 75 282

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - Group - 2013

Opening
Balance Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Goodwill 75 282 - - - 75 282
IT development and software - 10 10 (6) 14

75 282 10 10 (6) 75 296

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - Group - 2012

Opening
Balance

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
Goodwill - 75 282 75 282

Impairment Testing for Cash Generating Units Containing Goodwill

The only CGU containing goodwill is FEG. FEG is the exploration entity which is exploring and prospecting in the East
Rand region of Johannesburg in South Africa. In particular, FEG acquired the assets of Megamine and the Witnigel
prospecting rights (PR 73) from Goliath on 19 March 2012. At the time of the transaction, a valuation of the business
was performed and goodwill was determined to be R 75.282 million based on the synergistic benefit of the adjacent
prospecting rights to the existing Megamine exploration properties.

As FEG is currently in a prospecting and exploration phase, a discounted cash flow valuation could not be performed.
Accordingly, the value of the CGU including goodwill has been determined using a comparison of publicly available
information of the market multiples of similar resource and exploration companies listed on JSE Limited. This was further
compared to an entity specific calculated market multiple based on the listed share price of Goliath Gold and resources
at that date. FEG comprises the vast majority of assets in Goliath Gold. 

The key assumptions applied in the determination of the estimated recoverable amount of FEG are set out below:

2013
Average market multiples for exploration entities $ 2.80/oz.
Calculated market multiple of Goliath Gold $ 2.80/oz.
Ounces available from FEG resources 10.680 million oz.
Exchange rate at year end R/$ 10.5042
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17. Intangible Assets (continued)

The estimated recoverable amount of FEG CGU exceeded its carrying value by approximately R 150.792 million.
Management has identified that changes to the key assumptions for discount factors for exploration entities could result
in a reasonably possible change that would impact the recoverable amount. A discount factor of 10% for exploration
entities would result in a reduction of the recoverable amount of FEG by R 31.412 million. On this basis, the recoverable
amount of FEG would exceed its carrying value by R 119.381 million. 

18. Investments in Subsidiaries

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the group, either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries.

Company

Name of company

Interest
2013

%

Interest
2012

%

Shares
2013

R '000

Loans
2013

R '000

Shares
2012

R '000

Loan
2012

R '000

IEN Investments Proprietary Limited %100 %100 55 424 5 717 55 424 5 717
Newlands Minerals Proprietary
Limited

%100 %100 1 553 13 455 1 553 13 455

Witnigel Investments Proprietary
Limited

%100 %100 1 9 1 -

Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding
Company Proprietary Limited

%100 %100 12 837 41 12 837 41

Far East Gold Special Purpose
Vehicle Limited **

%74 %74 * 584 773 * 532 199

Newshelf 1186 Proprietary Limited %100 %100 1 663 * -
Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited %100 %100 1 (1) * -
Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited

%100 %100 * 16 440 * 16 440

Brakfontein Proprietary Limited %100 %100 * 4 365 * 4 365

69 817 625 462 69 815 572 217
Impairment allowance (69 815) (310 674) (69 815) (40 018)

2 314 788 - 532 199

Reconciliation of Impairment Allowance
Opening balance (69 815) (40 018) - -
Acquired through business combination - - (69 815) (196 807)
Far East Gold loan impairment - (270 656) - -
Witnigel cumulative redeemable preference shares redeemed - - 156 789

Closing balance (69 815) (310 674) (69 815) (40 018)

* Denotes amounts less than R 1 000.

** The group has entered into Black Economic Empowerment transactions as described in note 25. The group holds
these shares in trust until such time that the Black Economic Empowerment partners have repaid their respective
funding loans.

In the prior period before the acquisition, all investments and loans to subsidiaries, with the exception of a preference
share investment with Witnigel (a wholly owned subsidiary), were fully impaired. These impairments were performed on
an individual basis for each company based on the assessment of each entity's ability to repay the loan. As at
31 December 2013, all investments in subsidiaries are fully impaired except for Newshelf 1186 Proprietary Limited,
Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited and FEG. Loans to subsidiaries are impaired to the recoverable amount.

The loans to subsidiaries bear no interest and have no fixed repayment terms with the exception of the loan to FEG,
which bears interest at prime of 8.5% (2012: 8.5%).
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18. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)

Loan to FEG

During 2012, at the same time as the reverse acquisition by Goliath Gold of the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold sold the
Megamine assets and liabilities and Wit Nigel prospecting rights to FEG for an amount of R 498.000 million. The
purchase price was determined as the market value of the business at the time of the sale. As a result of the disposal to
FEG, the company recognised a profit on sale of R 325.747 million.

The loan bears interest at the prime lending rate of 8.5% (2012: 8.5%). The loan is repayable from the first receipt of
capital or revenue inflows into the FEG business. 

The fair value of the loan receivable recognised at initial recognition was calculated using cash flows discounted at  the
prime rate over a period of 10 years.

It was assumed that the cash flow would take place in year ten and that the amounts would be recovered from either the
production of an operating asset or through realisation of the assets through sale. As there are no expected loan
repayments in the forthcoming financial year the entire loan receivable has been classified as non-current asset.

The impairment recognised on FEG in the current year is calculated based on the recoverable amount of
R 314.117 million for the loan at year end. The assumptions used to calculate the carrying amount of the loan on
company level and the carrying amount of goodwill on the investment for group is detailed in note 17.

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

19. Loans to/(from) Related Parties

Gold One Africa Limited (12 981) (6 924) (912) (695)
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited (850) (228) (401) (97)
Gold One International Limited (24 995) (8 071) (17 541) (5 726)
Newshelf 1198 Proprietary Limited 17 - 17 -

(38 809) (15 223) (18 837) (6 518)

The loans bear interest at the prime lending rate of 8.5% (2012: 8.5%) and have no fixed repayment terms. Accordingly,
loans from related parties are classified as current liabilities.

Current assets 17 - 17 -
Current liabilities (38 826) (15 223) (18 854) (6 518)

(38 809) (15 223) (18 837) (6 518)

20. Other Financial Assets

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Acquired through business combination - 14 799 - -
Fair value adjustment - (1 178) - -
Disposal of financial assets - (13 621) - -

- - - -

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss refer to listed securities in Gold One. The fair value of all listed
securities were based on their listed prices in an active market.
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

21. Receivables

Prepayments 34 - 23 -
Deposits - 500 - 500
Value added tax 344 1 171 107 1 009
Other receivables - 187 - 185

378 1 858 130 1 694

22. Restricted Cash

Guarantees 1 628 1 648 1 628 1 648

The guarantees relate to the performance bank and insurance guarantees to the DMR for environmental rehabilitation,
as well as performance guarantees to Eskom for energy.

A guarantee (GO 647/361849/GLO) belonging to a fully owned subsidiary of Goliath Gold, Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited to the amount of R 20 000 for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining activities was cancelled on
29 November 2013.

23. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 1 590 96 1 590 90
Short-term deposits 2 708 12 418 2 708 12 418

4 298 12 514 4 298 12 508

The cash at the banks and in trading accounts are held at three financial institutions with high quality credit ratings,
namely First National Bank Limited, ABSA Bank Limited and Nedbank Limited.

24. Share Capital

Authorised
200 000 000 ordinary shares of R 2.50 each 500 000 500 000 500 000 500 000

Issued
147 354 905 ordinary shares 169 860 169 860 169 860 169 860

169 860 169 860 169 860 169 860

Group Company

Reconciliation of Number of Shares Issued:
2013 2012 2013 2012

Shares in issue 147 354 905 42 462 958 147 354 905 42 462 958
Shares issued through business combination - 104 891 947 - 104 891 947

147 354 905 147 354 905 147 354 905 147 354 905

Although the actual shares in issue by Goliath Gold on the date of acquisition was 42 462 958 million ordinary shares at
31 December 2012, for the purpose of applying reverse acquisition accounting, the issued share capital of Goliath Gold
is replaced with the issued share capital of Megamine. Because Megamine is not a company, but a division of Gold One
Africa, (now the holding company of Goliath Gold) and therefore has no issued share capital, the share capital of
Megamine is based on the fair value of the issued share capital of Goliath Gold at the acquisition date, i.e. 42 462 958
ordinary shares at R 4.00 each amounting to R 169.860 million. 
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24. Share Capital (continued)

As the consideration for the purchase for the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold issued 104 891 947 shares to Gold One
Africa resulting in Gold One Africa holding a 72% interest in Goliath Gold. Refer to note 32 for further details.

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

25. Reserves

Opening balance 24 059 - 289 -
Employee share options expense 7 538 289 7 538 289
Black Economic Empowerment transaction - 23 770 - -
Share options (recycle options of employee
resigned)

(447) - (447) -

31 150 24 059 7 380 289

Employee Share Option Plan

The share option reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to directors and certain
employees as part of the remuneration for their services.

The exercise price of the granted options is fixed at R 3.406 per option. Options are conditional on the employee
completing three year's service (vesting period). The options are exercisable in tranches of one third for each year of
service worked from grant date. The options expire after five years. The group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash. Accordingly, these options are classified as equity settled as Goliath Gold is
required to settle these options through the issue of its own shares.

There were no options exercised during the year (2012: Nil).

Goliath Gold Mining Incentive Scheme

Grant
Date 

Expire
Date

Exercisable
Price

Opening
Balance

(Share
Options)

Granted
During the

Year

Lapsed
during the

year

Closing
Balance

(Share
Options)

14/12/2012 14/12/2017 R 3.41 7 150 000 - (1 000 000) 6 150 000

7 150 000 - (1 000 000) 6 150 000

No options were granted in 2013.

Fair Value of Options Granted

No options were granted during the year ended 31 December 2013. The assessed fair value at grant date of options
stated during the year ended 31 December 2012 was R 1.95 per option. The fair value at grant date is independently
determined using a Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the
impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected
dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the terms of the option.

The forecast volatility is estimated using a generalised autoregressive conditional heteroskedasticity model ("GARCH").
The volatilities used were estimated using share price data that was independently sourced.
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25. Reserves (continued)

The model inputs for the options granted during 2012 included:

Share price at grant date Quoted market price
Expected forfeiture and early exercise 0%
Expected volatility 66.55%
Expected dividends nil
Risk-free interest rate based on the five year NACQ swap yield 5.83%

Black Economic Empowerment Transactions

During 2012, the group granted a number of share options arrangements to BEE partners in order to meet the South
African Mining charter requirements of 26% black ownership by 2014. These share option arrangements will be settled
in the equity interest of the group's mining operations.

The intention of the BEE arrangement was for Micawber 400 Proprietary Limited ("Micawber") to acquire 26% of the loan
owed by FEG to Goliath Gold. Micawber acquired finance from Goliath Gold in order to acquire the interest in the loan to
FEG. The intention of the arrangement is that Micawber will utilise the income received from their interest in FEG to
settle the outstanding amount of the loan (including accrued interest) owed by Micawber to Goliath Gold. Both the
shares which Micawber holds in FEG as well as the interest in the loan (owed by FEG to Micawber) is used as security
over the amount owed by Micawber to Goliath Gold.

Goliath Gold sold it's 26% of its shares in FEG to Micawber for a nominal amount of R 26. As FEG is fully leveraged
(due to the loan owed by FEG to Goliath Gold equalling R 584.773 million (2012: R 532.199 million)), Micawber is not
currently exposed to the related equity risks and rewards, until such time as the loan is settled. Micawber therefore only
share in the upside benefit of FEG once the loan to Goliath Gold has been settled. Accordingly, the arrangement is
treated as an option. This option may only be exercised any time after six years i.e. 19 March 2018.

In substance, as Goliath Gold issued an option to Micawber on FEG shares, Goliath Gold continues to consolidate 100%
of FEG and recognise the FEG related party loan in full. The option issued to Micawber on FEG's shares is considered
to be an equity settled share based payment on a group basis. 

Measurement of Fair Values

The fair values of the share options granted through the BEE share option arrangements were measured based on the
Monte Carlo valuation model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historical volatility of similar companies over
the period commensurate with the expected term. The key inputs and assumptions used in the grant date measurement
of the fair values for the BEE share options were as follows:

Grant date 19 March 2012
Initial number of shares 26
Strike price of loan (26% of FEG loan) R 129.480 million
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility (weighted average) 40%
Interest accrued on loan to BEE party Prime rate: 8.5%
Expected life (weighted average) 10 years
Exercise multiple 100%

26. Share Based Payment Liability

During 2012, the group entered into a share option arrangement with BEE partners in order to meet the South African
Mining charter requirements of 26% black ownership by 2014. These share option are detailed in note 25.

Goliath Gold has the obligation to settle the BEE option. However, the option will be settled in FEG shares and not in its
own shares, this arrangement is accounted for as a cash settled share based payment in Goliath Gold's separate financial
statements.
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26. Share Based Payment Liability

The key inputs and assumptions used in the period end date measurement of the fair values for the BEE share options
were as follows:

2013 2012 

Grant date 19 March 2012 19 March 2012
Initial number of shares 26 26
Strike price of loan (26% of FEG loan) R 152.040 million R 138.372 million
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility (weighted average) 57.75% 34.59%
Interest accrued on loan to BEE party Prime rate: 8.5% Prime rate: 8.5%
Expected life (weighted average) 9 years 10 years
Exercise multiple 125% 125%

Reconciliation of Cash Settled Share Based Payment Company
2013

R '000 
2012

R '000

Opening balance (20 382) -
Share option issued - (23 770)
Fair value changes 6 311 3 388

Closing Balance (14 071) (20 382)

Sensitivity Analysis

The table below reflects the change in fair value relative to a 10% change in the volatility applied on the debt:

Company
10%

Increase
R '000 

10 %
Decrease

R '000

Value of cash settled option - 2013 5 010 (4 553)
Value of cash settled option - 2012 8 246 (10 437)
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

27. Deferred Taxation

Reconciliation of Deferred Taxation

Acquired through business combination - 553 - -
Deferred taxation charge - (553) - -

Closing balance - - - -

Recognition of Deferred Taxation

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Investment property (504) (656) (504) (656)
Asset retirement obligation 390 431 - -
Employee benefits 98 21 55 21
Property, plant and equipment 37 511 62 567 3 434 2 314
Taxation losses 19 698 30 646 17 931 28 135

57 193 93 009 20 916 29 814
Deferred taxation assets not recognised (57 193) (93 009) (20 916) (29 814)

Net Position - - - -

The recognition of the deferred taxation asset is dependent on future taxable income against which deductible temporary
difference and unused taxation losses can be utilised. Until such time as it becomes probable that the group and
company will generate future taxable income against which the deductible temporary differences and taxation losses can
be utilised, no deferred taxation asset is recognised on the consolidated and separate statement of financial position.
The recognition of deductible temporary differences is limited to the amount of taxable temporary difference where the
group and company has a right to offset current taxation assets and liabilities and the taxes related to the same taxation
authority.

28. Provisions for Environmental Rehabilitation

Opening balance 1 335 1 173 - 1 173
Unwinding of discount - 162 - 24
Change in estimate 56 - - -
Disposal to FEG - - - (1 197)

1 391 1 335 - -

Towards the end of 2011, as a result of the closure of surrounding mining operations adjacent to the Sub Nigel shaft and
the halting of pumping of underground water, the shaft became flooded. Accordingly, the rehabilitation provision
associated with the closure of the shaft has been recognised in full based on the current closure costs determined by an
external environmental specialist, Umhlaba Environmental Consulting CC.

Unwinding of the discount recognised in the company in 2012 relates to the period before the reverse acquisition of
Megamine.
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

29. Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables 7 931 770 1 289 245
Accruals 1 562 1 541 756 446

9 493 2 311 2 045 691

30. Employee related accruals

Employee PAYE payable 76 - 76 -
Employee related payables 347 76 194 76

423 76 270 76

31. Cash Used in Operations

(Loss)/Profit before taxation and finance charges (42 462) (85 743) (288 599) 278 411
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 721 1 827 3 14
(Profit)/Loss on sale of assets (809) 1 105 (822) (325 747)
Fair value adjustments (181) 1 178 (181) -
Impairment of assets - 22 914 270 656 37 433
Share options expense 7 538 289 7 538 289
Movements in provisions 56 - - -
Dividends received - - - (27 564)
Black Economic Empowerment charges - 23 770 - 23 770
Proceeds on abandonment of surface rights (1 500) - (1 500) -
Movement in share based payment liability - - (6 311) (3 388)
Changes in Working Capital:
Decrease in inventories - 745 - 745
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables 1 480 (1 743) 1 564 (1 579)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 7 529 1 085 1 546 (535)
Acquired through business combinations - 974 - 983

(27 628) (33 599) (16 106) (17 168)
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32. Business Combinations

Megamine Acquisition

During 2012, Goliath Gold acquired all the Megamine assets of Gold One Africa, a 100% held subsidiary of Gold One.
All conditions precedent to the acquisition of Goliath Gold were fulfilled and the transaction was declared unconditional
on 19 March 2012. Goliath Gold settled the purchase price by issuing shares to Gold One Africa. Subsequent to the
conclusion of the transaction, Gold One Africa held 72% of the shareholding of Goliath Gold. In accordance with IFRS 3
Business Combinations, this transaction was determined to be a "reverse acquisition". In a reverse acquisition the legal
acquirer, Goliath Gold becomes the accounting subsidiary and the legal acquiree, Megamine, becomes the accounting
acquirer.

Accordingly, a fair value calculation was performed on the accounting acquiree, Goliath Gold.

Goliath Gold incurred a net loss of R 77.040 million for the nine months, from 01 April 2012 to 31 December 2012, which
has been included in the consolidated accounts. If the acquisition had occurred on 01 January 2012, a loss of
R 91.450 million would have been contributed to the group.

Megamine was acquired in order to expand Goliath Gold's exploration and prospecting resources on the East Rand with
the contiguous Goliath Gold exploration rights.

2012
R '000

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

Cash and cash equivalents 35 309
Investment property 3 825
Investments in subsidiaries 37 433
Loans from related parties (38 730)
Loans to related parties 56
Mineral resources 55 685
Property, plant and equipment 17
Receivables 1 221
Trade and other payables (238)
Total identifiable net assets

94 578
Goodwill 75 282

169 860

Value of Consideration

The accounting acquirer, Megamine, was a division of Gold One Africa. Subsequent to the reverse acquisition, the
Megamine business ceases to exist and became the Goliath Gold company.

Acquisition costs of R 2.655 million are included in general and administration expenses in profit or loss and in operating
cash flows in the consolidated and separate statement of cash flows. 

Goodwill

Goodwill was measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration effectively transferred, as the market value
of the shares issued, which was in excess of the net amount of Goliath Gold's recognised identifiable assets and
liabilities. No deferred taxation is raised on goodwill.

Goodwill arose on the acquisition as a result of the synergies between the existing Megamine mining and prospecting
rights with the adjacent Goliath Gold prospecting rights.
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33. Guarantees and Contingencies

Guarantees

Bank guarantees to the amount of R 1.628 million (2012: R 1.648 million) have been issued by a financial institution in
favour of the DMR to secure the group's rehabilitation obligations in respect of its various prospecting rights.

A guarantee (GO 647/361849/GLO) belonging to a fully owned subsidiary of Goliath Gold, Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited to the amount of R 20 000 for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining activities was cancelled on
the 29 November 2013.

Contingencies

Goliath Gold has identified a risk of potential long term Acid Mine Drainage ("AMD") on certain of its operations. AMD
relates to the acidification and contamination of naturally occurring water resources by pyrite bearing ore contained in
underground mines and in rock dumps, tailings dams and pits on the surface. Goliath Gold has not been able to reliably
determine the financial impact that AMD may have on the group. The group has taken certain preventative actions as
well as remedial actions in an attempt to minimise the group’s exposure to environmental contamination.

34. Related Parties

Directors M Wheatley (resigned 30 April 2013)
K Rayner
J Vilakazi
P Nel
R Stewart (CEO)
C Chadwick (CFO)

Investments in Subsidiaries Country of
Incorporation

2013
%

2012
%

Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited South Africa 100 100
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holdings Company Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited South Africa 74* 74*
Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100
Newshelf 1186 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 100

Parent company
Gold One Africa Limited South Africa

Ultimate Parent Company
BCX Gold Investment Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands

Other Related Parties
Gold One International Limited Australia
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited South Africa
Newshelf 1198 Proprietary Limited South Africa
Micawber 400 Proprietary Limited South Africa
Mvela Partnership en Commandite South Africa
Mvela Partnership en Commandite no. 2 South Africa

* The group has entered into Black Economic Empowerment transactions as described in note 25. The group holds
these shares in trust until such time that the Black Economic Empowerment partners have repaid their respective
funding loans.
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

34. Related Parties (continued)

Related Party Balances
Note Reference 

Investment in subsidiaries Refer to note 18
Loan accounts owing by subsidiaries Refer to note 18 and 19
Loans owing to related parties Refer to note 19

Related Party Transactions

Interest Received 
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited - - 46 873 34 199

Interest Paid
Gold One International (1 252) (1 301) (808) (1 301)
Gold One Africa Limited (818) (542) (65) (542)
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited (37) (14) (24) (14)

(2 107) (1 857) (897) (1 857)

Other Income
Dividends received from Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited - - - 27 564

Management Fees Paid 
Gold One International Limited (6 003) (5 943) (6 003) (5 943)

Related party transactions were conducted on an arms length basis. 

Goliath Gold is managed primarily by the employees and executives of Gold One. This management fee represents the
reimbursement of costs incurred on an arms length basis.

The portion of the management fee relating to remuneration expenses is R 4.202 million (2012: R 4.160 million). Of this
amount R 1.106 million (2012: R 0.899 million) relates to remuneration paid to the directors and prescribed officers of
Goliath Gold as detailed in note 35.
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35. Directors' Remuneration

Non Executive Directors 

2013
Gold One Goliath Gold Total

Fees
R '000

Fees
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000 R '000
M Wheatley* - 170 392 562
K Rayner - 520 - 520
J Vilakazi - 370 - 370
P Nel - 543 - 543

- 1 603 392 1 995

2012
Gold One Goliath Gold Total

Fees
R '000

Fees
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
R '000

M Wheatley * 2 220 175 55 2 450
K Rayner - 175 - 175
J Vilakazi - 145 - 145
P Nel - 139 - 139

2 220 634 55 2 909

* M Wheatley resigned from Gold One on 30 December 2012 and from Goliath Gold on 30 April 2013.

Executive Directors

Executive directors are employees of the parent entity, Gold One, and do not receive compensation for services
rendered to Goliath Gold.

Prescribed Officers

Prescribed Officers of Goliath Gold do not receive compensation for services rendered to Goliath Gold. The
remuneration received by prescribed officers relates to parent entity, Gold One. 

Executive Directors and Prescribed Officers Remuneration

2013

Remuneration from Goliath Gold
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick - - - 1 162 1 162
R Stewart - - - 1 162 1 162
P Kruger - - - 1 162 1 162

- - - 3 486 3 486

Remuneration from Gold One Group
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick 2 940 1 148 877 - 4 965
R Stewart 2 857 1 013 792 - 4 662
P Kruger 2 138 1 013 738 - 3 889

7 935 3 174 2 407 - 13 516
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35. Directors' Remuneration (continued)

Total Remuneration
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick 2 940 1 148 877 1 162 6 127
R Stewart 2 857 1 013 792 1 162 5 824
P Kruger 2 138 1 013 738 1 162 5 051

7 935 3 174 2 407 3 486 17 002

2012

Remuneration from Goliath Gold
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick - - - 55 55
R Stewart - - - 55 55
P Kruger - - - 55 55

- - - 165 165

Remuneration from Gold One Group
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick 2 341 1 106 - - 3 447
R Stewart 2 171 1 013 - - 3 184
P Kruger 1 993 1 013 - - 3 006

6 505 3 132 - - 9 637

Total Remuneration
Salary
R '000

Retention
Bonus
R '000

Cash
Bonus
R '000

Equity
Options

R '000
Total

R '000
C Chadwick 2 341 1 106 - 55 3 502
R Stewart 2 171 1 013 - 55 3 239
P Kruger 1 993 1 013 - 55 3 061

6 505 3 132 - 165 9 802
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35. Directors' Remuneration (continued)

Number of Options

Goliath Gold Group

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Goliath
Gold and other key management personnel of the group, including their personally related parties, are set below.

2013
Vested and

Exercisable at
31 December

Executive Directors Opening
Balance

Options
Granted Resigned

Closing
Balance

2013 2012

C Chadwick 1 000 000 - - 1 000 000 333 333 -
R Stewart* 1 000 000 - - 1 000 000 333 333 -
P Kruger 1 000 000 - - 1 000 000 333 333 -
M Wheatley 1 000 000 - (1 000 000) - - -

2012
Vested and

Exercisable at
31 December

Executive Directors Opening
Balance

Options
Granted Resigned

Closing
Balance

2012 2011

C Chadwick - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -
R Stewart* - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -
P Kruger - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -
M Wheatley - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -

*R Stewart was appointed as CEO effective from 01 January 2013.

There have been no changes to the directors interests between the year end and the date of approval of the financial
statements. No options were granted during 2013. Details of the share option scheme are fully set out in note 25.

Gold One Group

All Gold One options for personnel have vested at 31 December 2012. The elements of emoluments have been
determined based on a cost to Gold One. 

Vested and
Exercisable at
31 December

2013
Exercise

Price
Opening
Balance Resigned

Closing
Balance 2013 2012

C Chadwick A$ 0.27 1 800 000 - 1 800 000 1 800 000 1 800 000
C Chadwick R 2.01 970 332 - 970 332 970 332 970 332
R Stewart R 1.96 - R 2.35 1 419 112 - 1 419 112 1 419 112 1 419 112
P Kruger R 1.35 - R 2.35 2 147 989 - 2 147 989 2 147 989 2 147 989

Vested and
Exercisable at
31 December

2012
Exercise

Price
Opening
Balance Resigned

Closing
Balance 2012 2011

C Chadwick A$ 0.27 1 800 000 - 1 800 000 1 800 000 1 800 000
C Chadwick R 2.01 970 332 - 970 332 970 332 970 332
R Stewart R 1.96 - R 2.35 1 419 112 - 1 419 112 1 419 112 1 419 112
P Kruger R 1.35 - R 2.35 2 147 989 - 2 147 989 2 147 989 2 147 989
M Wheatley A$ 1.00 756 000 (756 000) - - 756 000
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35. Directors' Remuneration (continued)

Gold One share options have been granted as an incentive component in the remuneration arrangements for senior
executives and managers of Gold One. The contractual life of each option granted is 3 to 5 years and the market price of
the options is set at the market price of the shares at the grant date. There are no cash settlement alternatives.

Share options granted are initially measured at fair value on grant date. This fair value is recognised as an employee
expense over the vesting period with the corresponding credit to a share option reserve.

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of Gold One unless the option
holder exercises that option and becomes the holder of Gold One shares prior to the record date for the issue of the
shares. Share options held under the Aflease Group share option schemes were cancelled and re-issued under
Replacement Option Terms. Share options held under the BMA Gold share option scheme were unaffected. New share
options are issued under the Gold One International Limited Share Incentive Scheme approved by shareholders on 26
August 2009.

Subsequent to year end Gold One delisted and all outstanding share options vested and were settled at a price of
A$ 0.55 per option. No options were granted during 2013.

Other Key Management Personnel

Other key management personnel are employees of the parent entity, Gold One, and do not receive compensation for
services rendered to Goliath Gold. These employees receive remuneration from Gold One, which Gold One recovers
through a management fee (refer to note 34).

36. Risk Management

Capital Risk Management

The group manages its capital to ensure that the group will be able to continue as a going concern, while maximising the
return to stakeholders and benefits for the stakeholders. 

The board's policy is to maintain a capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business.

The board monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders'
equity. However, currently as the group has moved to an exploration phase there is no net operating income. The board
also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. There were no dividends declared in 2013 (2012: R nil).

There were no changes in the group's approach to capital management during the year. Neither the company nor any of
its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial Risk Management

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

104



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity Risk

The group's liquidity risk is a result of the funds available to cover ongoing commitments. The group receives funding
solely from its parent company to continue its exploration programme. 

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the group in and aggregated by group finance. Group
finance monitors rolling forecasts of the group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance and compliance
with internal balance sheet ratio targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above balance required for working capital management are
transferred to the group treasury. Group treasury invests surplus cash in interest bearing current accounts, time
deposits, money market deposits and marketable securities, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities or
sufficient liquidity.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

Group

2013 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 38 826 - - -
Trade and other payables 9 493 - - -

2012 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 15 223 - - -
Trade and other payables 2 311 - - -

Company

2013 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 18 854 - - -
Trade and other payables 2 045 - - -

2012 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 6 518 - - -
Trade and other payables 691 - - -
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36. Risk Management (continued)

Interest Rate Risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact the value of short term cash investments and financing activities, giving rise to
interest rate risk. The group does not actively manage interest rate risk as the bulk of the risk exposure relates to
intercompany balances. 

A change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the end of the year would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by
the amounts shown below:

Group
Profit or Loss

or Equity

Company
Profit or Loss

or Equity

2013

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

Loans to related parties - - 2 924 (2 924)
Loans from related parties (194) 194 (94) 94
Restricted cash 8 (8) 8 (8)
Cash and cash equivalents 21 (21) 21 (21)

Group
Profit or Loss

or Equity

Company
Profit or Loss

or Equity

2012

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

Loans to related parties - - 2 661 (2 661)
Loans from related parties (76) 76 (33) 33
Restricted cash 8 (8) 8 (8)
Cash and cash equivalents 63 (63) 63 (63)

Credit Risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The credit risk on loans to related parties is assessed at every period end. The recoverable amount of loans to related
parties is set out in note18.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, receivables and restricted cash. The amounts are deposited with
financial institutions with a minimum of an "A" credit rating. There were no receivables or loans to group companies that
were beyond their credit limits or payment terms.

Accounting Classification and Fair Values

Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.
The group uses a variety of methods and make assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period.
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36. Risk Management (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturity of these
deposits. The carrying value of the environmental trust funds and investments for environmental rehabilitation
guarantees approximate their fair value due to these investments being cash in nature.

Trade and Other Receivables

The fair value approximates the carrying value due to their short-term maturities.

Trade and Other Payables

The fair value approximates the carrying value due to their short-term maturities.

Loans and Receivables

The carrying value of loans and receivables approximates their fair value due to the short term nature of cash.

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

The carrying value of borrowings equates its fair value as these borrowings are predominantly short-term in nature.
Other borrowings have maturities of between one and two years at rates which are equivalent to market rates.

Group Company

2013

Total
Carrying

Value
R '000

Fair
Value
R '000

Total
Carrying

Value
R '000

Fair
Value
R '000

Financial Assets
Loans to related parties 18&19 17 17 314 805 314 805
Restricted cash 22 1 628 1 628 1 628 1 628
Cash and cash equivalents 23 4 298 4 298 4 298 4 298

5 943 5 943 320 731 320 731

Financial Liabilities
Loans from related parties 19 38 826 38 826 18 854 18 854
Trade and other payables 29 9 493 9 493 2 045 2 045

48 319 48 319 20 899 20 899

2012
Financial Assets
Loans to related parties 18 - - 532 199 532 199
Receivables 21 687 687 685 685
Restricted cash 22 1 648 1 648 1 648 1 648
Cash and cash Equivalents 23 12 514 12 514 12 508 12 508

14 849 14 849 547 040 547 040

Financial Liabilities
Loans from related parties 19 15 223 15 223 6 518 6 518
Trade and other payables 29 2 311 2 311 691 691

17 534 17 534 7 209 7 209
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37. Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:
 Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at

measurement date.
 Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly.
 Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Levels of fair value measurements
Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Level 3
Investment property 15 3 010 3 825 3 010 3 825

Total 3 010 3 825 3 010 3 825

An external, independent valuation company, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience in the location and category of property being valued, values the group’s investment property portfolio every
twelve months. The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be
exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after
proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably.

Transfers of assets and liabilities within levels of the fair value hierarchy

The group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. During the year no transfers occurred.

Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at level 3

Opening
Balance

R '000

Fair Value
Changes

Recognised in
Profit or Loss

R '000

Transfers to
Property,
Plant and

Equipment
R '000

Closing
Balance

R '000

Group - 2013
Investment property 3 825 181 (996) 3 010

38. Subsequent Events

In the opinion of the directors, no subsequent event or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2013 that requires
additional disclosure.
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Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

39. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to achieve better comparison and comparability to the current years
results. 

The effects of the reclassification are as follows:

Statement of Financial Position
Receivables - (7) - (7)
Trade and other payables - 83 - 83
Employee related accruals - (76) - (76)

- - - -

Employee accruals have been disclosed separately from trade payables and receivables.

Profit or Loss
Operating expenses - 23 468 - 28 224
Other expenses - (25 365) - (29 016)
Exploration and pre-feasibility expenditure - 792 - 792
Loss on sale of asset - 1 105 - -

- - - -

During 2013, the classification of operating expenses was revised to provide additional differentiation between recurring
operating expenses and non-recurring items which are included in other expenses. The non-recurring loss on sale of
assets is classified as an other expense and not disclosed individually on the face of the Consolidated and Separate
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 December 2013.

1. DIstRIBUtIon oF eQUItY seCURItIes

Holding Number of 
shareholders

Percentage Number of shares Percentage

1-1000 shares 1 008 71.49%  188 037 0.13%

1001-5000 shares  169 11.98%  466 674 0.32%

5001-10 000 shares  62 4.40%  481 929 0.33%

10 001-100 000 shares  133 9.43%  4 483 232 3.04%

100 001-1 000 000 shares  31 2.20%  8 981 617 6.10%

1 000 001 shares and over  7 0.50%  132 753 416 90.08%

 1 410 100.00%  147 354 905 100.00%

2. PUBLIC/non-PUBLIC eQUItY seCURItY HoLDeRs

Number of 
shareholders

Percentage Number of shares Percentage

Public  1 456 99.86%  29 384 877 19.94%

Non-Public  2 0.14%  117 970 028 80.06%

   PsL Client safe Custody Asset  1 0.07% 11 862 781 8.06%

   gold One Africa Limited  1 0.07%  106 107 247 72.01%

 1 458 100.00%  147 354 905 100.00%
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3. eQUItY seCURItY HoLDeRs
The names of the 10 largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below.

Name Number of shares Percentage of issued 
shares

gold One Africa Limited  106 107 247 72.01%

PsL Client safe Custody Asset 11 862 781 8.05%

six sis Limited 4 999 135 3.39%

LLC Pershing 4 238 454 2.87%

Titan share Dealers Proprietary Limited #7  2 957 590 2.01%

Crater Valley Property Investment 1 368 209 0.93%

Parkview Trust 1 220 000 0.83%

The Viking Trust (NIP421) 1 000 000 0.68%

jWA Trust 950 000 0.64%

m Cubed Holdings Limited 750 000 0.51%

135 453 416 91.92%

4. MAJoR eQUItY seCURItY HoLDeRs
major holders of quoted equity securities in the company, insofar as they are known to the board, which directly hold a beneficial interest of 5% or 
more, are set out below.

Name Number of shares Percentage of issued 
shares

gold One Africa Limited  106 107 247 72.01%

PsL Client safe Custody Asset  11 862 781 8.05%

5. VotInG RIGHts 
The voting rights attaching to the equity securities are set out below

(a)  Ordinary shares 
 On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and upon a poll shall have one vote for every 

share held in the company by such a shareholder.
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gOLIATH gOLD mININg LImITED
Incorporated in the Republic of south Africa
(Registration number 1933/004523/06)
IsIN: ZAE000154753
share code: ggm   
(“goliath gold” or “the Company” or “group”

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your Central securities Depository 
Participant (“CsDP”), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the Annual general meeting (“Annual general meeting”) of shareholders of goliath gold will be held at 10:00 on Thursday 
19 june 2014 at the office of the Company, Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter street, 
Weltevreden Park, 1709, for the purpose of considering, and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions set out hereafter.

The board of directors of the Company (“the Board”) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the Companies Act, 
2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the Company are entitled to participate 
in and vote at the Annual general meeting is Friday, 13 june 2014. Accordingly, the last day to trade goliath gold shares in order to be recorded in 
the Register to be entitled to vote will be Friday, 6 june 2014.

The purpose of the Annual general meeting is for the following business to be transacted:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 1
 Approval of financial statements
 to receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the Company and the group for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, 

including the reports of the auditors, directors and the goliath gold Audit Committee.

2. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 2
 election of Keith Rayner as a director

To re-elect Keith Rayner who, in terms of clause 22.2 of the Company’s memorandum of Incorporation, retires by rotation at this Annual 
general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election.

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each director offering himself for re-election appears on page 43 and page 44 of the annual report 
to which this Notice of Annual general meeting is attached. 

3. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 3
 election of Keith Rayner to the Audit Committee
 to appoint Keith Rayner as a member and as Chairman of the goliath gold Audit Committee. 

4. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 4
 election of Jerry Vilakazi to the Audit Committee
 to appoint jerry Vilakazi as a member of the goliath gold Audit Committee. 

5. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 5
 election of Piet nel to the Audit Committee

to appoint Piet Nel as a member of the goliath gold Audit Committee. 

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each member of the Audit Committee appears on page 43 and page 44 of the annual report to 
which this notice of Annual general meeting is attached. 

6. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 6
 Appointment of Independent Auditors

To confirm the re-appointment of KPmg Inc. as independent auditors of the Company with jacques Erasmus being the individual registered 
auditor who will undertake the audit of the Company for the ensuing financial year and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ 
remuneration.

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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7. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 7 
 Approval of remuneration policy

“Resolved that the remuneration policy of the directors of goliath gold, as set out below, be and is hereby approved as a non-binding advisory 
vote of shareholders of the Company in terms of the King III Report on Corporate governance.”

Principles used to determine the amount and nature of remuneration

The performance of the company depends upon the calibre of its directors and executives. The following principles are included in its 
remuneration framework to ensure maximum stakeholder benefits.

•	 Provide	competitive	remuneration	packages	to	attract	and	retain	high	calibre	executives
•	 Have	a	portion	of	executive	remuneration	‘at	risk’,	dependent	upon	meeting	pre-determined	service	periods	and	performance	benchmarks
•	 Periodically	 reassess	 the	 appropriateness	of	 the	nature	 and	 amount	of	 executive	 emoluments	 by	 reference	 to	 relevant	 employment	

market conditions
•	 Transparency
•	 Capital	management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants the group has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market 
competitive, complementary to the reward strategy of the organisation, and aligned to shareholderís and executive’s interests. Principles of 
alignment to shareholders’ interests:

•	 Has	economic	profit	as	a	core	component	of	plan	design
•	 Focuses	on	sustained	growth	in	shareholder	wealth,	consisting	of	dividends	and	growth	in	share	price	and	delivering	constant	return	on	

assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value
•	 Attracts	and	retains	high	calibre	executives.

Principles of alignment to executive’s interests:

•	 Rewards	capability	and	experience
•	 Reflects	competitive	reward	for	contribution	to	growth	in	shareholder	wealth
•	 Provides	a	clear	structure	for	earning	rewards
•	 Provides	recognition	for	contribution.

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay and a blend of short and long term incentives. As executives gain seniority within the 
group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of ‘at risk’ rewards.

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

8. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 8
 Control of authorised but unissued ordinary shares

“Resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of goliath gold be and are hereby placed under the control and 
authority of the directors of the Company (“directors”) and that the directors be and are hereby authorised and empowered to allot and issue 
all or any of such ordinary shares, or to issue any options in respect of all or any of such ordinary shares, to such person/s on such terms and 
conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of sections 
38 and 41 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of jsE Limited, as amended from time to time.”

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

9. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 9
 Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

Resolved that the directors of goliath gold and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general 
authority, to –

•	 Allot	and	issue,	or	to	issue	any	options	in	respect	of,	all	or	any	of	the	authorised	but	unissued	ordinary	shares	in	the	capital	of	the	Company;	
and/or

•	 Sell	or	otherwise	dispose	of	or	transfer,	or	 issue	any	options	 in	respect	of,	ordinary	shares	 in	the	capital	of	the	Company	purchased	by	
subsidiaries of the Company, 

for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time in their discretion deem fit, 
subject to the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
the Listings Requirements of jsE Limited (“the jsE Listings Requirements”) as amended from time to time.  
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The jsE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that: 

•	 This	general	authority	will	be	valid	until	the	earlier	of	the	Company’s	next	Annual	General	Meeting	or	the	expiry	of	a	period	of	15	(fifteen)	
months from the date that this authority is given;

•	 The	securities	which	are	the	subject	of	the	issue	for	cash	must	be	of	a	class	already	in	issue,	or	where	this	is	not	the	case,must	be	limited	to	
such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

•	 Any	such	issue	may	only	be	made	to	“public	shareholders”	as	defined	in	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements	and	not	to	related	parties;
•	 The	securities	which	are	subject	to	a	general	 issue	for	cash	may	not	exceed	15%	of	the	number	of	 listed	securities,	excluding	treasury	

shares, as at the date of this notice, being 22 103 235 securities. Any securities issued under this authorisation during the period of 15 
(fifteen) months from the date that this authorisation is given or until the Company’s next Annual general meeting, whichever is shorter, 
will be deducted from the aforementioned 22 103 235 listed securities. In the event of a sub-division or a consolidation during the period 
contemplated above authority will be adjusted to represent the same allocation ratio; 

•	 In	determining	the	price	at	which	securities	may	be	issued	in	terms	of	this	authority,	the	maximum	discount	permitted	will	be	10%	(ten	
percent) of the weighted average traded price of such securities measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price 
of the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the party/ies subscribing for the securities;

•	 An	 announcement	 giving	 full	details,	 including	 the	 number	of	 securities	 issued,	 the	 average	discount	 to	 the	weighted	 average	 traded	
price of the securities over 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the parties 
subscribing for the securities and the impact on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share, earnings per share and headline 
earnings per share and, if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings per share, will be published when the Company has issued 
securities representing, on a cumulative basis within the earlier of the Company’s next Annual general meeting or the expiry of a period of 
15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of securities issue prior to the issue; 
and

•	 Whenever	the	Company	wishes	to	use	repurchased	shares,	held	as	treasury	stock	by	a	subsidiary	of	the	Company,	such	use	must	comply	
with the jsE Listings Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.” 

Under the jsE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution number 9 must be passed by a 75% (seventy five percent) majority of the votes cast 
in favour of the resolution by all members present or represented by proxy at the Annual general meeting.

10. sPeCIAL ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 1
 General approval to acquire shares

“Resolved, by way of a general approval that goliath gold and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are hereby authorised to acquire 
ordinary shares in the Company in terms of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the memorandum of 
Incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries and the Listings Requirements of jsE Limited (“the jsE Listings Requirements”), as amended 
from time to time. 

 The jsE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that: 

•	 The	acquisition	of	the	ordinary	shares	must	be	effected	through	the	order	book	operated	by	the	JSE	trading	system	and	done	without	any	
prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counter party;

•	 This	general	authority	shall	only	be	valid	until	the	earlier	of	the	Company’s	next	Annual	General	Meeting	or	the	expiry	of	a	period	of	15	
(fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

•	 In	determining	the	price	at	which	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	are	acquired	in	terms	of	this	general	authority,	the	maximum	premium	at	
which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average of the market value at which such ordinary 
shares are traded on the jsE, as determined over the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is 
effected;

•	 At	any	point	in	time,	the	Company	may	only	appoint	1	(one)	agent	to	effect	any	acquisition/s	on	its	behalf;	
•	 The	acquisitions	of	ordinary	shares	in	the	aggregate	in	any	1	(one)	financial	year	may	not	exceed	20%	(twenty	percent)	of	the	Company’s	

issued ordinary share capital;
•	 The	Company	may	only	effect	the	repurchase	once	a	resolution	has	been	passed	by	the	board	of	directors	of	the	Company	(“the	Board”)	

confirming that the Board has authorised the repurchase, that the Company has passed the solvency and liquidity test (“test”) and that 
since the test was done there have been no material changes to the financial position of the group;

•	 The	Company	or	its	subsidiaries	may	not	acquire	ordinary	shares	during	a	prohibited	period	as	defined	in	paragraph	3.67	of	the	JSE	Listings	
Requirements;

•	 An	announcement	will	be	published	once	the	Company	has	cumulatively	repurchased	3%	(three	percent)	of	the	number	of	the	ordinary	
shares in issue at the time this general authority is granted (“initial number”), and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial 
number acquired thereafter.”
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 explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 1 is to obtain an authority for, and to authorise, the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries, 
by way of a general authority, to acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

It is the intention of the directors of the Company to use such authority should prevailing circumstances (including tax dispensations and 
market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.

special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the votes 
exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

10.1 other disclosure in terms of section 11.26 of the Jse Listings Requirements 
The jsE Listings Requirements require the following disclosure, which are contained in the annual report to which this notice of Annual general 
meeting forms part:

	 •	 Directors	and	management	–	page	43	and	page	44;	
	 •	 Major	shareholders	of	the	Company	–	page	110	and	page	111;	
	 •	 Directors’	interests	in	securities	–	page	57;
	 •	 Share	capital	of	the	Company	–	page	110	and	page	111;	and	
	 •	 Litigation	statement	–	page	57.	

Material change 

There have been no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the Company’s financial year 
end and the date of this notice of Annual general meeting.

Directors’ responsibility statement 

The directors, whose names are given on page 43 and page 44 of the annual report of which this notice of Annual general meeting forms part, 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to special resolution number 1 and certify 
that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts in relation to special resolution number 1 that have been omitted which would 
make any statement in relation to special resolution number 1 false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have 
been made and that special resolution number 1 together with this notice of Annual general meeting contains all information required by law 
and the jsE Listings Requirements in relation to special resolution number 1.

Adequacy of working capital 

At the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the directors of the Company will ensure that, after considering the effect of the 
maximum repurchase and for a period of twelve months thereafter: 

•	 The	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	will	be	able	to	pay	their	debts	as	they	become	due	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business;
•	 The	consolidated	assets	of	the	Company	and	its	subsidiaries,	fairly	valued	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	

will be in excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries;
•	 The	issued	share	capital	and	reserves	of	the	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	will	be	adequate	for	the	purpose	of	the	ordinary	business	of	the	

Company and its subsidiaries; and
•	 The	working	capital	available	to	the	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	will	be	sufficient	for	the	Group’s	requirements.

The Company may not enter the market to proceed with the repurchase until its sponsor, merchantec Proprietary Limited, 
has discharged of all of its responsibilities in terms of the jsE Listings Requirements insofar as they apply to working capital statements for the 
purposes of undertaking an acquisition of its issued ordinary shares.

11. oRDInARY ResoLUtIon nUMBeR 10
 signature of documents

“Resolved that each director and the company secretary of goliath gold mining Limited (“the Company”) be and is hereby individually 
authorised to sign all such documents and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of those resolutions 
to be proposed at the Annual general meeting convened to consider the resolutions which are passed, in the case of ordinary resolutions, or 
are passed and registered (where applicable) by the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, in the case of special resolutions.”

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.
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12. otHeR BUsIness
 

To transact such other business as may be transacted at the Annual general meeting of the Company.

 Voting and proxies

special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual general meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the votes 
exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting. Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this 
Annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on such 
resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her 
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. For the convenience of registered members of the Company, a form of proxy is attached 
hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:

•	 Hold	ordinary	shares	in	certificated	form;	or
•	 Are	recorded	on	the	sub-register	in	“own	name”	dematerialised	form.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CsDP or broker without “own name” registration and who wish to 
attend the Annual general meeting, must instruct their CsDP or broker to provide them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the 
meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CsDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CsDP or broker.

Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor services Proprietary Limited, at least 48 hours, excluding 
saturdays, sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

Kindly note that meeting participants, which includes proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to 
attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licenses and passports.

By order of the Board

Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
31 March 2014
Johannesburg
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gOLIATH gOLD mININg LImITED
Incorporated in the Republic of south Africa
(Registration number 1933/004523/06)
IsIN: ZAE000154753
share code: ggm   
(“goliath gold” or “the Company” or “group”) 

FORM OF PROXY

FoR Use onLY BY oRDInARY sHAReHoLDeRs WHo:
•		 Hold	ordinary	shares	in	certificated	form	(“certificated	ordinary	shareholders”);	or
•		 Have	dematerialised	their	ordinary	shares	(“dematerialised	ordinary	shareholders”)	and	are	registered	with	“own-name”	registration,

at the Annual general meeting of shareholders of goliath gold which will be held at 10:00 on Thursday, 19 june 2014 at the office of the Company, 
Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter street, Weltevreden Park, 1709, and any 
adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” registration who wish to attend the Annual general 
meeting must inform their Central securities Depository Participant (“CsDP”) or broker of their intention to attend the Annual general meeting and 
request their CsDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the Annual general meeting in person or by proxy 
and vote. If they do not wish to attend the Annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CsDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CsDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must 
not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone (work) (        )    Telephone (home) (        )   Cell

being the holder/custodian of  ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1.           or failing him /her,

2.           or failing him /her,

3. the chairman of the meeting,

 
as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual general meeting of the Company convened for purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat (“resolutions”) and at each 
postponement or adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against such resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares 
in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of Financial statements

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Election of Keith Rayner as a director 

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Election of Keith Rayner to the Audit Committee

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Election of jerry Vilakazi to the Audit Committee

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Election of Piet Nel to the Audit Committee

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
Appointment of Independent Auditors

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 
Approval of remuneration policy

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
Control of authorised but unissued ordinary shares

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9
Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

10. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
general approval to acquire shares

11. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10
signature of documents

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes exercisable.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead. A proxy so 
appointed need not be a member of the Company.

signed at      on       2014

signature

Assisted by (if applicable)
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notes to PRoXY
1 The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in electronic form in “own 

name”.
2 All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CsDP or broker and wish to attend the Annual general meeting must provide the CsDP 

or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CsDP or broker.
3 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual general meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies (none of whom 

need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the Chairperson of the meeting”. The person 
whose name stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the Annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those proxy/
proxies whose names follow. should this space be left blank, the proxy will be exercised by the chairman of the meeting. 

4 A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy 
must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. If an “X” has been inserted in 
one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by the shareholder concerned. Failure to comply with this will be deemed 
to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable 
thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholders or by the proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect 
of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

5 A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the Annual general meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity or other legal disability 
of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the 
aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 (forty eight) hours before the commencement of the Annual general 
meeting.

6 If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives contradictory 
instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may properly be put before the Annual general meeting be proposed, such proxy shall 
be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7 The chairman of the Annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in compliance with these 
notes.

8 A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairman of the Annual general meeting, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, shall be deemed to include 
the authority to vote on procedural matters at the Annual general meeting.

9 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual general meeting and speaking and voting 
in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless 
previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the Annual general meeting.

11 A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents establishing his/
her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the Company.

12. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
•	 Any	one	holder	may	sign	the	form	of	proxy;
•	 The	vote/s	of	the	senior	ordinary	shareholders	(for	that	purpose	seniority	will	be	determined	by	the	order	in	which	the	names	of	ordinary	shareholders	appear	in	

the Company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote/s of the other 
joint shareholder/s.

13.  Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Computershare Investor services Proprietary Limited:
Hand deliveries
Computershare Investor services Proprietary Limited
70 marshall street
johannesburg
2001

Postal deliveries
Computershare Investor services Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
marshalltown
2107

 to be received by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 17 june 2014 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the Annual general meeting which date, if necessary, will 
be notified on sENs).

14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must be signed and not merely 
initialled.

Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act
a.   A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the rights of a shareholder to revoke 

such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

b.   The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses to act directly and in 
person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

c.   The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy, 
and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the Company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete 
and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if 
any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the Company as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.

d.   If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is 
required by the Companies Act or the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder, must be delivered 
by the Company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the Company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any 
reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so.

e.   Attention is also drawn to the “Notes to proxy”.

f.   The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting.
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